
Center School District No. 58 
BOARD OF EDUCATION 

Regular Meeting 
8701 Holmes Road 

Kansas City, MO  64131 
 

There will be a regular meeting of the Board of Education of Center School District #58 in the Board 
Room at Boone Elementary School, 8817 Wornall, on Monday, December 17, 2018, at 7:00 p.m. 

 
 
Dr. Sharon K. Nibbelink, Superintendent of Schools 
 
Comments to the Public 
Individuals are welcome to address the Board on specific agenda items when that item is reached on the 
agenda.  Individuals who wish to address an agenda item should give their name to the Board secretary 
prior to the meeting.  When your name is called, please come up to the microphone, introduce yourself, 
and limit your comments to three minutes.   
 

I. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 

 
II. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 
III. MOTION TO APPROVE THE AGENDA - ACTION 

 
IV. ANNOUNCEMENTS 

A. 12/18/18 ICE Winter Concert, 6:00pm 

B. 12/18/18 Board Candidacy Filing, 8:00am, 8701 Holmes Road 

C. 12/19/18 CMS Band Concert, 6:30pm @ CHS 

D. 12/20/18 BO Winter Program-6:00pm Colonial Presbyterian Church 

E. 12/20/18 ECC Holiday Celebration w/Percussion Magic 6:00pm-7:00pm 

F. 12/20/18 CE Holiday Concert & Sing-A-Long 

G. 12/21/18 Early Release & End of Quarter 

H. 12/22/18-1/4/19 – Winter Break 

I. 1/7/19 Classes Resume   

J. 1/7/19 Closed Board Meeting, Central Office, 6:00pm 

K. 1/15/19 Last day for Board Candidacy Filing, 5:00pm, 8701 Holmes Road 

L. 1/21/19 No School, Martin Luther King Day 

M. 1/28/19 Regular Board Meeting, 7:00pm 

For additional announcements, please check your student’s school website and the 
Center School District calendar    

 
V. RECOGNITIONS 

A. Soccer Team 

B. Math Relay Winners 

 
VI. CONSENT ITEMS - ACTION      

A. Approval of Bills 

B. Attendance Report  

C. Permission to Bid - None 

D. Approval of Bids - None 

E. Federal Report - None 

F. State Report – None 

G. Personnel 

  I. Instructional Personnel 
  II. Classified Personnel 
 
 
 
  



H.  Approval of Minutes 
1. 11/19/18 – Work Session Minutes 
2. 11/19/18 -  Regular Session Minutes 

I. Approval of Contracts 

1. ACT – Renewal 

2. Cornerstones of Care - Renewal 

3. 5 Essentials Contract - Revised 

4. OverDrive Sora for Education – New 

5. University of Arkansas-Pine Bluff (UAPB) - New 

6. MSBA Full Maintenance Service Agreement – MSBA services – 

Renewal 

7. JCCCSF Center School District 2018 Extension 

 

VII. MOTION TO APPROVE THE CENTER SCHOOL DISTRICT No. 58 SCHOOL START DATE 

FOR THE 2019-2020 SCHOOL YEAR IS 10 DAYS BEFORE THE FIRST DAY OF SEPTEMBER, 

2019 – ACTION 

 

VIII. MOTION TO APPROVE THE 2019-2020 DISTRICT CALENDAR – ACTION 

 

IX. REPORT FROM SUPERINTENDENT 

A. Audit Report - Michael Weishaar & Westbrook & Company  

B. Preliminary Patron Insight Staff & Patron Report – Rick Nobles 

C. Bond Update – Rick Carpenter, Christina Medina 

1. Draft of Potential Bond Projects – Hollis & Miller 

 
X. MOTION TO PLACE BOND ON APRIL 2, 2019 BALLOT WITH THE WORDING BELOW – ACTION 

 

Draft Ballot Language 

Shall the Board of Education of Center School District No. 58 of Jackson County, Missouri 

be authorized to issue its general obligation bonds in the amount of $48,000,000 for the 

purpose of renovating, improving, constructing, furnishing and equipping its school 

facilities, including but not limited to, (a) roof replacement and other facility repairs and 

long-term maintenance improvements, (b) installing energy conservation improvements, 

(c) improving safety through secure entrances and security cameras and (d) constructing, 

improving and adjusting facilities to allow for expanded early childhood programs, 

enrollment increases, family engagement and 21st Century learning ; to the extent funds 

are available, resulting in no estimated tax increase to the debt service property tax levy?  

If this proposition is approved, the adjusted debt service levy of the District is expected to 

remain unchanged at the current levy of $0.90 per one hundred dollars assessed valuation 

of real and personal property. 

 __yes __no 

 

 
XI.  BOARD OF EDUCATION  

 

XII. POLICIES/REGULATIONS/ADMINSTRATIVE PROCEDURES    

The following policies will require 3 readings.  December 17, 2018 is the Third Consideration 
 

A. GBA – Exempt and Nonexempt Employees 
B. GCBDA – Professional Staff Short Term Leaves 
C. GDBDA - Support Staff Short Term Leaves 

 
XIII. MOTION TO ADOPT POLICIES GBA, GCBDA AND GDBDA – ACTION 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
XIV. MOTION TO GO INTO CLOSED SESSION – (If needed) ACTION  

a. Motion to go into Closed Session per Revised Statutes of Missouri Section 

610.021 (1) Legal, (3) Personnel, (9) Negotiations and (13) individually 

identifiable personnel records, performance ratings or records pertaining to 

employees or applications for employment.   

 
XV.  MOTION TO GO INTO OPEN SESSION - ACTION 

a. If a Closed Session is held, following the Closed Session there must be motion for the 

Board to go back into Open Session. 

  
 
XII  ADJOURNMENT - ACTION 
      

 







                                                   Center School District No. 58
AP3190                                            MONTH-END DISBURSEMENTS SUMMARY                08:52:36 11 DEC 2018     PAGE 1  
                                                      ALL SINCE LAST REGISTER

VENDOR# NAME                         INVOICE#              GROSS   DISC            NET      CHECK AMT   CHECK NBR          DATE

012205  ADVANCE AUTO PARTS           522983184523         111.84   0.00         111.84         111.84   01*218257         11/16/18
                                            TOTAL         111.84   0.00         111.84

012476  ALPHAPOINTE                  465324                88.35   0.00          88.35          88.35   01*218258         11/16/18
                                            TOTAL          88.35   0.00          88.35

007041  AMERICAN SPEECH-LANGUAGE-HEAR3490787              298.00   0.00         298.00         298.00   01*218259         11/16/18
                                            TOTAL         298.00   0.00         298.00

012201  BLACKBOARD, INC              CSF000251319       1,560.00   0.00       1,560.00       1,560.00   01*218260         11/16/18
                                            TOTAL       1,560.00   0.00       1,560.00

000570  BLEDSOE'S RENTAL, INC        137842               339.00   0.00         339.00         339.00   01*218261         11/16/18
                                            TOTAL         339.00   0.00         339.00

009924  BRIDGING THE GAP INTERPRETATI11185                137.44   0.00         137.44         137.44   01*218262         11/16/18
                                            TOTAL         137.44   0.00         137.44

011846  BUCKEYE CLEANING CENTER      90082215             317.04   0.00         317.04         317.04   01*218263         11/16/18
                                            TOTAL         317.04   0.00         317.04

003832  CARD SERVICES/ VISA          1218-BROOKS        2,536.04   0.00       2,536.04       2,536.04   01*218264         11/16/18
                                            TOTAL       2,536.04   0.00       2,536.04

003832  CARD SERVICES/ VISA          1218-PATTERS          44.47   0.00          44.47          44.47   01*218265         11/16/18
                                            TOTAL          44.47   0.00          44.47

003832  CARD SERVICES/ VISA          PALMER112018         434.28   0.00         434.28         434.28   01*218266         11/16/18
                                            TOTAL         434.28   0.00         434.28

002162  CHILDRENS CENTER FOR VISUALLY22420              6,102.50   0.00       6,102.50       6,102.50   01*218267         11/16/18
                                            TOTAL       6,102.50   0.00       6,102.50

010098  CITY OF KANSAS CITY, MISSOURI101218               320.00   0.00         320.00         320.00   01*218268         11/16/18
                                            TOTAL         320.00   0.00         320.00

003779  CLAIM CARE, INC              10621355             902.05   0.00         902.05         902.05   01*218269         11/16/18
                                            TOTAL         902.05   0.00         902.05

010167  DANIEL WATSON                11152018             125.00   0.00         125.00         125.00   01*218270         11/16/18
                                            TOTAL         125.00   0.00         125.00

001646  DAYMARK SOLUTIONS INC.       104582               159.00   0.00         159.00         159.00   01*218271         11/16/18
                                            TOTAL         159.00   0.00         159.00

000101  DEANS TROPHIES INC           25208                168.15   0.00         168.15         168.15   01*218272         11/16/18
                                            TOTAL         168.15   0.00         168.15

010302  FAVORITE HEALTHCARE STAFFING,1128865              352.50   0.00         352.50       1,786.00   01*218273         11/16/18
                                     1128866            1,081.00   0.00       1,081.00  
                                     1130039              352.50   0.00         352.50  
                                            TOTAL       1,786.00   0.00       1,786.00

006706  GARRON CARTER                11152018             125.00   0.00         125.00         125.00   01*218274         11/16/18
                                            TOTAL         125.00   0.00         125.00

002969  J.W. PEPPER & SON INC.       11D62730              39.98   0.00          39.98         418.93   01*218275         11/16/18
                                     11D68877              23.96   0.00          23.96  
                                     11D69764             354.99   0.00         354.99  
                                            TOTAL         418.93   0.00         418.93

009614  JERNISHA CANN                11152018             125.00   0.00         125.00         125.00   01*218276         11/16/18
                                            TOTAL         125.00   0.00         125.00

000107  KC WATER SERVICES            111218            12,496.81   0.00      12,496.81      12,496.81   01*218277         11/16/18
                                            TOTAL      12,496.81   0.00      12,496.81

000104  KCPL-KANSAS CITY POWER & LIGH11-14-18           3,144.15   0.00       3,144.15       6,316.56   01*218278         11/16/18
                                     111218                36.38   0.00          36.38  
                                     111418             3,136.03   0.00       3,136.03  
                                            TOTAL       6,316.56   0.00       6,316.56

002821  LAWN & LEISURE OF LEE'S SUMMI614179               829.09   0.00         829.09         829.09   01*218279         11/16/18
                                            TOTAL         829.09   0.00         829.09

006634  LEE'S SUMMIT SCHOOL DISTRICT 100                1,122.12   0.00       1,122.12       1,122.12   01*218280         11/16/18
                                            TOTAL       1,122.12   0.00       1,122.12

010800  MARCIE CALVIN                0080718              440.00   0.00         440.00         440.00   01*218281         11/16/18
                                            TOTAL         440.00   0.00         440.00

010800  MARCIE CALVIN                10282018CHSD         435.00   0.00         435.00         435.00   01*218282         11/16/18
                                            TOTAL         435.00   0.00         435.00

010760  MAURICE OATIS                11152018             125.00   0.00         125.00         125.00   01*218283         11/16/18
                                            TOTAL         125.00   0.00         125.00

012277  MELISSA K STORRER            10172018-REI          52.56   0.00          52.56          52.56   01*218284         11/16/18
                                            TOTAL          52.56   0.00          52.56

000151  MR TIRES                     IN00223316           400.00   0.00         400.00         400.00   01*218285         11/16/18
                                            TOTAL         400.00   0.00         400.00



                                                   Center School District No. 58
AP3190                                            MONTH-END DISBURSEMENTS SUMMARY                08:52:36 11 DEC 2018     PAGE 2  
                                                      ALL SINCE LAST REGISTER

VENDOR# NAME                         INVOICE#              GROSS   DISC            NET      CHECK AMT   CHECK NBR          DATE

010012  NECCO COFFEE                 77717                 37.48   0.00          37.48          37.48   01*218286         11/16/18
                                            TOTAL          37.48   0.00          37.48

010012  NECCO COFFEE                 78351                 37.48   0.00          37.48          37.48   01*218287         11/16/18
                                            TOTAL          37.48   0.00          37.48

006276  OLD FASHION CANDY COMPANY    335768             2,077.52   0.00       2,077.52       2,077.52   01*218288         11/16/18
                                            TOTAL       2,077.52   0.00       2,077.52

005424  PEPSI                        91581908             158.28   0.00         158.28         158.28   01*218289         11/16/18
                                            TOTAL         158.28   0.00         158.28

012439  PHOENIX HOME CARE, INC       3964905              980.00   0.00         980.00         980.00   01*218290         11/16/18
                                            TOTAL         980.00   0.00         980.00

010648  PPG ARCHITECTURAL FINISHES   996803024577          81.63   0.00          81.63          81.63   01*218291         11/16/18
                                            TOTAL          81.63   0.00          81.63

005014  PRICE CHOPPER/COSENTINO 103RD389320                24.54   0.00          24.54       1,445.35   01*218293         11/16/18
                                     390398                34.65   0.00          34.65  
                                     414514                20.03   0.00          20.03  
                                     414535                47.54   0.00          47.54  
                                     414553               142.51   0.00         142.51  
                                     414572                32.36   0.00          32.36  
                                     414574                32.43   0.00          32.43  
                                     414576                74.21   0.00          74.21  
                                     414938                72.46   0.00          72.46  
                                     414946               110.72   0.00         110.72  
                                     415004                83.88   0.00          83.88  
                                     415036               256.20   0.00         256.20  
                                     415038               332.49   0.00         332.49  
                                     415044               181.33   0.00         181.33  
                                            TOTAL       1,445.35   0.00       1,445.35

002111  REEVES-WIEDEMAN COMPANY      5301451              497.00   0.00         497.00         497.00   01*218294         11/16/18
                                            TOTAL         497.00   0.00         497.00

010837  SCHENDEL PEST SERVICES       13270389              50.00   0.00          50.00         220.00   01*218295         11/16/18
                                     13270394             110.00   0.00         110.00  
                                     13270544              60.00   0.00          60.00  
                                            TOTAL         220.00   0.00         220.00

006999  SCHOLASTIC INC.              17470410              57.23   0.00          57.23          57.23   01*218296         11/16/18
                                            TOTAL          57.23   0.00          57.23

001967  SCHWAAB, INC                 B094985              115.20   0.00         115.20         115.20   01*218297         11/16/18
                                            TOTAL         115.20   0.00         115.20

012423  STUDENT TRANSPORTATION OF AME70015697           1,182.34   0.00       1,182.34       1,182.34   01*218298         11/16/18
                                            TOTAL       1,182.34   0.00       1,182.34

012423  STUDENT TRANSPORTATION OF AME70015698           1,162.02   0.00       1,162.02       1,162.02   01*218299         11/16/18
                                            TOTAL       1,162.02   0.00       1,162.02

000023  TIERNEY STATIONERY           22038                135.41   0.00         135.41         135.41   01*218300         11/16/18
                                            TOTAL         135.41   0.00         135.41

011227  TRUMAN LIBRARY INSTITUTE     180211               500.00   0.00         500.00         500.00   01*218301         11/16/18
                                            TOTAL         500.00   0.00         500.00

011635  UNION STATION                181511               240.00   0.00         240.00         240.00   01*218302         11/16/18
                                            TOTAL         240.00   0.00         240.00

010660  UNITE PRIVATE NETWORKS LLC   SI-18-009022      10,174.90   0.00      10,174.90      10,174.90   01*218303         11/16/18
                                            TOTAL      10,174.90   0.00      10,174.90

000265  US TOY CO                    X01125769501          52.51   0.00          52.51         331.80   01*218304         11/16/18
                                     X01125865101         105.81   0.00         105.81  
                                     X01125959201          22.26   0.00          22.26  
                                     X01125961601           8.47   0.00           8.47  
                                     X01127160601          20.92   0.00          20.92  
                                     X01127163301          65.28   0.00          65.28  
                                     X01127208701          19.98   0.00          19.98  
                                     X01127322101          15.00   0.00          15.00  
                                     X01127882401          21.57   0.00          21.57  
                                            TOTAL         331.80   0.00         331.80

000265  US TOY CO                    X01127553501           7.18   0.00           7.18           7.18   01*218305         11/16/18
                                            TOTAL           7.18   0.00           7.18

000265  US TOY CO                    X01127823701          21.73   0.00          21.73          21.73   01*218306         11/16/18
                                            TOTAL          21.73   0.00          21.73

000634  WALDO PIZZA                  10252018-1           330.91   0.00         330.91         330.91   01*218307         11/16/18
                                            TOTAL         330.91   0.00         330.91

000634  WALDO PIZZA                  12930                180.00   0.00         180.00         180.00   01*218308         11/16/18
                                            TOTAL         180.00   0.00         180.00

000634  WALDO PIZZA                  12942                 63.55   0.00          63.55          63.55   01*218309         11/16/18
                                            TOTAL          63.55   0.00          63.55



                                                   Center School District No. 58
AP3190                                            MONTH-END DISBURSEMENTS SUMMARY                08:52:36 11 DEC 2018     PAGE 3  
                                                      ALL SINCE LAST REGISTER

VENDOR# NAME                         INVOICE#              GROSS   DISC            NET      CHECK AMT   CHECK NBR          DATE

000634  WALDO PIZZA                  12945                106.06   0.00         106.06         106.06   01*218310         11/16/18
                                            TOTAL         106.06   0.00         106.06

000634  WALDO PIZZA                  12959                 68.14   0.00          68.14          68.14   01*218311         11/16/18
                                            TOTAL          68.14   0.00          68.14

000634  WALDO PIZZA                  13013                220.74   0.00         220.74         220.74   01*218312         11/16/18
                                            TOTAL         220.74   0.00         220.74

000634  WALDO PIZZA                  13014                200.00   0.00         200.00         200.00   01*218313         11/16/18
                                            TOTAL         200.00   0.00         200.00

000634  WALDO PIZZA                  13037                238.85   0.00         238.85         238.85   01*218314         11/16/18
                                            TOTAL         238.85   0.00         238.85

002368  AETNA INC                    11/16/18           5,770.05   0.00       5,770.05       5,770.05   01*218335         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL       5,770.05   0.00       5,770.05

001312  ALL SYSTEMS DESIGNED INC     59680              1,820.00   0.00       1,820.00       1,820.00   01*218336         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL       1,820.00   0.00       1,820.00

010249  APPLE INC.                   6766307022         2,441.00   0.00       2,441.00       2,441.00   01*218337         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL       2,441.00   0.00       2,441.00

010975  BLUE CROSS BLUE SHIELD OF KAN192245             1,518.68   0.00       1,518.68       1,518.68   01*218338         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL       1,518.68   0.00       1,518.68

010975  BLUE CROSS BLUE SHIELD OF KAN192252            44,416.00   0.00      44,416.00      44,416.00   01*218339         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL      44,416.00   0.00      44,416.00

009924  BRIDGING THE GAP INTERPRETATI11209                159.62   0.00         159.62         159.62   01*218340         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL         159.62   0.00         159.62

003832  CARD SERVICES/ VISA          1218-MORRIS          165.37   0.00         165.37         293.37   01*218341         11/20/18
                                     DEC-HODONNEL           3.00   0.00           3.00  
                                     DEC18-GIBSON         125.00   0.00         125.00  
                                            TOTAL         293.37   0.00         293.37

003832  CARD SERVICES/ VISA          1011EA               984.84   0.00         984.84         984.84   01*218342         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL         984.84   0.00         984.84

003832  CARD SERVICES/ VISA          1011NWEITZEL       1,713.88   0.00       1,713.88       1,713.88   01*218343         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL       1,713.88   0.00       1,713.88

003832  CARD SERVICES/ VISA          1011PCARD            203.32   0.00         203.32         203.32   01*218344         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL         203.32   0.00         203.32

003832  CARD SERVICES/ VISA          1011PCARD_1          877.12   0.00         877.12         877.12   01*218345         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL         877.12   0.00         877.12

003832  CARD SERVICES/ VISA          1011SN                87.96   0.00          87.96          87.96   01*218346         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL          87.96   0.00          87.96

003832  CARD SERVICES/ VISA          11/18MAINT         2,513.84   0.00       2,513.84       2,513.84   01*218347         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL       2,513.84   0.00       2,513.84

003832  CARD SERVICES/ VISA          11/18SLEWIS          964.04   0.00         964.04         964.04   01*218348         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL         964.04   0.00         964.04

003832  CARD SERVICES/ VISA          1118CE             1,552.81   0.00       1,552.81       1,552.81   01*218349         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL       1,552.81   0.00       1,552.81

003832  CARD SERVICES/ VISA          1118PRICKETT         310.27   0.00         310.27         310.27   01*218350         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL         310.27   0.00         310.27

003832  CARD SERVICES/ VISA          1218-EATON           316.29   0.00         316.29         316.29   01*218351         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL         316.29   0.00         316.29

003832  CARD SERVICES/ VISA          1218.GRANT.B         125.00   0.00         125.00         125.00   01*218352         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL         125.00   0.00         125.00

003832  CARD SERVICES/ VISA          HAMRICK11            329.69   0.00         329.69         329.69   01*218353         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL         329.69   0.00         329.69

003832  CARD SERVICES/ VISA          NIBBELINKS10         122.32   0.00         122.32         122.32   01*218354         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL         122.32   0.00         122.32

003832  CARD SERVICES/ VISA          NOVHAMRICK         1,510.12   0.00       1,510.12       1,510.12   01*218355         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL       1,510.12   0.00       1,510.12

000138  CAROLINA BIOLOGICAL SUPPLY CO50470837RI         1,165.72   0.00       1,165.72       1,165.72   01*218356         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL       1,165.72   0.00       1,165.72

009216  CBIZ INSURANCE SERVICES, INC 449855            11,561.00   0.00      11,561.00      11,561.00   01*218357         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL      11,561.00   0.00      11,561.00

012482  CHRISTOHER BURCH             116-1192018          220.00   0.00         220.00         220.00   01*218358         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL         220.00   0.00         220.00

002183  CNA SURETY                   58420499--            52.00   0.00          52.00          52.00   01*218359         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL          52.00   0.00          52.00



                                                   Center School District No. 58
AP3190                                            MONTH-END DISBURSEMENTS SUMMARY                08:52:36 11 DEC 2018     PAGE 4  
                                                      ALL SINCE LAST REGISTER

VENDOR# NAME                         INVOICE#              GROSS   DISC            NET      CHECK AMT   CHECK NBR          DATE

011612  DATAKEEPER TECHNOLOGIES      21028                650.00   0.00         650.00         650.00   01*218360         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL         650.00   0.00         650.00

000131  DICK BLICK ART MATERIALS     533346             1,292.68   0.00       1,292.68       1,292.68   01*218361         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL       1,292.68   0.00       1,292.68

010578  EDUCATIONAL DESIGN SOLUTIONS 6404              37,070.00   0.00      37,070.00      37,070.00   01*218362         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL      37,070.00   0.00      37,070.00

012022  EXPLORE LEARNING             2027197            3,295.00   0.00       3,295.00       3,295.00   01*218363         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL       3,295.00   0.00       3,295.00

011148  FIRST                        26700                311.95   0.00         311.95         311.95   01*218364         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL         311.95   0.00         311.95

012666  FIRST DAKOTA INDEMNITY COMPAN3567346           14,675.00   0.00      14,675.00      14,675.00   01*218365         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL      14,675.00   0.00      14,675.00

000213  GENERAL PARTS, LLC           6003656            1,263.00   0.00       1,263.00       7,608.90   01*218366         11/20/18
                                     6003663              239.50   0.00         239.50  
                                     6004153            6,106.40   0.00       6,106.40  
                                            TOTAL       7,608.90   0.00       7,608.90

011935  GOLDSTAR LEARNING, INC.      4991                 375.00   0.00         375.00         375.00   01*218367         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL         375.00   0.00         375.00

003187  GRAPHIC EDGE                 1273705            1,586.80   0.00       1,654.72       1,654.72   01*218368         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL       1,586.80   0.00       1,654.72

008064  GREATER KC LINC INC          19-4801            9,914.25   0.00       9,914.25       9,914.25   01*218369         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL       9,914.25   0.00       9,914.25

001055  HERNDON CAREER CENTER        10182018          48,426.30   0.00      48,426.30      48,426.30   01*218370         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL      48,426.30   0.00      48,426.30

000672  HICKMAN MILLS C-1 SCHOOL DISTCENT01201BR        2,828.60   0.00       2,828.60       2,828.60   01*218371         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL       2,828.60   0.00       2,828.60

010127  HOUGHTON MIFFLIN HARCOURT    954083847            112.00   0.00         112.00         112.00   01*218372         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL         112.00   0.00         112.00

006234  JOHN CURTIS JOHNSON          11/15/2018            50.00   0.00          50.00          50.00   01*218373         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL          50.00   0.00          50.00

012720  JOSHUA MCCONNAUGHEY          111518               117.91   0.00         117.91         117.91   01*218374         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL         117.91   0.00         117.91

008759  KC-LASE                      00959                 75.00   0.00          75.00          75.00   01*218375         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL          75.00   0.00          75.00

005000  KEYSTONE INFORMATION SYSTEMS 206954               600.00   0.00         600.00         600.00   01*218376         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL         600.00   0.00         600.00

012478  KIEFER SWIM PRODUCTS         766947               135.00   0.00         135.00         135.00   01*218377         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL         135.00   0.00         135.00

012743  KOREEN K BALLARD HOOVER      112018HOOVER         210.00   0.00         210.00         210.00   01*218378         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL         210.00   0.00         210.00

012762  LARA B KING                  112018LARAKI         299.00   0.00         299.00         299.00   01*218379         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL         299.00   0.00         299.00

008036  LINCOLN COUNTY MEDICINE      655                   70.00   0.00          70.00          70.00   01*218380         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL          70.00   0.00          70.00

010012  NECCO COFFEE                 76749                 53.97   0.00          53.97          53.97   01*218381         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL          53.97   0.00          53.97

010012  NECCO COFFEE                 78842                 37.48   0.00          37.48          37.48   01*218382         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL          37.48   0.00          37.48

009184  NGLIC                        192253               186.91   0.00         186.91         186.91   01*218383         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL         186.91   0.00         186.91

000177  NILL BROS SPORTING GOODS     000295788          4,278.84   0.00       4,278.84       4,278.84   01*218384         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL       4,278.84   0.00       4,278.84

000177  NILL BROS SPORTING GOODS     000296000             30.00   0.00          30.00          30.00   01*218385         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL          30.00   0.00          30.00

005014  PRICE CHOPPER/COSENTINO 103RD414919                66.94   0.00          66.94          91.89   01*218386         11/20/18
                                     414933                24.95   0.00          24.95  
                                            TOTAL          91.89   0.00          91.89

010753  PROFORMA PROMOTIONALLY YOURS 0B91027357           231.54   0.00         231.54         231.54   01*218387         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL         231.54   0.00         231.54

008317  SAM'S CLUB                   11/16/18             945.42   0.00         945.42         945.42   01*218388         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL         945.42   0.00         945.42

010837  SCHENDEL PEST SERVICES       13270390             110.00   0.00         110.00         700.00   01*218389         11/20/18



                                                   Center School District No. 58
AP3190                                            MONTH-END DISBURSEMENTS SUMMARY                08:52:36 11 DEC 2018     PAGE 5  
                                                      ALL SINCE LAST REGISTER

VENDOR# NAME                         INVOICE#              GROSS   DISC            NET      CHECK AMT   CHECK NBR          DATE

                                     13270391             110.00   0.00         110.00  
                                     13270392             130.00   0.00         130.00  
                                     13270393             130.00   0.00         130.00  
                                     13270395             110.00   0.00         110.00  
                                     13270396             110.00   0.00         110.00  
                                            TOTAL         700.00   0.00         700.00

002016  SCHOOL NURSE SUPPLY          0709172-IN           598.78   0.00         598.78         598.78   01*218390         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL         598.78   0.00         598.78

008391  SCHOOL SPECIALTY             208121815897          62.68   0.00          62.68          62.68   01*218391         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL          62.68   0.00          62.68

012763  SCOREBOARD GUY LLC           1816                 200.00   0.00         200.00         200.00   01*218392         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL         200.00   0.00         200.00

012602  SHANITRA J JONES             111518               194.99   0.00         194.99         194.99   01*218393         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL         194.99   0.00         194.99

001611  SOIL SERVICE GARDEN          2-685443              48.54   0.00          48.54         335.44   01*218394         11/20/18
                                     2-690966             286.90   0.00         286.90  
                                            TOTAL         335.44   0.00         335.44

012756  SONDRA CAVE                  81759                750.00   0.00         750.00       1,725.00   01*218395         11/20/18
                                     81760                975.00   0.00         975.00  
                                            TOTAL       1,725.00   0.00       1,725.00

001795  SPENCER FANE LLP             662707             6,163.60   0.00       6,163.60       6,163.60   01*218396         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL       6,163.60   0.00       6,163.60

012449  SPIRE MISSOURI INC.          11-19-18           1,270.34   0.00       1,270.34       1,270.34   01*218397         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL       1,270.34   0.00       1,270.34

000801  SPORTIME                     208121972917         237.99   0.00         237.99         237.99   01*218398         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL         237.99   0.00         237.99

012423  STUDENT TRANSPORTATION OF AME70015695          19,456.00   0.00      19,456.00      19,456.00   01*218399         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL      19,456.00   0.00      19,456.00

012423  STUDENT TRANSPORTATION OF AME70015702             498.45   0.00         498.45         498.45   01*218400         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL         498.45   0.00         498.45

012432  TAN TAR A RESORT             DB-0841              586.20   0.00         586.20         586.20   01*218401         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL         586.20   0.00         586.20

012061  THE LITERACY LAB             2483               8,250.00   0.00       8,250.00      16,500.00   01*218402         11/20/18
                                     2484               4,125.00   0.00       4,125.00  
                                     2485               4,125.00   0.00       4,125.00  
                                            TOTAL      16,500.00   0.00      16,500.00

012398  TIERNEY BROTHERS INC         21981                198.18   0.00         198.18         198.18   01*218403         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL         198.18   0.00         198.18

008126  TOLEDO PHYSICAL EDUCATION SUP258468-00            711.84   0.00         711.84         711.84   01*218404         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL         711.84   0.00         711.84

005956  UNIVERSITY OF MISSOURI-KANSAS0377009              210.00   0.00         210.00         210.00   01*218405         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL         210.00   0.00         210.00

000634  WALDO PIZZA                  13078                 96.40   0.00          96.40          96.40   01*218406         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL          96.40   0.00          96.40

000634  WALDO PIZZA                  13025                298.30   0.00         298.30         298.30   01*218407         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL         298.30   0.00         298.30

012442  WEX BANK                     56441243          11,927.16   0.00      11,927.16      11,927.16   01*218408         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL      11,927.16   0.00      11,927.16

000414  WILLIAM V. MACGILL & COMPANY IN0649965            425.95   0.00         425.95         573.35   01*218409         11/20/18
                                     IN0656710            147.40   0.00         147.40  
                                            TOTAL         573.35   0.00         573.35

012477  ZACHARY CRAIG                9172018            1,500.00   0.00       1,500.00       1,500.00   01*218410         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL       1,500.00   0.00       1,500.00

012597  ASSISTED STUDENT TRANSPORTATI600584             1,018.75   0.00       1,018.75       2,006.25   01*218431         11/29/18
                                     600587               987.50   0.00         987.50  
                                            TOTAL       2,006.25   0.00       2,006.25

007410  AT & T                       10252018           1,535.76   0.00       1,535.76       1,535.76   01*218432         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL       1,535.76   0.00       1,535.76

010751  BALFOUR                      111818                65.47   0.00          65.47          65.47   01*218433         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL          65.47   0.00          65.47

005880  BALLS FOOD STORES            013953               340.34   0.00         340.34         340.34   01*218434         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL         340.34   0.00         340.34

005880  BALLS FOOD STORES            013453                15.43   0.00          15.43          15.43   01*218435         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL          15.43   0.00          15.43

005880  BALLS FOOD STORES            018051                26.06   0.00          26.06          26.06   01*218436         11/29/18



                                                   Center School District No. 58
AP3190                                            MONTH-END DISBURSEMENTS SUMMARY                08:52:36 11 DEC 2018     PAGE 6  
                                                      ALL SINCE LAST REGISTER

VENDOR# NAME                         INVOICE#              GROSS   DISC            NET      CHECK AMT   CHECK NBR          DATE

                                            TOTAL          26.06   0.00          26.06

005880  BALLS FOOD STORES            018057                47.57   0.00          47.57          47.57   01*218437         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL          47.57   0.00          47.57

005880  BALLS FOOD STORES            658110                32.19   0.00          32.19          32.19   01*218438         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL          32.19   0.00          32.19

003832  CARD SERVICES/ VISA          10/18KING            309.88   0.00         309.88         400.27   01*218439         11/29/18
                                     ACTIVITIES-O          40.39   0.00          40.39  
                                     DEC18-CLOMBA          50.00   0.00          50.00  
                                            TOTAL         400.27   0.00         400.27

003832  CARD SERVICES/ VISA          10/18CHRISTO         134.88   0.00         134.88         134.88   01*218440         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL         134.88   0.00         134.88

003832  CARD SERVICES/ VISA          1011NWEITZEL         179.00   0.00         179.00         179.00   01*218441         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL         179.00   0.00         179.00

003832  CARD SERVICES/ VISA          1018CENTRALO       2,174.99   0.00       2,174.99       2,174.99   01*218442         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL       2,174.99   0.00       2,174.99

003832  CARD SERVICES/ VISA          1018CO             1,765.05   0.00       1,765.05       1,765.05   01*218443         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL       1,765.05   0.00       1,765.05

003832  CARD SERVICES/ VISA          1018KRUSE            660.97   0.00         660.97         660.97   01*218444         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL         660.97   0.00         660.97

003832  CARD SERVICES/ VISA          1118APRICE         1,234.66   0.00       1,234.66       1,234.66   01*218445         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL       1,234.66   0.00       1,234.66

003832  CARD SERVICES/ VISA          1118CASTRO           531.80   0.00         531.80         531.80   01*218446         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL         531.80   0.00         531.80

003832  CARD SERVICES/ VISA          1118HALL             297.31   0.00         297.31         297.31   01*218447         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL         297.31   0.00         297.31

003832  CARD SERVICES/ VISA          1118MEDINA         1,159.74   0.00       1,159.74       1,159.74   01*218448         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL       1,159.74   0.00       1,159.74

003832  CARD SERVICES/ VISA          1118SANDAGE        1,922.27   0.00       1,922.27       1,922.27   01*218449         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL       1,922.27   0.00       1,922.27

003832  CARD SERVICES/ VISA          112018BAKER          817.95   0.00         817.95         817.95   01*218450         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL         817.95   0.00         817.95

003832  CARD SERVICES/ VISA          112018BOYLE          524.82   0.00         524.82         524.82   01*218451         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL         524.82   0.00         524.82

003832  CARD SERVICES/ VISA          112018CMSBUI         950.00   0.00         950.00         950.00   01*218452         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL         950.00   0.00         950.00

003832  CARD SERVICES/ VISA          112018CYGAN          744.55   0.00         744.55         744.55   01*218453         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL         744.55   0.00         744.55

003832  CARD SERVICES/ VISA          112018WILLIA         256.96   0.00         256.96         256.96   01*218454         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL         256.96   0.00         256.96

003832  CARD SERVICES/ VISA          1120PRICE            318.74   0.00         318.74         318.74   01*218455         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL         318.74   0.00         318.74

003832  CARD SERVICES/ VISA          11AHUNA2018        1,337.81   0.00       1,337.81       1,337.81   01*218456         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL       1,337.81   0.00       1,337.81

003832  CARD SERVICES/ VISA          11JOHNSTON20       2,137.36   0.00       2,137.36       2,137.36   01*218457         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL       2,137.36   0.00       2,137.36

003832  CARD SERVICES/ VISA          11MCGEE2018           50.50   0.00          50.50          50.50   01*218458         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL          50.50   0.00          50.50

003832  CARD SERVICES/ VISA          ACTIVITIES-N         869.34   0.00         869.34         869.34   01*218459         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL         869.34   0.00         869.34

003832  CARD SERVICES/ VISA          ATHLETICS-NO       2,418.05   0.00       2,418.05       2,418.05   01*218460         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL       2,418.05   0.00       2,418.05

003832  CARD SERVICES/ VISA          DEC.18-LOMBA           1.00   0.00           1.00           1.00   01*218461         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL           1.00   0.00           1.00

003832  CARD SERVICES/ VISA          HARRIS11/18          412.46   0.00         412.46         412.46   01*218462         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL         412.46   0.00         412.46

003832  CARD SERVICES/ VISA          MCLAINNOV201       3,654.23   0.00       3,654.23       3,654.23   01*218463         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL       3,654.23   0.00       3,654.23

003832  CARD SERVICES/ VISA          STOKES11/18        1,254.16   0.00       1,254.16       1,254.16   01*218464         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL       1,254.16   0.00       1,254.16

003832  CARD SERVICES/ VISA          SWEETEN-NOV2       8,974.43   0.00       8,974.43       8,974.43   01*218465         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL       8,974.43   0.00       8,974.43

003779  CLAIM CARE, INC              10632151              80.86   0.00          80.86          80.86   01*218466         11/29/18



                                                   Center School District No. 58
AP3190                                            MONTH-END DISBURSEMENTS SUMMARY                08:52:36 11 DEC 2018     PAGE 7  
                                                      ALL SINCE LAST REGISTER

VENDOR# NAME                         INVOICE#              GROSS   DISC            NET      CHECK AMT   CHECK NBR          DATE

                                            TOTAL          80.86   0.00          80.86

008767  CONSOLIDATED COMMUNICATIONS  11012018             871.68   0.00         871.68         871.68   01*218467         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL         871.68   0.00         871.68

003642  CORNERSTONES OF CARE         DEC2017           11,412.50   0.00      11,412.50      38,616.00   01*218468         11/29/18
                                     JAN2018           11,407.50   0.00      11,407.50  
                                     OCT2018           15,796.00   0.00      15,796.00  
                                            TOTAL      38,616.00   0.00      38,616.00

011554  DENISE CHAMBERS              JOANN                509.49   0.00         509.49         509.49   01*218469         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL         509.49   0.00         509.49

011175  DRURY UNIVERSITY             181611               630.00   0.00         630.00         630.00   01*218470         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL         630.00   0.00         630.00

010302  FAVORITE HEALTHCARE STAFFING,1131207              615.00   0.00         615.00         615.00   01*218471         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL         615.00   0.00         615.00

000672  HICKMAN MILLS C-1 SCHOOL DISTCENT052018         1,305.48   0.00       1,305.48       1,305.48   01*218472         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL       1,305.48   0.00       1,305.48

006958  KIWANIS LEADERSHIP           H83352               322.00   0.00         322.00         322.00   01*218473         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL         322.00   0.00         322.00

008750  LAMINATION EQUIPMENT & SUPPLY772                   90.40   0.00          90.40          90.40   01*218474         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL          90.40   0.00          90.40

011629  MDTA                         182011                25.00   0.00          25.00          25.00   01*218475         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL          25.00   0.00          25.00

012277  MELISSA K STORRER            11192018REIM          21.60   0.00          21.60          21.60   01*218476         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL          21.60   0.00          21.60

000764  MO SCHOOL COUNSELOR ASSN.    200004169            165.00   0.00         165.00         165.00   01*218477         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL         165.00   0.00         165.00

009490  PETTY CASH - CO              11/20/18             251.31   0.00         251.31         251.31   01*218478         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL         251.31   0.00         251.31

005014  PRICE CHOPPER/COSENTINO 103RD414931               136.13   0.00         136.13         177.58   01*218479         11/29/18
                                     414936                 4.98   0.00           4.98  
                                     414940                36.47   0.00          36.47  
                                            TOTAL         177.58   0.00         177.58

001533  PROGRESSIVE ELECTRONICS      0136384-IN        32,123.00   0.00      32,123.00      32,123.00   01*218480         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL      32,123.00   0.00      32,123.00

005032  SCHOLASTIC MAGAZINE          M6481356             442.75   0.00         442.75         442.75   01*218481         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL         442.75   0.00         442.75

000148  SEE MORE SIGNS               202765               230.00   0.00         230.00         230.00   01*218482         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL         230.00   0.00         230.00

012423  STUDENT TRANSPORTATION OF AME343007-24701          80.84   0.00          80.84          80.84   01*218483         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL          80.84   0.00          80.84

000023  TIERNEY STATIONERY           22081                 19.49   0.00          19.49          19.49   01*218484         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL          19.49   0.00          19.49

000061  UNEMPLOYMENT INSURANCE SERVIC1779                 228.00   0.00         228.00         228.00   01*218485         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL         228.00   0.00         228.00

000265  US TOY CO                    X01126441601          16.64   0.00          16.64          16.64   01*218486         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL          16.64   0.00          16.64

000265  US TOY CO                    X01125765801          15.46   0.00          15.46          15.46   01*218487         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL          15.46   0.00          15.46

000265  US TOY CO                    X01125768801          30.55   0.00          30.55          30.55   01*218488         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL          30.55   0.00          30.55

000373  VERIZON WIRELESS             9818290268         3,506.60   0.00       3,506.60       3,506.60   01*218489         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL       3,506.60   0.00       3,506.60

009960  VISAGE, INC                  109030               608.05   0.00         608.05         608.05   01*218490         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL         608.05   0.00         608.05

000634  WALDO PIZZA                  11192018-MTG          80.30   0.00          80.30         127.75   01*218491         11/29/18
                                     12980                 47.45   0.00          47.45  
                                            TOTAL         127.75   0.00         127.75

012123  CYRUS RODGERS                12418                125.00   0.00         125.00         125.00   01*218496         12/05/18
                                            TOTAL         125.00   0.00         125.00

006706  GARRON CARTER                12418                125.00   0.00         125.00         125.00   01*218497         12/05/18
                                            TOTAL         125.00   0.00         125.00

009614  JERNISHA CANN                12418                125.00   0.00         125.00         125.00   01*218498         12/05/18
                                            TOTAL         125.00   0.00         125.00

008661  LATOSHA WOODS                12418                125.00   0.00         125.00         125.00   01*218499         12/05/18



                                                   Center School District No. 58
AP3190                                            MONTH-END DISBURSEMENTS SUMMARY                08:52:36 11 DEC 2018     PAGE 8  
                                                      ALL SINCE LAST REGISTER

VENDOR# NAME                         INVOICE#              GROSS   DISC            NET      CHECK AMT   CHECK NBR          DATE

                                            TOTAL         125.00   0.00         125.00

012477  ZACHARY CRAIG                91718                120.00   0.00         120.00         120.00   01*218500         12/05/18
                                            TOTAL         120.00   0.00         120.00

010167  DANIEL WATSON                12718                125.00   0.00         125.00         125.00   01*218501         12/07/18
                                            TOTAL         125.00   0.00         125.00

006706  GARRON CARTER                12718                125.00   0.00         125.00         125.00   01*218502         12/07/18
                                            TOTAL         125.00   0.00         125.00

010760  MAURICE OATIS                1252018              125.00   0.00         125.00         125.00   01*218503         12/07/18
                                            TOTAL         125.00   0.00         125.00

012770  NAVITAS, LLC                 APPLICATION#      97,707.00   0.00      97,707.00      97,707.00   01*218504         12/07/18
                                            TOTAL      97,707.00   0.00      97,707.00

012770  NAVITAS, LLC                 APPLICATION#     262,035.00   0.00     262,035.00     262,035.00   01*218505         12/07/18
                                            TOTAL     262,035.00   0.00     262,035.00

010582  ASHLEY RUTH SCARLETT         11718                109.66   0.00         109.66         109.66     02*4373         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL         109.66   0.00         109.66

011042  BELINDA K MEYER              74                    13.98   0.00          13.98          13.98     02*4374         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL          13.98   0.00          13.98

003172  CAYETANA P MARISTELA         112018MARIST          13.78   0.00          13.78          13.78     02*4375         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL          13.78   0.00          13.78

012278  DIANNE E DIGGETT             111318                45.36   0.00          45.36          45.36     02*4376         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL          45.36   0.00          45.36

010932  DR. MICHAEL J WEISHAAR       11/20/18             139.50   0.00         139.50         139.50     02*4377         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL         139.50   0.00         139.50

012530  Dr. ELIZABETH L WILKERSON-ARB102018ARBISI         132.14   0.00         132.14         132.14     02*4378         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL         132.14   0.00         132.14

012528  JULIA GANNON                 111518                56.82   0.00          56.82          56.82     02*4379         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL          56.82   0.00          56.82

009989  KARAH L CHAPMAN              111218                29.00   0.00          29.00          29.00     02*4380         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL          29.00   0.00          29.00

011737  KATHERINE F KLEIN            REIMB-KK1018          67.88   0.00          67.88          67.88     02*4381         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL          67.88   0.00          67.88

009441  KEISHA HATCHER               111518               176.97   0.00         176.97         176.97     02*4382         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL         176.97   0.00         176.97

000673  LINDA S INNES                112018INNES          311.46   0.00         311.46         311.46     02*4383         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL         311.46   0.00         311.46

007674  MATTHEW J BRAATEN            11072018              74.59   0.00          74.59          74.59     02*4384         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL          74.59   0.00          74.59

007974  MAURANDA DOUGLAS             10202018              19.33   0.00          19.33          19.33     02*4385         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL          19.33   0.00          19.33

002492  MEAGAN PATTERSON             111518               321.30   0.00         321.30         321.30     02*4386         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL         321.30   0.00         321.30

000609  MELISSA ROSENTHAL            REIMB-MR1018         193.05   0.00         193.05         193.05     02*4387         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL         193.05   0.00         193.05

007013  RUSTY P BOYLE                11052018-REI          14.40   0.00          14.40          14.40     02*4388         11/20/18
                                            TOTAL          14.40   0.00          14.40

003392  AMY MEIROWSKY                10112018               5.94   0.00           5.94           5.94     02*4389         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL           5.94   0.00           5.94

012224  Dr. KYLE W PALMER            11272018             132.84   0.00         132.84         132.84     02*4390         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL         132.84   0.00         132.84

012671  HILARY C BOORSTEIN           11012018              71.36   0.00          71.36          71.36     02*4391         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL          71.36   0.00          71.36

011959  JARUSHA LEIGH GERINGER       2815489               94.86   0.00          94.86          94.86     02*4392         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL          94.86   0.00          94.86

006053  JEANNETTE GIANGROSSO         182011               115.20   0.00         115.20         115.20     02*4393         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL         115.20   0.00         115.20

010585  JENNIFER DIANE WELDER        11162018              23.47   0.00          23.47          23.47     02*4394         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL          23.47   0.00          23.47

007490  KELLY BAILEY                 181611               780.00   0.00         780.00         780.00     02*4395         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL         780.00   0.00         780.00

007437  TAMARA B SANDAGE             RMBR-SANDAGE          35.00   0.00          35.00          35.00     02*4396         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL          35.00   0.00          35.00



                                                   Center School District No. 58
AP3190                                            MONTH-END DISBURSEMENTS SUMMARY                08:52:36 11 DEC 2018     PAGE 9  
                                                      ALL SINCE LAST REGISTER

VENDOR# NAME                         INVOICE#              GROSS   DISC            NET      CHECK AMT   CHECK NBR          DATE

002368  AETNA INC                    BDDENTAL-1-1       2,494.72   0.00       2,494.72       3,737.81   PR*218237         11/13/18
                                     DENTALFAM-1-       1,223.60   0.00       1,223.60  
                                     EMPDENTAL-1-          19.49   0.00          19.49  
                                            TOTAL       3,737.81   0.00       3,737.81

010975  BLUE CROSS BLUE SHIELD OF KANBC-BD-HD-SM1       4,775.94   0.00       4,775.94      38,851.82   PR*218239         11/13/18
                                     BC-BD-SM-QHD       4,079.55   0.00       4,079.55  
                                     BC-BD-SM-QHD       7,071.22   0.00       7,071.22  
                                     BC-SM-BD-HD1       1,591.98   0.00       1,591.98  
                                     BC-SM-PPO1(E         750.18   0.00         750.18  
                                     BC-SM-PPO1(E       1,875.45   0.00       1,875.45  
                                     BC-SM-PPO11(       1,155.03   0.00       1,155.03  
                                     BC-SM-PPO11(       2,695.07   0.00       2,695.07  
                                     BC-SM-QHDHP(       1,509.42   0.00       1,509.42  
                                     BC-SM-QHDHP(       1,590.96   0.00       1,590.96  
                                     BCSMHD1ESP-1         517.38   0.00         517.38  
                                     SELECT PLUS        7,546.44   0.00       7,546.44  
                                     SELECT PLUS          423.07   0.00         423.07  
                                     SELECT PLUS          754.65   0.00         754.65  
                                     SELECT PLUS        2,515.48   0.00       2,515.48  
                                            TOTAL      38,851.82   0.00      38,851.82

003704  FAMILY SUPPORT PAYMENT CENTERFAMSUP-1-111       2,271.66   0.00       2,271.66       2,271.66   PR*218240         11/13/18
                                            TOTAL       2,271.66   0.00       2,271.66

012366  FLEX MADE EASY               BENDIR-FEE-1           7.00   0.00           7.00           7.00   PR*218241         11/13/18
                                            TOTAL           7.00   0.00           7.00

007620  FOUNDATION FOR CENTER EDUCATIFOUNDATION-1          34.66   0.00          34.66          34.66   PR*218242         11/13/18
                                            TOTAL          34.66   0.00          34.66

000145  HEART OF AMERICA UNITED WAY  UNWAY-1-111-          11.00   0.00          11.00          11.00   PR*218243         11/13/18
                                            TOTAL          11.00   0.00          11.00

000119  HEARTLAND COMM CREDIT UNION  CRUNION-1-11         955.00   0.00         955.00         955.00   PR*218244         11/13/18
                                            TOTAL         955.00   0.00         955.00

010531  MDHE COLLECTIONS CUSTODIAL ACSTDNTLOAN-1-         203.87   0.00         203.87         203.87   PR*218245         11/13/18
                                            TOTAL         203.87   0.00         203.87

006684  MOST                         MOST-1-111-2          70.00   0.00          70.00          70.00   PR*218246         11/13/18
                                            TOTAL          70.00   0.00          70.00

000561  MSTA                         MSTAMEM-1-11          20.20   0.00          20.20          20.20   PR*218247         11/13/18
                                            TOTAL          20.20   0.00          20.20

012251  NATIONAL INSURANCE MARKETING SMACC-BD-1-1         527.96   0.00         527.96       1,720.62   PR*218248         11/13/18
                                     SMCAN-BD-1-1         399.97   0.00         399.97  
                                     SMLIFETRM-BD         337.99   0.00         337.99  
                                     SMPRAR-BD-1-          91.60   0.00          91.60  
                                     SMSTRDIS-BD-         363.10   0.00         363.10  
                                            TOTAL       1,720.62   0.00       1,720.62

009184  NGLIC                        VSN-FULLB-CH          79.11   0.00          79.11         462.72   PR*218249         11/13/18
                                     VSN-FULLB-EM         198.88   0.00         198.88  
                                     VSN-FULLB-FA          66.80   0.00          66.80  
                                     VSN-FULLB-SP          89.70   0.00          89.70  
                                     VSN-MATS-CHI           6.11   0.00           6.11  
                                     VSN-MATS-EMP          22.12   0.00          22.12  
                                            TOTAL         462.72   0.00         462.72

000261  PUBLIC EDUCATION             RETNC-1-111-      32,567.96   0.00      32,567.96      32,567.96   PR*218250         11/13/18
                                            TOTAL      32,567.96   0.00      32,567.96

000262  PUBLIC SCHOOL RETIRE SYSTEM  RETP(F)-1-11       1,168.14   0.00       1,168.14       1,168.14   PR*218251         11/13/18
                                            TOTAL       1,168.14   0.00       1,168.14

002880  RICHARD V FINK               BC FINK-1-11         200.00   0.00         200.00         200.00   PR*218252         11/13/18
                                            TOTAL         200.00   0.00         200.00

009157  STANDARD INSURANCE COMPANY   LIFE-S-1-111         286.57   0.00         286.57       1,027.72   PR*218253         11/13/18
                                     VOL.LIFE-CHI          13.53   0.00          13.53  
                                     VOL.LIFE-EMP         593.07   0.00         593.07  
                                     VOL.LIFE-SPO         134.55   0.00         134.55  
                                            TOTAL       1,027.72   0.00       1,027.72

003145  STATE DISBURSEMENT UNIT      TKELLYCS-1-1         231.40   0.00         231.40         231.40   PR*218254         11/13/18
                                            TOTAL         231.40   0.00         231.40

008521  U.S. DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION USDEPEDU-1-1         177.04   0.00         177.04         177.04   PR*218255         11/13/18
                                            TOTAL         177.04   0.00         177.04

011269  W.H. GRIFFIN, TRUSTEE        CHPT 13-TRUS          50.00   0.00          50.00          50.00   PR*218256         11/13/18
                                            TOTAL          50.00   0.00          50.00

002368  AETNA INC                    AETNA-EMP-1-       9,235.89   0.00       9,235.89      13,651.37   PR*218315         11/19/18
                                     AETNA-FAM-1-       3,915.20   0.00       3,915.20  
                                     AETNAFAM2-1-         500.28   0.00         500.28  
                                            TOTAL      13,651.37   0.00      13,651.37

010975  BLUE CROSS BLUE SHIELD OF KANBC-BD-M-QHDH       6,527.28   0.00       6,527.28     169,434.38   PR*218318         11/19/18
                                     BC-BD-M-QHDH      44,059.14   0.00      44,059.14  



                                                   Center School District No. 58
AP3190                                            MONTH-END DISBURSEMENTS SUMMARY                08:52:36 11 DEC 2018     PAGE 10  
                                                      ALL SINCE LAST REGISTER

VENDOR# NAME                         INVOICE#              GROSS   DISC            NET      CHECK AMT   CHECK NBR          DATE

                                     BC-BD-M1-1-2      20,695.74   0.00      20,695.74  
                                     BC-BD-MO-HD1       1,061.32   0.00       1,061.32  
                                     BC-M-HD-ESP-       1,034.76   0.00       1,034.76  
                                     BC-M-HD1--1-       4,908.70   0.00       4,908.70  
                                     BC-M-HD1-1-2       1,034.76   0.00       1,034.76  
                                     BC-M-HD1-ECH         981.74   0.00         981.74  
                                     BC-M-HD1F-1-       1,751.14   0.00       1,751.14  
                                     BC-M-PPO1(E)         750.18   0.00         750.18  
                                     BC-M-PPO1(E)       7,501.80   0.00       7,501.80  
                                     BC-M-PPO1(E+       2,925.56   0.00       2,925.56  
                                     BC-M-PPO11(E       1,540.04   0.00       1,540.04  
                                     BC-M-PPO11(E      11,663.34   0.00      11,663.34  
                                     BC-M-PPO11(E       2,848.96   0.00       2,848.96  
                                     BC-M-PPO11(E       1,501.44   0.00       1,501.44  
                                     BC-M-PPO11(F       2,540.98   0.00       2,540.98  
                                     BC-M-QHDHP(E       2,012.56   0.00       2,012.56  
                                     BC-M-QHDHP(E       8,050.24   0.00       8,050.24  
                                     BC-M-QHDHP(F       1,794.92   0.00       1,794.92  
                                     SELECT PLUS        3,658.88   0.00       3,658.88  
                                     SELECT PLUS        2,538.42   0.00       2,538.42  
                                     SELECT PLUS-         891.86   0.00         891.86  
                                     SELECT PLUS-      31,100.48   0.00      31,100.48  
                                     SELECT PLUS-       3,384.56   0.00       3,384.56  
                                     SELECT PLUS-       2,675.58   0.00       2,675.58  
                                            TOTAL     169,434.38   0.00     169,434.38

004234  CIRCUIT COURT OF JACKSON COUNJCKC-1-211-2         394.32   0.00         394.32         394.32   PR*218319         11/19/18
                                            TOTAL         394.32   0.00         394.32

012366  FLEX MADE EASY               BENDIR-FEE-1          52.50   0.00          52.50          52.50   PR*218320         11/19/18
                                            TOTAL          52.50   0.00          52.50

007620  FOUNDATION FOR CENTER EDUCATIFOUNDATION-1         374.62   0.00         374.62         374.62   PR*218321         11/19/18
                                            TOTAL         374.62   0.00         374.62

000145  HEART OF AMERICA UNITED WAY  UNWAY-1-211-         162.91   0.00         162.91         162.91   PR*218322         11/19/18
                                            TOTAL         162.91   0.00         162.91

000119  HEARTLAND COMM CREDIT UNION  CRUNION-1-21       6,436.00   0.00       6,436.00       6,436.00   PR*218323         11/19/18
                                            TOTAL       6,436.00   0.00       6,436.00

003847  KANSAS PAYMENT CENTER        GARNLP-1-211         967.00   0.00         967.00         967.00   PR*218324         11/19/18
                                            TOTAL         967.00   0.00         967.00

000561  MSTA                         MSTAMEM-1-21         898.40   0.00         898.40         898.40   PR*218325         11/19/18
                                            TOTAL         898.40   0.00         898.40

012251  NATIONAL INSURANCE MARKETING MACC-BD-1-21       1,575.17   0.00       1,575.17       6,478.56   PR*218326         11/19/18
                                     MCAN-BD-1-21       1,340.34   0.00       1,340.34  
                                     MLIFETRM-BD-       1,428.35   0.00       1,428.35  
                                     MPRAR-BD-1-2         268.50   0.00         268.50  
                                     MSTRDIS-BD-1       1,866.20   0.00       1,866.20  
                                            TOTAL       6,478.56   0.00       6,478.56

009184  NGLIC                        VSN-FULL-CHI         158.13   0.00         158.13       1,478.13   PR*218327         11/19/18
                                     VSN-FULL-EMP         922.08   0.00         922.08  
                                     VSN-FULL-FAM         160.32   0.00         160.32  
                                     VSN-FULL-SP-         143.44   0.00         143.44  
                                     VSN-MAT-EMP-          63.10   0.00          63.10  
                                     VSN-MAT-FAMI          18.58   0.00          18.58  
                                     VSN-MAT-SP-1          12.48   0.00          12.48  
                                            TOTAL       1,478.13   0.00       1,478.13

000261  PUBLIC EDUCATION             RETNC-1-211-      13,366.18   0.00      13,366.18      13,366.18   PR*218328         11/19/18
                                            TOTAL      13,366.18   0.00      13,366.18

000262  PUBLIC SCHOOL RETIRE SYSTEM  RETP(F)-1-21       1,370.88   0.00       1,370.88     420,474.74   PR*218329         11/19/18
                                     RETP-1-211-2     417,968.06   0.00     417,968.06  
                                     RETPT-1-211-       1,135.80   0.00       1,135.80  
                                            TOTAL     420,474.74   0.00     420,474.74

009157  STANDARD INSURANCE COMPANY   BDLIFE-EEREI           2.13   0.00           2.13       3,623.56   PR*218330         11/19/18
                                     LIFE-M-1-211       2,018.42   0.00       2,018.42  
                                     VOL-LIFE-CHI          16.90   0.00          16.90  
                                     VOL-LIFE-EMP       1,203.96   0.00       1,203.96  
                                     VOL-LIFE-SPO         382.15   0.00         382.15  
                                            TOTAL       3,623.56   0.00       3,623.56

012214  SUN LIFE FINANCIAL           BDLTD-1-211-       1,332.07   0.00       1,332.07       1,332.07   PR*218331         11/19/18
                                            TOTAL       1,332.07   0.00       1,332.07

012374  TEXAS GUARANTEED STUDENT LOANGARN-1-211-2         503.09   0.00         503.09         503.09   PR*218332         11/19/18
                                            TOTAL         503.09   0.00         503.09

011269  W.H. GRIFFIN, TRUSTEE        CHPT 13-TRUS       2,000.00   0.00       2,000.00       2,000.00   PR*218333         11/19/18
                                            TOTAL       2,000.00   0.00       2,000.00

012141  WINDHAM PROFESSIONALS, INC.  WIND. PROF-1         460.81   0.00         460.81         460.81   PR*218334         11/19/18
                                            TOTAL         460.81   0.00         460.81

002368  AETNA INC                    BDDENTAL-1-3       2,445.83   0.00       2,445.83       3,808.35   PR*218411         11/29/18
                                     DENTALFAM-1-       1,343.04   0.00       1,343.04  



                                                   Center School District No. 58
AP3190                                            MONTH-END DISBURSEMENTS SUMMARY                08:52:36 11 DEC 2018     PAGE 11  
                                                      ALL SINCE LAST REGISTER

VENDOR# NAME                         INVOICE#              GROSS   DISC            NET      CHECK AMT   CHECK NBR          DATE

                                     EMPDENTAL-1-          19.48   0.00          19.48  
                                            TOTAL       3,808.35   0.00       3,808.35

010975  BLUE CROSS BLUE SHIELD OF KANBC-BD-HD-SM1       4,775.94   0.00       4,775.94      41,800.20   PR*218413         11/29/18
                                     BC-BD-SM-QHD         815.91   0.00         815.91  
                                     BC-BD-SM-QHD      13,054.56   0.00      13,054.56  
                                     BC-SM-BD-HD1       1,591.98   0.00       1,591.98  
                                     BC-SM-PPO1(E         750.18   0.00         750.18  
                                     BC-SM-PPO1(E       1,875.45   0.00       1,875.45  
                                     BC-SM-PPO11(       1,155.03   0.00       1,155.03  
                                     BC-SM-PPO11(       2,695.07   0.00       2,695.07  
                                     BC-SM-QHDHP(       1,509.42   0.00       1,509.42  
                                     BC-SM-QHDHP(       1,590.96   0.00       1,590.96  
                                     BCSMHD1ESP-1         517.38   0.00         517.38  
                                     SELECT PLUS        7,775.12   0.00       7,775.12  
                                     SELECT PLUS          423.07   0.00         423.07  
                                     SELECT PLUS          754.65   0.00         754.65  
                                     SELECT PLUS        2,515.48   0.00       2,515.48  
                                            TOTAL      41,800.20   0.00      41,800.20

003704  FAMILY SUPPORT PAYMENT CENTERFAMSUP-1-311       2,175.95   0.00       2,175.95       2,175.95   PR*218414         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL       2,175.95   0.00       2,175.95

012366  FLEX MADE EASY               BENDIR-FEE-1           7.00   0.00           7.00           7.00   PR*218415         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL           7.00   0.00           7.00

007620  FOUNDATION FOR CENTER EDUCATIFOUNDATION-1          34.66   0.00          34.66          34.66   PR*218416         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL          34.66   0.00          34.66

000145  HEART OF AMERICA UNITED WAY  UNWAY-1-311-          11.00   0.00          11.00          11.00   PR*218417         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL          11.00   0.00          11.00

000119  HEARTLAND COMM CREDIT UNION  CRUNION-1-31         955.00   0.00         955.00         955.00   PR*218418         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL         955.00   0.00         955.00

010531  MDHE COLLECTIONS CUSTODIAL ACSTDNTLOAN-1-         206.14   0.00         206.14         206.14   PR*218419         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL         206.14   0.00         206.14

006684  MOST                         MOST-1-311-2          70.00   0.00          70.00          70.00   PR*218420         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL          70.00   0.00          70.00

000561  MSTA                         MSTAMEM-1-31          20.20   0.00          20.20          20.20   PR*218421         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL          20.20   0.00          20.20

012251  NATIONAL INSURANCE MARKETING SMACC-BD-1-3         527.95   0.00         527.95       1,720.27   PR*218422         11/29/18
                                     SMCAN-BD-1-3         399.89   0.00         399.89  
                                     SMLIFETRM-BD         337.88   0.00         337.88  
                                     SMPRAR-BD-1-          91.45   0.00          91.45  
                                     SMSTRDIS-BD-         363.10   0.00         363.10  
                                            TOTAL       1,720.27   0.00       1,720.27

009184  NGLIC                        VSN-FULLB-CH          79.02   0.00          79.02         477.23   PR*218423         11/29/18
                                     VSN-FULLB-EM         203.40   0.00         203.40  
                                     VSN-FULLB-FA          80.20   0.00          80.20  
                                     VSN-FULLB-SP          89.60   0.00          89.60  
                                     VSN-MATS-CHI           6.11   0.00           6.11  
                                     VSN-MATS-EMP          18.90   0.00          18.90  
                                            TOTAL         477.23   0.00         477.23

000261  PUBLIC EDUCATION             RETNC-1-311-      33,272.26   0.00      33,272.26      33,272.26   PR*218424         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL      33,272.26   0.00      33,272.26

000262  PUBLIC SCHOOL RETIRE SYSTEM  RETP(F)-1-31       1,117.70   0.00       1,117.70       1,117.70   PR*218425         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL       1,117.70   0.00       1,117.70

002880  RICHARD V FINK               BC FINK-1-31         200.00   0.00         200.00         200.00   PR*218426         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL         200.00   0.00         200.00

009157  STANDARD INSURANCE COMPANY   LIFE-S-1-311         288.21   0.00         288.21       1,041.00   PR*218427         11/29/18
                                     VOL.LIFE-CHI          13.12   0.00          13.12  
                                     VOL.LIFE-EMP         599.10   0.00         599.10  
                                     VOL.LIFE-SPO         140.57   0.00         140.57  
                                            TOTAL       1,041.00   0.00       1,041.00

003145  STATE DISBURSEMENT UNIT      TKELLYCS-1-3         231.40   0.00         231.40         231.40   PR*218428         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL         231.40   0.00         231.40

008521  U.S. DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION USDEPEDU-1-3         176.42   0.00         176.42         176.42   PR*218429         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL         176.42   0.00         176.42

011269  W.H. GRIFFIN, TRUSTEE        CHPT 13-TRUS          50.00   0.00          50.00          50.00   PR*218430         11/29/18
                                            TOTAL          50.00   0.00          50.00

                              TOTALS                                                             1,637,196.86



 

 

 

 

AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC JAN FEB MAR APR MAY

CE 97.11 95.17 93.72 91.67

BO 98.32 97.29 96.51 95.18

IC 97 94.61 94.45 92.80

RB 97.50 96.28 96.60 95.71

88

90

92

94

96

98

100

P
ER

C
EN

TA
G

E 
A

D
A

% AVERAGE DAILY ATTENDANCE 
ELEMENTARY SCHOOLS 2018-2019

CE BO IC RB

2012-13  2013-14  2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19

CE 94.78 94.70 93.99 93.35 93.55 91.77

BO 95.57 96.10 96.48 95.83 95.80 95.57

IC 94.79 95.79 95.00 94.47 94.35 93.66

RB 96.86 97.04 96.55 96.33 95.87 95.75

86

88

90

92

94

96

98

100

P
ER

C
EN

TA
G

E 
A

D
A

% AVERAGE DAILY ATTENDANCE
ELEMENTARY SCHOOLS 2018-2019

CE BO IC RB



 

 

 

 

AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC JAN FEB MAR APR MAY

MS 97.36 94.81 94.63 92.79

HS 96.50 94.93 93.93 92.55

ALT HS 90.06 83.62 81.12 82.17

ALT MS 95.22 91.11 90.12 82.66

70.00

75.00

80.00

85.00

90.00

95.00

100.00

P
ER

C
EN

TA
G

E 
 A

D
A

% AVERAGE DAILY ATTENDANCE
SECONDARY SCHOOLS 2018-2019

MS HS ALT HS ALT MS

2012-13  2013-14  2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19

MS 95.55 94.85 94.97 95.08 94.52 94.08

HS 95.14 95.51 94.40 94.72 93.28 93.12

ALT HS 87.94 86.19 87.43 85.21 84.17 82.40

ALT MS 90.99 92.96 89.46 86.83 84.61 86.12

0.00

10.00

20.00

30.00

40.00

50.00

60.00

70.00

80.00

90.00

100.00

P
ER

C
EN

TA
G

E 
A

D
A

% AVERAGE DAILY ATTENDANCE
SECONDARY SCHOOLS 2018-2019

MS HS ALT HS ALT MS



 

 

 

AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC JAN FEB MAR APR MAY

DIST 97.04 95.06 94.42 92.87

90

91

92

93

94

95

96

97

98

99

100

P
ER

C
EN

TA
G

E 
A

D
A

% AVERAGE DAILY ATTENDANCE
DISTRICT 2018-2019

2012-13  2013-14  2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19

DIST 95.12 95.17 94.77 94.54 93.98 93.47

90

91

92

93

94

95

96

97

98

99

100

P
ER

C
EN

TA
G

E 
A

D
A

% AVERAGE DAILY ATTENDANCE
DISTRICT 2018-2019



Center School District

Seven Year Attendance Report

2011-2018

                              

2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19

ADM ADM ADM ADM ADM ADM ADM ADA ADA ADA ADA ADA ADA ADA % % % % % % %

   MON 1 2221.75 2250.73 2236.24 2425.58 2350.48 2376.71 2489.57 2160.26 2194.77 2233.73 2347.14 2290.16 2301.96 2416.41 97.21% 97.49% 97.28% 96.69% 97.43% 96.85% 97.04%

  MON 2 2315.68 2352.77 2415.95 2489.95 2485.15 2465.09 2530.11 2229.32 2263.19 2318.25 2377.25 2376.19 2356.89 2403.34 96.30% 96.18% 95.94% 95.50% 95.61% 95.59% 95.06%

  MON 3 2329.15 2355.59 2420.95 2511.25 2493.16 2485.15 2554.89 2228.75 2253.51 2306.16 2386.29 2355.95 2348.46 2411.90 95.72% 95.69% 95.28% 95.02% 94.49% 94.47% 94.42%

  MON 4 2326.97 2360.54 2425.15 2531.38 2489.23 2483.71 2560.46 2213.33 2243.20 2303.35 2391.05 2344.18 2328.01 2379.22 95.10% 95.05% 95.00% 94.49% 94.20% 93.76% 92.87%

  MON 5 2318.59 2353.27 2420.00 2536.36 2495.21 2495.64 2174.39 2222.87 2262.98 2396.31 2327.58 2330.13 93.74% 94.47% 93.53% 94.44% 93.30% 93.32%

  MON 6 2308.02 2343.75 2410.91 2492.48 2482.06 2516.82 2180.98 2216.69 2262.99 2337.39 2295.08 1979.02 94.54% 94.61% 93.90% 93.81% 92.51% 91.95%

  MON 7 2313.62 2349.45 2406.97 2505.73 2481.10 2528.58 2185.30 2221.73 2255.97 2352.24 2301.5 2306.46 94.40% 94.60% 93.76% 93.87% 92.80% 91.15%

  MON 8 2300.66 2347.73 2406.33 2500.73 2478.57 2543.67 2169.53 2225.44 2265.3 2328.3 2314.1 2363.58 94.24% 94.77% 94.17% 93.03% 93.40% 92.95%

  MON 9 2285.34 2343.57 2401.01 2499.61 2476.80 2533.55 2174.33 2213.97 2266.02 2348.01 2315.81 2367.6 95.18% 94.52% 94.40% 93.96% 93.49% 93.47%

  MON 10 2217.15 2257.52 2342.36 2442.29 2429.48 2477.31 2104.13 2133.66 2204.51 2276.31 2259.58 2271.90 94.88% 94.49% 94.14% 93.40% 93.17% 91.73%

AVG 2291.35 2330.62 2396.14 2492.32 2468.53 2492.20 2525.20 2180.38 2219.75 2271.71 2356.76 2321.80 2330.31 2390.61 95.12% 95.17% 94.77% 94.54% 93.98% 93.47% 94.66%

Exhibit A



Center School District #58
Report of Personnel Changes
Board of Education Meeting on December 17, 2018

Appointments
Name Position Location Reason Effective Date

Robertson, Jason Math Teacher CHS Julie Kramschuster 8/2/2019

Extra Duty
Name Position Location Replacing Effective Date

Brave, Travis Head Golf Coach CHS Jason Steliga 12/18/2018

Ellis, Joshua Head Track Coach - MS CMS Kathleen Ramel 12/18/2018

Perry, Trenton Assistant Baseball Coach CHS Brain McNulty 12/18/2018

Resignations
Name Position Location Reason Effective Date

Fritz, Grace Special Education Teacher CHS Resignation 5/24/2018

Warren, Cheryl First Grade Teacher BO Retirement 5/24/2018

Classified Personnel

Appointments
Name Position Location Reason Effective Date

Peters, Emily Grade-Level Aide RBE Needed position based on student numbers 1/7/2018

Volunteer Coaches
Name Position Location Replacing Effective Date

Ostergard, Dalton Volunteer Wrestling Coach CHS Temporary Volunteer Position 12/18/2018

Page 1 of 2



Center School District #58
Report of Personnel Changes
Board of Education Meeting on December 17, 2018
Resignations
Name Position Location Reason Effective Date

Edwards, Earllonzo Custodian ICE Resignation 12/3/2018

Huntington, Shalana Level II Paraprofessional BO Resignation 12/21/2018

Rice, Helen Maintenance - Admin Assistant WARE Resignation 12/7/2018

Stamps, Oscar Custodian BO Resignation 12/7/2018

Stewart, Victoria Attendance Secretary CMS Resignation 12/7/2018

Taylor, India Custodian ECH Resignation 12/14/2018

Page 2 of 2



                
BOARD OF EDUCATION 

CENTER SCHOOL DISTRICT No. 58 
WORK SESSION 

8701 Holmes Road 
     Kansas City, Missouri 64131              

 
 Boone Elementary   Monday, November 19, 2018   6:00pm 

Board Members Present   Administration Present 
Beverly Cunningham, President  Dr. Sharon Nibbelink, Superintendent 
Joe Nastasi, Vice President   Dr. Michael Weishaar, Asst. Superintendent 
Cecelia Ball     Dr. Kyle Palmer, Executive Director, HR 
Marcie Calvin     Dr. Elizabeth Arbisi, Executive Director, Academic Srvs  

Rebecca Lahann    Christina Medina, Director, PR 
Paul Kramschuster 
Steve Stricklin 
 
Stephanie Archie, Secretary 
 

President Beverly Cunningham called the Work Session of the Center School District Board of Education to 
order at 6:00pm   
 
MOTION TO APPROVE THE AGENDA 
Motion to approve the Agenda made by Nastasi second by Stricklin.  By show of hands, Motion carried 
unanimously.  
 
WORK SESSION TOPICS – Patron Insight Survey Results  
Mr. Rick Nobles with Patron Insight reviewed the results of the Bond Community survey with the Board.  
He explained there was a 5% margin of error with 400 residents within the district boundaries participating. 
Mr. Nobles answered questions from the Board.  
 
The Board asked about next steps going forward.  Dr. Nibbelink shared the district would like to have Patron 
Insight conduct 2 online surveys; one for parents and one for staff.  Mr. Nobles stated the questions would 
be the same as the phone survey performed.  
 
The Board thanked Mr. Nobles.   
 
MOTION TO ADJOURN   
Motion to adjourn the meeting made by Ball second by Nastasi.  By show of hands, Motion carried 
unanimously.  Work Session adjourned at 6:35pm    
 
       
         __________________________ 
         Stephanie Archie, Secretary  
         BOARD OF EDUCATION 
 
___________________________________    __________________ 
Beverly Cunningham, President      DATE 
BOARD OF EDUCATION 
  

 
   

.  



 

 

Center School District No. 58 

BOARD OF EDUCATION 

Regular Session Meeting 

8701 Holmes Road 

Kansas City, MO  64131 

 

 Boone Elementary   Monday, November 19, 2018    7:00pm 

Board Members Present    Administration Present 

Beverly Cunningham, President   Dr. Sharon Nibbelink, Superintendent 

Joe Nastasi, Vice President   Dr. Michael Weishaar, Asst. Superintendent 

Cecelia Ball     Dr. Kyle Palmer, Executive Director, HR 

Marcie Calvin     Dr. Elizabeth Arbisi, Executive Director, Academic Svcs. 

Rebecca Lahann     Christina Medina, Director, PR 

Paul Kramschuster 

Steve Stricklin 

 

Stephanie Archie, Secretary 

  

CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL   

President Cunningham called the Regular Session of the Center School District No. 58 Board of Education 

meeting to order at 7:02pm, noting all members present, followed by the Pledge of Allegiance.    

 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA  

Motion to approve the Agenda made by Nastasi, second by Stricklin.  By show of hands, Motion carried 

unanimously.   

 

ANNOUNCEMENTS  

Announcements were read by President Cunningham as printed adding the Debate Tournament 

November 29, 2018 at CHS.    

A. 11/21-23 Thanksgiving Break 

B. 11/28 – CMS Choir Concert, 6:30pm 

C. 12/1 – CMS Wrestling Tournament, 8:00am 

D. 12/1 – All District Skating Party, 4-6pm Skate City, OP, KS  

E. 12/3 – 5th Grade Parent Meeting, 6:00pm @ CMS 

F. 12/4 – All District Holiday Reception, 3-5pm @ CHS  

G. 12/10-14 CMS Food Drive 

H. 12/17 – CHS Winter Choir Concert, 6:00pm @CHS 

I. 12/17 – Regular School Board Meeting, 7:00pm 

For additional announcements, please check your student’s school website and the Center School 

District calendar 

 

RECOGNITIONS  

Although there were no scheduled recognitions, the Board recognized Vincent Immanuel, 2nd grade 

student at Indian Creek Elementary for his art work displayed in the Board room.    

 



 

 

Regular Session Board Meeting 

Monday, November 19, 2018 

Page 2 

 

CONSENT ITEMS 

There were 3 items pulled from the Consent agenda for a separate vote and discussion.  The Instructional 

Personnel report, Prep-KC and Patron Insight items were pulled.  Motion to accept the remaining Consent 

items made by Nastasi, second by Lahann.  By show of hands, Motion carried unanimously.  

A. Approval of Bills 

B. Attendance Report 

C. Permission to Bid - None 

D. Approval of Bids - None 

E. Federal Report - None 

F. State Report - None 

G. Personnel 

a. Instructional Personnel* 

b. Classified Personnel 

I.   Approval of Minutes 

A. 9/25/18 Regular Session Minutes 

B. 10/8/18 Work Session Minutes 

C. 10/22/18 Regular Session Minutes 

  

VIII. Contracts 

A. Church of the Resurrection – Renewal 

B. Sumner One – New 

C. Research College of Nursing – New 

D. Prep-KC – Renewal* 

E. Patron Insight – Revised* 
*Pulled items 

Personnel Instructional Report– Vote on after Closed Session 

 

Prep-KC Contract – After further clarification from Administration, a Motion was made by Nastasi, second 

by Lahann to approve the Prep-KC contract.  By show of hands, Motion passed unanimously.   

 

Patron Insight – After further clarification from Administration, a Motion was made by Stricklin second by 

Nastasi to approve the Patron Insight contract for 2 online surveys.  Motion carried by show of hands with 4 

in favor, 3 opposed.       
 

Report from Superintendent 

BOND Discussion – Dr. Sharon Nibbelink  

Dr. Nibbelink stated that the BOND conversation will be a major part of the December 17th meeting.  She 

asked the Board to consider an advisory group stating this group can also be the leadership or campaign 

team if the decision is made go forward in placing a Bond on the April, 2019 ballot. There was much 

discussion and many questions from the Board.   

 

 



 

 

Regular Session Board Meeting 

Monday, November 19, 2018 

Page 3 

 

Dr. Nibbelink stated that she will create a Google document in a list fashion of the priorities and amounts 

of the projects for the Board as well as the public and create a folder for the Board of past Bond 

information.  She stated having this information will allow the Board to prioritize the projects and choose 

the number of projects along with the community forums also choosing what they’d like to see.  Dr. 

Nibbelink asked the Board to let her know if there are additional questions and she’ll get the answers to 

them before the December 17th Board meeting.  

Community member Terrence Nash asked to address the Board.  Mr. Nash addressed the Board, giving 

his support for a Bond.  Mr. Nash stated that he has lived in the Center School District since 1991 and it’s 

been 10 years since the district has asked for a Bond. He added that the current superintendent has great 

respect throughout the community and will be supported.  The Board thanked Mr. Nash for his 

comments.  

 

Stifel – Bonding Capacity & Performance Contract Bonding – Dr. Michael Weishaar, Asst. Superintendent, 

Mr. Lorenzo Boyd and Rebecca Esrock with Stifel.   

Dr. Weishaar introduced Mr. Boyd and Ms. Esrock.  Mr. Boyd shared with the Board the 2 financing 

options available for immediate funding to Navitas for Performance Contracting.   

  

 

MOTION TO MOVE FORWARD WITH THE FINANCING RESOLUTION FROM CSD 58 OF JACKSON COUNTY 

MISSOURI TO NAVITAS, LLC FOR PROJECT COSTS    

Motion to approve a short-term loan of 6 to 12 months from UMB Bank, N.A., with a rate of 

approximately 2.78% made by Nastasi second by Ball.  By show of hands, Motion passed unanimously.   

  

Facilities Update – Rick Carpenter – Paul Harrell, Navitas 

Mr. Carpenter and Mr. Harrell updated the Board on the progress of the roof repairs at CHS and CMS.  

 

BOARD OF EDUCATION  

          

POLICIES/REGULATIONS/ADMINSTRATIVE PROCEDURES   

Policies EHB and IL were pulled for later consideration 

 

EHB – Technology Usage – Per the Board, EHB policy will be considered in the Spring with the other 

Technology policies to be considered adoption 

IL – Assessment Program – Concern from the Board regarding mandatory testing.  Policy will be 

considered at a later time.    

 

The following policies will require 3 readings.  November 19, 2018 is the Second Consideration 

                      C. GBA – Exempt and Nonexempt Employees 

         D. GCBDA – Professional Staff Short Term Leaves 

        E. GDBDA - Support Staff Short Term Leaves 

 

 



 

 

 

 
Regular Session Board Meeting 

Monday, November 19, 2018 

Page 4 

 

MOTION TO GO INTO CLOSED SESSION 

 Motion to go into Closed Session per Revised Statutes of Missouri Section 610.021 (1) Legal, (3) Personnel, (9) 

Negotiations and (13) individually identifiable personnel records, performance ratings or records pertaining to 

employees or applications for employment.   

 

Motion by Nastasi second by Lahann to go into Closed Session.  By roll call vote, Motion carried.   

Yes – Ball, Calvin, Stricklin, Kramschuster, Lahann, Nastasi, Cunningham 

No – None   

  

ADJOURNMENT  

Motion to adjourn the Open Session made by Ball second by Nastasi. By show of hands Motion carried 

unanimously.   

Open Session adjourned at 7:48pm. 

 

       

 

       ____________________________________ 

       Stephanie Archie, Secretary 

       BOARD OF EDUCATION 

 

 

_________________________________  _________________ 

Beverly Cunningham, President    DATE 

BOARD OF EDUCATION 

      



Contract(s) 
 

New/Renewal Vendor Description Budgeted Cost 

Renewal ACT Provide a spring in district testing opportunity for ACT for a 
targeted group of students in grades 11 and 12 to increase 
their scores and potentially improve APR data. 

Yes $4,250 at most 
(will only be 
charged for the 
actual number of 
students who 
test) 

Renewal Cornerstones 
of Care 

Cornerstones of Care (Gillis School) provides specialized 
educational, behavioral, therapeutic and related services.   

Yes $132.00 daily  

     

Revised 5Essentials Educational Organization wishes to administer UChicago 

Impact’s research-validated school climate survey to inform 

citizens about the quality of individual schools and their 

progress over time  

 

No $12,600 annually 
(3-year contract) 

New OverDrive 
Sora for 
Education 

We would like to enter an agreement with OverDrive Sora for 
Education.  This is an app for kids for downloading electronic 
books.  With it comes a teacher dashboard for viewing student 
activity.  Teachers will be able to track minutes of reading, list 
of books read, and interact with students through sending 
notes.  We have the opportunity to use this service for free 
through June 30, 2020. 

       No N/A 

New University of 
Arkansas-
Pine Bluff 
(UAPB) 

This contract is for a new partnership with the University of 
Arkansas-Pine Bluff to support students on the journey 
towards graduating with certification in teaching, including 
classroom observations, practicums, student teaching. 

Yes N/A 

Renewal MSBA  Full Policy Maintenance $3665. Annually 

Extension JCCCSF This is the contract extension for our elementary social 
worker grant 

No Grant 



OocuSign Envelope !0: 1 OFBOB6B~CF82~4236~A30D-C890CE9C6C04 

ACT College and Career Readiness 
Master Services Agreement 

This Master Services Agreement, including all incorporated Schedules and Exhibits ("Agreement"), is made as of ""'""":-,--,--=:--:-:
("Effective Date") by and between ACT, Inc. a non-profit corporation having a principal place of business at 500 ACT Drive, Iowa City, lA 
52242 ("ACT') and CENTER HIGH SCHOOL, having an address of 8715 HOLMES RD, KANSAS CITY, MO 64131-2802 "Customer"). 

1. Purpose: ACT provides a variety of products and services to 
help individuals achieve education and career success 
("Assessments and Services"). This Agreement provides the terms 
and conditions by which the Assessments and Services are offered 
to Customer by ACT. 

2. Term: This Agreement shall commence on the Effective Date 
indicated above, and shall remain in effect through the term of all 
incorporated Description of Services. Each Description of Services 
document will have a unique Term applicable to the Assessments 
and Services provided under such Description of Services. 

3. Description of Services (DOS): ACT agrees to provide 
Customer with the Assessments and Services memorialized in the 
incorporated Description of Services. Each specific Assessment or 
Service ordered by Customer shall be memorialized in a separate 
DOS, to be mutually agreed upon and executed by both parties. In 
the event of a conflict between the terms and conditions of a DOS 
and the terms of the Agreement, the terms of the DOS shall prevail. 

4. Payment Terms: Customer agrees to pay ACT the amounts 
set forth in the DOS for the delivery of the Assessments and 
Services, pursuant to the terms in the DOS. Customer shall make 
all payments within thirty (30) days of receipt of an invoice from 
ACT. Customer will pay a service fee of one percent (1%) per 
month or the maximum rate allowed by law, whichever is less, on 
any fees not paid when due under this Agreement. All invoices 
shall be sent to the address and contact person identified in the 
applicable DOS. Customer shall be responsible for any sales, use, 
or other taxes due as a result of any fees paid to ACT under this 
Agreement, unless Customer is exempt from tax as evidenced by a 
valid tax exemption certificate provided to ACT. Customer shall 
promptly provide ACT with Customer required purchase order, as 
applicable, prior to the scheduled delivery of Assessments and 
Services. 

5. Ownership of Materials: ACT owns the Assessments, 
including but not limited to, paper based or online assessment 
documents, testing materials, administration and registration 
materials, publications, data, reports, documentation, related 
materials, trademarks and all associated intellectual property rights, 
including any and all derivatives or modifications created during the 
term of this Agreement (collectively, the "ACT Materials"). Except 
as expressly granted in a DOS, Customer does not acquire any 
right, title, or interest in or to the ACT Materials. Customer shall not 
copy, modify, enhance, reverse engineer, or make any addition to 
the ACT Materials. Customer may not sell or otherwise transfer the 
ACT Materials to any other person, provided however that 
Customer may provide the Assessments to authorized, registered 
examinees and its personnel solely for testing and interpretation 
purposes. Customer may not (a) use the ACT Materials for any 
other purpose, (b) assign, license, sell, loan, lease, or otherwise 
transfer the ACT Materials in whole or in part, (c) authorize or allow 
a third party to use the ACT online test and Services or ACT 
Materials, (d) copy, or allow anyone else to copy, in whole or in 
part, the ACT Materials, or (e) modify, reverse engineer, 
decompile, or disassemble the ACT online system or Materials. 

6. Confidentiality: Customer agrees that neither it nor its 
employees shall at any time during or following the Term, either 
directly or indirectly, publish, display or otherwise disclose to any 
person, organization, or entity in any manner whatsoever any ACT 
Materials, except as strictly necessary for Customer to use the ACT 

Materials for their intended purpose under this Agreement. 
Customer shall protect the ACT Materials in accordance with ACT's 
procedures and using a standard of care appropriate for secure 
test materials. To the extent Customer believes a statutory 
'Freedom of Information Act' provision requires the public release 
of ACT Materials, Customer will provide ACT with notice of such 
request and allow ACT a reasonable time to petition for an 
exemption to the public release. All ACT Materials shall be and 
remain the property of ACT notwithstanding the subsequent 
termination of this Agreement. The ACT Materials shall, within ten 
(10) days of ACT's written request, be returned to ACT (including 
all copies). 

7. Testing Procedures: Customer agrees to administer the 
Assessments in accordance with all policies and procedures 
provided by ACT. Customer shall store the ACT Materials at secure 
location(s) approved by ACT. Customer agrees that all used and 
unused ACT Materials will be returned to ACT, in accordance with 
the policies and procedures provided by ACT, for scoring and/or 
processing. Customer agrees to fully cooperate with ACT, and 
cause those individuals involved in the administration of or 
preparation for the Assessments ("Administration Staff') to fully 
cooperate with ACT in the event of a test security incident. 
Customer acknowledges that failure to maintain the confidentiality 
of the Assessments will result in damages to ACT and may require 
ACT to develop a replacement form. Accordingly if through the 
fault of Customer or Administration Staff, the security of an 
Assessment is compromised, Customer agrees to pay ACT the 
costs of developing a new form in addition to any other remedies 
under the law. ACT may, in its sole and absolute discretion. cancel 
scores in cases of testing irregularities, which may include without 
limitation, use of a compromised test form, falsification by an 
examinee of his/her identity, impersonation of another examinee 
(surrogate testing), unusual similarities in the answers of 
examinees at the same test center, or other indicators that the test 
scores may not accurately reflect the examinee's level of 
educational development. 

8. Online Assessment System: Some Assessments and Serv'1ces 
are provided through an Online Assessment System. ACT will 
provide Customer with access to the Online Assessment System 
solely for the purpose of assessing Examinees at authorized test 
centers, and using the ACT Materials solely in connection with the 
authorized administration of the Assessments. ACT has scheduled 
maintenance windows during which the Online Assessment 
System may be unavailable to Customer to allow for routine 
updates and maintenance. ACT publishes the times of the 
maintenance windows periodically on its website. ACT also 
reserves the right to make the Online Assessment System 
unavailable for unscheduled maintenance. ACT shall not be 
responsible for any damages or costs incurred by Customer, if any, 
for such downtime. The Online Assessment System may be 
modified or updated from time to time at ACT's sole discretion. 
ACT may charge a fee for new or optional services made available 
through the Online Assessment System, subject to written 
agreement of the Customer. Additional requirements regarding the 
Online Assessment System applicable to specific Assessments 
and Services may be included in each app!'icable DOS. 

9. Data: The parties acknowledge and agree that ACT may use 
and disclose the data collected from the administration of the 
Assessments, as set forth in ACT's Privacy Policy available at 
www.act.org, as amended from time to time. 



DocuSign Envelope ID: 10FBOB6B-CF82-4236-A3DD-C890CE9C6CD4 

10. Limitation on Damages: ACT's liability for damages arising out 
of or in connection with this Agreement shall not exceed the 
amount Customer has paid ACT during the Term of the applicable 
DOS. In no event shall ACT be liable to Customer for special, 
indirect, incidental, punitive, exemplary, or consequential damages. 

11. Warranty and Limitations: ACT WARRANTS THAT THE 
ASSESSMENTS HAVE BEEN DEVELOPED IN ACCORDANCE 
WITH AND THE SERVICES WILL BE PERFORMED IN A 
MANNER CONSISTENT WITH INDUSTRY STANDARDS. 
EXCEPT AS SET FORTH IN THIS SECTION, ACT EXPRESSLY 
DISCLAIMS ANY AND ALL REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES 
AND CONDITIONS OF ANY KIND OR NATURE, EXPRESS OR 
IMPLIED AND THOSE ARISING BY STATUTE OR OTHERWISE 
IN LAW OR FROM A COURSE OF DEALING OR USE OF 
TRADE. 

12. Termination and Cancellation: Either party may terminate this 
Agreement upon written notice to the other party in the event that 
other party breaches its obligations under this Agreement and fails 
to cure such breach within thirty (30} days after receiving written 
notice of such breach. This Agreement may also be terminated 
without cause at any time by either party giving thirty (30) days 
written notice to the other. Customer's participation in the 
Assessments and Services designated in a DOS will be 
automatically cancelled, and such DOS will be deemed terminated 
without further notice if Customer fails to provide student 
registration information and organizational files to ACT by the 
deadline required by ACT and indicated in the DOS. Customer 
shaH pay ACT for all Assessments and Services delivered through 
the date of termination. Upon termination of this Agreement for any 
reason, Customer shall immediately discontinue use of the ACT 
Materials and shall immediately return all copies of the ACT 
Materials in its possession. Upon the expiration or termination of 
this Agreement, the obligations set forth in the following provisions 
of the Agreement shall survive: Payment, Ownership of Materials, 
Confidentiality, Testing Procedures, Data, Limitation on Damages 
and Warranty and Limitations. 

13. Force Majeure: ACT shall not be liable to Customer for any 
delay or failure to perform, which delay or failure is due to causes 
or circumstances beyond its control, including, without limitation, 
the actions of Customer, national emergencies, fire, flood, 
inclement weather, epidemics, or catastrophe, acts of God, 
governmental authorities, or parties not under the control of ACT, 
insurrection, war, riots, or failure of transportation, communication, 
or power supply. ACT shall exercise commercially reasonable 
efforts to mitigate the extent of the excusable delay or failure and 
its adverse consequences: provided, however, that should any 
such delay or failure continue for more than sixty (60) days, the 
Agreement may be terminated by either the party upon notice to 
the other. 

14. Assignment: This Agreement may not be assigned by 
Customer without the express prior written consent of ACT. No 
permitted assignment shall relieve Customer of its obligations 
under the Agreement. 

ACT, Inc. 

cu u.,f:;, ' 
Signature: ____ __::_.::~=='~="---
Name: Charlie Astorino 
Title: Vice President, Sales 
Date: 11/19/2018 

15. Relationship of the Parf1es: The parties to this Agreement are 
independent contractors. Neither party shall have the right or 
authority or shall hold itself out to have the right or authority to bind 
the other party, nor shall either party be responsible for the acts or 
omissions of the other. 

16. No Third Party Beneficiaries: The parties agree that there are 
no third party beneficiaries to this Agreement and that no third party 
shall be entitled to assert a claim against either of the Parties 
based upon this Agreement. 

17. Severability· Headings· Governing Law: Should any provision 
of this agreement be held by a court to be unenforceable, such 
provision shall be modified by the court and interpreted so as to 
best accomplish the objectives of the original provision to the fullest 
extent permitted by law, and the remaining provisions of the 
Agreement shall remain in full force and effect. Headings used in 
the Agreement are for reference purposes only and shall not affect 
the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement. This Agreement 
shall be governed by the laws of the State of Iowa. 

18. Entire Agreement: This Agreement, including all incorporated 
or referenced DOS, constitutes the entire agreement between the 
parties with respect to the Assessments and Services and 
supersedes all other prior agreements and understandings, both 
written and oral. The terms and conditions conta·lned in th.ls 
Agreement are the only conditions applying to the delivery of the 
Assessments and Services. Except as may be incorporated in a 
DOS, ACT expressly objects to and rejects any different or 
additional terms included in Customer's request for proposal, 
quotation, purchase order, acknowledgment form, or other 
documents that purport to bind the parties. Certa·m Assessments 
and Services may be subject to additional or different terms and 
conditions, which are set forth in the DOS. No waiver, consent, 
modification, or amendment to this Agreement shall be binding 
unless in writing and signed by both parties. 

19. Notices: Notices under this Agreement shall be deemed to be 
adequate and sufficient notice if given in writing and delivered via 
(a) registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, in which case 
notice shall be deemed to have been received three business days 
following deposit to U.S. mail; or (b) a nationally recognized 
overnight air courier, next day delivery, prepaid, in which case such 
notice shall be deemed to have been received one business day 
following delivery to such nationally recognized overnight air 
courier. All notices shall be sent to ACT at the following address: 
ACT, Inc. 500 ACT Drive, P.O. Box 168, Iowa City, Iowa 52243-
0168, Attention: CFO, Fax: 319-341-2760. All notices to 
Customer shall be sent to the address provided in the first 
paragraph of the Agreement. 

20. Authorization: Each party represents and warrants (a) that it 
has the requisite authority to enter into this Agreement; and {b) that 
the individual(s} signing this Agreement on behalf of such party is 
(are) authorized to do so. 

CENTER HIGH SCHOOL 

Signature:-----------
Name: Sally Newell 
Title: 
Date: 



DocuSi'gn Envelope 10: 10FB086B-CF82A236-A3DD-C890CE9C6CD4 

AC~ District Testing Program 
Description of Services 

Late Spring 2019 

This Description of Services (DOS) is incorporated into the Master Services Agreement ("Agreement") having an Effective Date of -:-:--:-:c--' 
by and between ACT, Inc. ("ACT') and CENTER HIGH SCHOOL ("Customer"). This Assessments and Services provided pursuant to this 
DOS shall be incorporated into and governed by the terms of the Agreement. 

I. Background: ACT, Inc. will support the Customer's administration of the ACT assessments to its eligible 1Oth, 11th, and/or 12th 
students. Under this Description of Services, "the ACT' is used to refer to paper-based and/or online assessments that include English, 
Mathematics, Reading and Science assessments, as well as an Interest Inventory. The ACT taken with the writing assessment is 
included, if selected by Customer, for an additional fee. Customer has elected to receive the ACT (without writing) Assessment. This 
DOS memorializes the services and deliverables provided as part of the Assessment program (the "Program"). 

II. Services Term. This Description of Services shall be effective on ______ and shall remain in effect through the f1nal delivery of 
Score Reports. 

Ill. Oeliverables. The following Assessments and Services will be provided by ACT to Customer: 

1. Program Planning Documentation. ACT will provide Customer with a Schedule of Events and other program documentation 
available on the ACT District Testing website. 

2. Organization File Layout. ACT will provide Customer with an Organization File layout template and instructions for use. 

3. Student Data Upload !SDU) File Layout. ACT will provide Customer with a SDU file layout template and instructions for use. 

4. Online Platform. ACT will provide an online platform which Customer shall use to indicate appropriate Designated Personnel 
information. complete Manage Participation, upload SOU File, and order Test Materials. 

5. Test Administration Available Oates. The Assessments will be available on the following Test Dates 
• ln1tial Standard Administration Test Date (Paper): April2, 2019 
• Initial Accommodation Administration Test W1ndow (Paper): April2 -16,2019 (weekdays only) 
• Initial Standard & Accommodation Administration Test Window (Online): April2. 3, 4 & 9. 10. 11, 2019 
• Makeup Standard Administration Test Date (Paper): April24, 2019 
• Makeup Accommodation Administration Test Window (Paper): April24. 25, 26,29 & 30.2019 

6. Test Matenals. ACT will prov1de paper test materials to each Designated Test Site. For online testing, as applicable. ACT will 
prov1de Customer with access to the Assessments through the ACT Online Assessment System. 

7. Pre-paid Shipping Labels. ACT will provide each Designated Test Site with pre-paid return shipping labels far the return of test 
matenals to ACT. 

B. Accommodations. ACT will provide available and ACT approved accessibility supports and accommodations, based on 
decisions made by ACT accommodation specialists and in same cases by the local educational authorities. as detailed in ACT 
policies. 

9. Train~IJ.Q: ACT will provide standard online training and/or instructional materials to Designated Personnel. 

10. Communications. ACT will communicate upcoming activities and deadlines related to the assessments directly to Oes1gnatecl 
Personnel through email and/or on the District Testing website. 

11. Customer Service. ACT will provide a toll-free number and email contact information for use in preparation and administration of 
the ACT, Monday through Friday, from 7:00a.m. to 5 00 p.m. CST (except ACT holidays). 

12. Score Reports. ACT will ship a paper copy of the Student Scare Report to the student's home address. if such address is 
provided to ACT. In addition. ACT will provide the fallowing score reports as part of the Services 

a. School Oeliverables. The fo!low1ng reports are shipped to the Director of Counseling within 3-8 weeks after ACT rece1ves 
answer folders that do not requ1re additional investigation: 

ACT High School Check List Report 
• ACT H1gh School Report (student level score data) 
• ACT Student Score Labels 

b. School Deliverables. The following are posted to the online reports portal, and shipped to the School Test Coordinator. The 
estimated report delivery date will be available in the Schedule of Events found an the ACT District Testing website Delivery 
may take longer if ACT receives answer folders that require additional investigation. 

• ACT Non-College Reportable Score Notification Letter (if applicable) 

c. District Deliverables. The following reports are posted to the online reports portal far access by the District Test Coordinator. 
The estimated report delivery date will be available in the Schedule of Events found on the ACT District Testing website 



DocuS1gn Envelope 10: 10FBOB6B~CF82-4236~A3DO-C890CE9C6CD4 . . . . . 
...... c .. ~c• y , ••ay w<>c •v• ·~c· " 1""\V, lcvc•vc,:, cu •.:.vvc• folders that requ1re add1t1onal mvest1gat1on. 

• ACT Profile Report- High School 
• ACT Profile Report - District 
• ACT Student Level Data File- District 

IV. Customer Actions and Required Information. Customer shall provide the following information, data or deliverables ("Customer 
Required Information") to ACT by the indicated due date. ACT's ability to provide the Assessments and Services is dependent upon 
timely receipt of the Customer Required Information, data, or deliverables. Customer's failure to meet the due date may result in 
ACT's inability to provide the Assessments and Services, and consequently the cancellation of this Description of Services. 

1. Customer Designated Personnel. Customer will designate Testing Coord"1nators that wHI be respons.lble for commun·lcating with ACT 
regarding this Program ("Designated Personnel"), and will provide ACT with contact information for this individual. In the event 
Customer changes the Designated Personnel, Customer will provide ACT with ema1l notification of the change. 

2. Organization File. Customer will provide a file to ACT, in the ACT-designated file format, containing eligible participating sites and 
Designated Personnel. Customer shall prov·lde the Organizational File to ACT by January 18. 2019. 

3. Manage Participation Deadline. Customer Designated Personnel will confirm participation, select material delivery date. select 1nit1al 
test date and the accommodations testing window in the ACT Online Platform. The deadline to complete the management of 
participation details is February 15, 2019. 

4. Student Data Upload (SOU}. Customer shall upload a file, in the ACT designated format, to the Online Platform containing the 
required student data for all students Customer anticipates testing. Customer shall upload the SOU file to the ACT Online Platform no 
later than February 15.2019. 

5. Late SOU Upload. In the event the Customer uploads the SOU file after February 15. 2019 but before March 20. 2019 Customer 
shall pay a five hundred dollar (SSOO) !ate SOU processing fee. ACT will be unable to provide barcode labels for paper testing for 
students uploaded after February 15. 2019. Customer will be unable to test if Customer fails to complete the SOU before March 20, 
2019. 

6. Accommodations Requests. If applicable, Customer Designated Personnel shall submit requests for ACT -approved accommodations 
through the ACT accommodations process by February 15. 2019. 

7. Change Participation Requests. If Customer wishes to cancel participation, Customer shall complete the Distr"1CI Testing Change m 
Participation Form on the District Testing Web page no later than February 15, 2019. If Customer wishes to move to Early Spring 
2019 District Testing, Customer shall complete the Change in Participation Form on the D1stnct Testmg Web page no later than 
November 30. 2018. A new DOS will be required if Customer wishes to change the test date. If Customer wishes to change from 
the ACT without Writing to ACT with Writing, or vice versa, Customer must notify ACT by Februarv 15. 2019. 

V. Fees and Invoicing. 

1. Cust9mer Enrollment PeterminatJOQ. The fees owed by Customer for the Assessments and Serv1ces provided pursuant to ltlJS 

Description of Services will be based on the total number of students included 1n the Customer's SOU file(s) 1n the ACT Onl1ne 
Platform as of tt1e first day of the Makeup Testing Window, April24, 2019. as applicable (total "Enrollment'} The Enrollment JS not 
based on the number of assessments eligible to be scored. 

2. Fee Calculation. ACT will charge Customer the Unit Price per Student indicated on the Table below for the total Enrollment for the 
applicable Assessment Option at the applicable Program Price Tier. The applicable Program Price Tier is based on the Customer's 
percentage of students eligible for the Free and Reduced Price Lunch (FRPL}, across all Schools in the Customer's territory or 
jurisdiction. Customer shall identify its applicable FRPL percentage on its District Testing order form, and ACT may verify the 
accuracy of the applicable percentage based on federally reported data. 

Assessment Program Price Tier 
Unit Price Per 

Student 

The ACT (without 
writing) Tier 2 

$42.50 
(50%- 74.99% FRPL) 

3. Invoicing and Payment. ACT will submit an invoice after the final Test Administration Date, or the day of the Makeup Test, as 
applicable. The invoice will reflect the total Enrollment and the applicable Fee owed, based on the Program Price Tier for the 
applicable Assessment Options, in addition to any applicable Late SDU Upload Fees. ACT will not provide any credits or refunds, 
including but not limited to refunds or credits for the difference between the Enrollment and the number of scores provided. 

4. Fee Waivers. Student fee waivers and vouchers are not accepted as a form of payment for the ACT District Testing program. 



DocJSTgn Envelope JD: 10FB086B-CF82-4236-A3DD-C890CE9C6CD4 

VI. Additional Terms and Conditions. The following terms and conditions, in addition to the terms of the Agreement, shall govern the ACT 
Assessment and Services: 

1. Cancellation. This Description of Services will be automatically cancelled without further notice if Customer fails to provide the 
Organization File by January 18, 2019 or Manage Participation and SDU to ACT by March 20, 2019. 

2. Computer Requirements. In the event Customer administers the online assessment, Customer will comply with the computer 
configuration requirements located at tillQ ·I lwww. a ct. or g/ con ten tl act/en/products-and-services/state-a QQ:_d 1st nc t-s q llJJLQ!J3iJ_Q_G..l.:Q ll!J!J o;::_

H~§JJng.htnJ.!. Compliant computer configuration is required to properly access and use the ACT Online Assessment System. ACT 
shall have no liability relating to Customer's failure to comply with ACT's computer requirements. ACT may revise these configuration 
requirements from time to time in its sole discretion. Customer shall be responsible for implementing any hardware or software 
updates or changes necessary to meet the revised computer configuration requirements for the Online Assessment System within the 
time frame set forth in the written or electronic notice from ACT. If Customer cannot implement the required configuration updates, 
Customer may (a) request paper based testing in the Online Platform, if timely (b) provide ACT with notice of cancellation of this DOS. 

3. U.S. Government End Users. The ACT taken online is a "commercial item," as that term is defined in 48 C.F.R. 2.101 (Oct. 1995), 
consisting of "commercial computer software" and "commercial computer software documentation," as such terms are used in 48 
C.F.R. 12.212 (Sept. 1995). Consistent with 48 C.F.R. 12.212 and 48 C.F.R. 227.7202-1 through 227.7202-4 (June 1995), all U.S. 
Government End Users acquire The ACT online system with only those rights set forth herein. 

4. Limited Use of Assessments and Services. Subject to this Agreement, ACT hereby grants to the Customer a limited, revocable, non
exclusive, non-transferable, and non-subllcenseable right during the term of this Agreement to use the Assessments and Services. 
All Assessments and Services made available under this Agreement are licensed, not sold, by ACT to the Customer. Except to the 
extent expressly granted in this Agreement, no rights are granted by ACT under this Agreement. 

By signing below or by the use of electronic signature(s), the parties' authorized representatives hereby indicate their authority to execute, and 
acceptance of the terms and conditions of this Description of Services, incorporated into the Agreement 

ACT. Inc. 

CL£ c;G,t::2., , Signature: _____ ,_--=.-.-«'-C_ '~'-'-"'---
Name: Charlie Astorino 
Title: Vice President, Sales 
Date: 1111912018 

CENTER HIGH SCHOOL 

Signature:--,-:--,--------
Name: Sally Newell 
Title: 
Date: 



CONTRACT APPROVAL REQUEST 

DATE: J11/29/2018 

DEPT I PERSON SUBMITIING: Lis..:.p_ec_i_ai_E_d_u_ca_t_io_n ______ ....J 

VENDOR: Cornerstones of Care 

NEW 0 RENEWAL IZJ 

PURPOSE OF AGREEMENT: 

Cornerstones of Care (Gillis School) provides specialized educational, 
behavioral, therapeutic, and related services. 1 new student attending 
Gillis Campus added; daily tuition rate is $132.00 

BUDGETED: YES IZJ NO 0 

COST: $as above 



CORNERSTONES OF CARE 
AGREEMENT FOR SPECIAL EDUCATIONAl SERVICES 

This agreement is entered Into on November 19, 2018, by and between Center School Dlsb1ct herein rererred to as 
"Contracting School", and Cornerstones d Olre located at 300 E. 36"' Street, Kansas aty, MO 64111 for the child listed below. 

Child's Name O!ild's Date Dally Ram Per 1" 
Data of SarviCles and 2"" Semester 

-~11tl Bellin Enrollment 
11/19/2018 $132.00 - -

Tile Child Will attend 1he following Cornerstones of Care School: 

Cornerstones of Care - Gillis School 
8150 Wornall Road 
Kansas City, Missouri 64114 

Daily Rate Per 
Summer Session 
Enrollment 

'$132.00 

Botti the Contracting School and the Service Provider agree to the following terms. 

Rate for Ram for 
Speech OTTherapy 
Theraov 
_$1.30/minute ' $1.30/mln!M 

1. Setylg:$ - The Cornerstones of Care will proVide special educational services to the child listed above based on his/her 
Individualized EducatiOn Plan {IEP). Spedal Education Services indude classroom Instruction, psychiatric consultation, 
the~utic counseling, art therapy and recreational therapy. If a child's IEP lndudes speech and/or OllCupational 
therapy, the Conlractlng School Will be billed separately for those services {to Include individual/group therapy, 
evaluations and associated Interpretations, consultations, and related meetingsjstafflngs). Furthermore, If the child's IEP 
indudes summer session, he,lslle Will be enrolled for that session at the rate listed above. Children pieced In Resldenti~ 
at Cornerstones of Care will only receive classroom InstruCtion durtng the school day and Will have acoess to the other 
services such as therapeutic counseling and art therapy after school. The COrnerstones of Care shall not be responSible 
for providing any lransportation services to any child listed above, even If such services are lnduded as "reeated seMces" 
on such child's !EP. The Contracting School shall be solely nesponslble for providing and coordklatlng the tnmsportatlon 
of any such child to and from the Cornerstones of Care, Including, but not limited to. the loading, unloading and other 
special accommodations (such as the provision of an aide for the safety of such child or others) IISSDClated With 
lransporting any such child to and from the Comerstones of Care. 

2. Comoensatton - The COntracting School wiD pay Cornerstones of Care according to the folloWing rate strudure: 

The COnlracting School wiD pay Cornerstones of Care $132.00 per c:ontracted chfld liSted above per day of enroUment If 
the child's IEP includes speech and/or oa:upatlonal therapy, the COntracted School Will pay COrnerstones of Care $1.30 
per minute. If the child's IEP indudes summer session, the COnlracted School Will pay COrnerstones of Care $132.00 per 
day of enrollment durtng the summer. 

3. Pavment- The Contracting School shall pay Cornerstones of Olre upon rereipt of Invoice, 

4. QmsJilj; - Upon default of any payment under this Agreement the Contracting School shall be held in breach of this 
agreement. Cornerstones d Care reserves the right to discontinue service at any time, with notice, until payment shall 
be received under this agreement as agreed, or the breach otherwise cured. 

s. AQ"fflS to RemrQ~- Cornerstones of Care wUI provide access to all pertinent records on the children listed above to the 
COntracting School. The Agreement will be governed by appficable Federal and state law with regard to care, supervision 
and Inspection of all records pertaining to the provision d services under this conlract. 

6. 5tudent Information- Cornerstones of Care shall not diSdose to any third party, except where pennltted or required by 
law or where such disclosure Is expressly approved by the COntracting School In writing, any patient or medical record 
Information regarding students. Furthermore, COrnerstones of Care shall comply With all federal and state laws and 
regulations, and all rules, regulations, and poHdes of COrnerstones of care School, regarding the confidentiality of such 
information. 

7. Duration -this Agreement shall be In force per the date listed In the chart above and shall continue through July 3lg, 
2019. The agreement may be terminated at any time by either cornerstones of Care or the COntracting School With 30 
days written notice. · 

COntracted School Date 



5ESSENTIALS AGREEMENT  
BETWEEN  

CENTER SCHOOL DISTRICT AND UCHICAGO IMPACT 
 
 

This Agreement (“Agreement”), date Monday, November 14, 2018 (“Effective Date”) is between 
UChicago Impact LLC, an Illinois not-for-profit corporation (“UChicago Impact”), and Center School 
District, a school district serving thousands of students in pre-kindergarten through twelfth grade, having 
an address at 8701 Holmes Rd, Kansas City, MO 64131 (the “Educational Organization”). Each 
hereunder may be referred to separately as the (“Party”), or together as the (“Parties”). 
 
WHEREAS, UChicago Impact agrees to provide the Materials and Services, and 
 
WHEREAS, UChicago Impact has experience and expertise in the design, administration, and analysis 
of surveys to assess educational institutions, and  
 
WHEREAS, Educational Organization is committed to supporting and evaluating education in Kansas 
City, Missouri (the “Schools”), and 
 
WHEREAS, Educational Organization wishes to administer UChicago Impact’s research-validated 
school climate survey to inform citizens about the quality of individual schools and their progress over 
time, and  
 
WHEREAS, Educational Organization is prepared and intends to diligently implement the 5Essentials 
Organizing Schools for Improvement Survey for the benefit of students,  
 
NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is 
hereby acknowledged, the Parties agree as follows:  

Section 4. Definitions 

The capitalized terms listed below and used in this Agreement shall have the following meanings: 

A.  “Affiliate” means any corporation or other business, nonprofit or governmental entity that 
controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with a Party. A corporation or other 
entity shall be regarded as in control of another corporation or entity if it owns or directly or 
indirectly controls at least fifty percent (50%) of (i) economic interests of the other 
corporation or entity or (ii) voting rights of the other corporation or entity having the right to 
elect directors, or such lesser percentage that is the maximum permitted to be owned by a 
foreign entity in those jurisdictions where majority ownership by foreign entities is 
prohibited. 

B.  “Derivative Work” means a work that is based on one or more pre-existing works, such as a 
revision, enhancement, modification, translation, abridgement, condensation, expansion, or 
any other form in which such pre-existing work may be recast, transformed, or adapted, and, 
if prepared without authorization of the copyright owner of such pre-existing work, would 
constitute a copyright infringement. For purposes of this Agreement, a Derivative Work 



includes a compilation that incorporates such pre-existing work. 

C. “Material(s)” means (i) the hardcopy and physical items described in Exhibit A or containing 
reference to matters described in Exhibit A, (ii) the systems described in Exhibit A, and (iii) 
any changes that UChicago Impact elects to make in the Materials described in (i) or (ii) 
above that improves the manner in which the Materials described in (i) or (ii) above fulfills 
existing requirements or extends the ways to accomplish an existing function.  

D. “Reports and Data” means the 5E Reports and the 5E Data described in Exhibit A. 

E. “Services” means (i) the particular training events and/or support activities described in 
Exhibit A, (ii) the survey analysis services described in Exhibit A, and (iii) any changes that 
UChicago Impact elects to make that improves the manner in which (i) or (ii) fulfills existing 
requirements or extends the ways to accomplish an existing function.  

F. “Timeline” means the schedule described in Exhibit C. 

G. “Force Majeure” means any cause beyond a party’s control including, without limitation, acts 
of God; fire; explosions; storms; floods; acts of terrorism; destruction of facilities; riots or 
major civil or military disturbances; or acts of government or governmental agencies, 
including changes in law or regulations in each case that materially and adversely impact the 
party. 

Section 5. License, Materials and Services 

A. Grant of License. Upon payment of the fees and subject to and conditioned on  

(a) Educational Organization’s continuing compliance with the 5Essentials Terms of Use and 
Privacy Policy, which may, from time to time, be modified, altered, or updated by UChicago 
Impact in its sole discretion. 

(b) Educational Organization’s continuing compliance with the terms and conditions of this 
Agreement, and  

(c) timely responses from Educational Organization, to UChicago Impact's requests for 
information and assistance. 

UChicago Impact hereby agrees to provide to Educational Organization: 
(i) the Materials solely for its own use during the Term of the Agreement;  
(ii) the nonexclusive right to reproduce and distribute the Reports and Data.  

B. Services. Upon payment of the fees and provided timely responses from Educational 
Organization, UChicago Impact will use reasonable efforts to provide the Services to 
Educational Organization within the Timeline.  

C. Reservation of Rights. UChicago Impact reserves the worldwide right to use all aspects of 
the Materials for any purpose it may choose at its own discretion and without any payment 
therefore by UChicago Impact. UChicago Impact shall have the right to grant licenses to 



third parties to any aspect of the Materials. Further, UChicago Impact reserves the worldwide 
right to execute, reproduce and modify, create derivatives, to distribute, and to otherwise use 
the Materials and Services for any purpose it may choose at its own discretion and without 
any payment therefor.  

D. No Other Rights. No rights in and to the Materials, Services or any other intellectual property 
other than those provided in this Section 2, express or implied, are conveyed by UChicago 
Impact. Except as expressly permitted under this Agreement, Educational Organization is 
granted no rights to (i) reproduce any parts of the Materials, (ii) modify any parts of the 
Materials, (iii) provide access to or enable use of any user identification or password by any 
person(s), (iv) rent, lease, loan, or sell access to the Materials, (v) copy, archive, store, 
rearrange, modify, adapt, upload, create derivate works from, perform, publish, distribute, 
redistribute, or disseminate any Material(s), (vi) access the Materials to build a product using 
similar ideas, features, functions, interface, or graphics of the Materials, (vii) access (or 
attempt to access) any service within the Materials by any means other than as permitted in 
the Terms of Use, or (viii) delete any copyright or other proprietary rights notice in the 
Materials.  

E. Ownership. UChicago Impact is the sole owner of all intellectual property relating to the 
Materials and Services existing as of the Effective Date. UChicago Impact will also be the 
sole owner of all Derivative Works developed at any time during the course of this 
Agreement. Educational Organization agrees to cooperate with UChicago Impact and to 
execute any grants and assignments of all rights as UChicago Impact reasonably may request 
for the purpose of evidencing, enforcing, filing, registering or defending such ownership. 
Educational Organization shall comply with all copyright notices, information, and 
restrictions in the Materials and shall not alter, delete, or conceal any copyright, trademark, 
patent, or other notice on the Materials including notices on any part of any Material that is 
downloaded, displayed, printed, or reproduced. UChicago Impact may, at its sole discretion, 
use the Reports and Data created pursuant to this Agreement to inform and perform work that 
is outside the scope of this Agreement. At no time will UChicago Impact distribute Reports 
and Data created pursuant to this Agreement for an individual school in a manner that 
compromises the individual school’s or any individual student’s identity without the explicit 
written permission of Educational Organization, the individual school, a representative of the 
individual school, the individual student, or a parent or legal guardian of the individual 
student. Except as otherwise required by law, all Data created pursuant to this contract will 
be owned by UChicago Impact. 

Section 6. Payments 

A. Payments. Upon execution of this Agreement, Educational Organization shall be responsible 
for timely payment of all fees. Twenty-five percent (25%) of the total amount owed under 
this Agreement shall be due upon the Execution of the Contract. Twenty-five percent (25%) 
of the total amount owed under this Agreement shall be due at the close of the survey 
window and the final payment of fifty percent (50%) shall be due at the delivery of the 
Reports. 

B. Responsibility for Payments. Educational Organization shall be fully responsible for any 



payments due to UChicago Impact under this Agreement. Time is of the essence with respect 
to all payments made by Educational Organization to UChicago Impact.  

C. Overdue Payments. Payments due to UChicago Impact under this Agreement shall, if not 
paid when due under the terms of this Agreement, bear simple interest at the lower of the 
prime rate of interest (as published by Citibank, N.A. on the date such payment is due) 
calculated on the basis of a 360-day year for the number of days actually elapsed, beginning 
on the due date and ending on the day prior to the day on which payment is made in full. 
Interest accruing under this Section 3.C shall be due to UChicago Impact on demand or upon 
payment of past due amounts, whichever is sooner. The accrual or receipt by UChicago 
Impact of interest under this Section 3.C shall not constitute a waiver by UChicago Impact of 
any right it may otherwise have to any other remedies available to UChicago Impact 
including the right to declare a default under this Agreement or to terminate this Agreement. 
Educational Organization shall pay for all costs and fees (including reasonable attorney’s 
fees) that UChicago Impact expends in order to collect any amounts due and owing to 
UChicago Impact after reasonable attempts have been made to collect the amounts or, in 
UChicago Impact’s discretion, after the amounts remain outstanding for a period of ninety 
(90) days from the payment due date.  

Section 7. Diligence 

A. Efforts. Educational Organization shall use reasonable efforts to exploit the licenses granted 
herein by diligently utilizing the Materials and Services.  

Section 8. Term and Termination 

A. Term. The Term of this Agreement is from November 14, 2018 to June 30, 2021, and may be 
renewed upon mutual written agreement of the parties.  

B. UChicago Impact’s Right to Terminate. UChicago Impact shall have the right to terminate 
this Agreement as follows, in addition to all other available remedies:  

i. If Educational Organization fails to make any payment when due, then upon the election 
of UChicago Impact in writing, this Agreement shall, terminate effective ten (10) days 
after UChicago Impact’s written notice to Educational Organization describing such 
failure, unless Educational Organization makes such payment within such ten (10) days.  

ii. If Educational Organization breaches any obligation of this Agreement other than an 
obligation to make a payment when due, then upon the election of UChicago Impact in 
writing, this Agreement shall terminate effective thirty (30) days after UChicago Impact’s 
written notice to Educational Organization describing such failure, unless Educational 
Organization cures such failure to the satisfaction of UChicago Impact within such thirty 
(30) days. 

iii. If Educational Organization shall have filed by or against it a petition under any 
bankruptcy or insolvency law it shall immediately notify UChicago Impact, and such 
petition is not dismissed within sixty (60) days of its filing, or if Educational 
Organization makes an assignment of all or substantially all of its assets for the benefit of 



its creditors, then Educational Organization shall immediately notify UChicago Impact of 
such facts and UChicago Impact may in its sole discretion terminate this Agreement by 
written notice effective as of the (i) date of filing by Educational Organization of any 
such petition, (ii) date of any such assignment to creditors, or (iii) end of the sixty (60) 
days if a petition is filed against it and not dismissed by such time, whichever is 
applicable.  

iv. If Educational Organization shall be dissolved, liquidated or otherwise ceases to exist, 
other than for reasons specified in Section 5.B. (iii) above, this Agreement shall 
automatically terminate as of (i) the date articles of dissolution or a similar document is 
filed on behalf of Educational Organization with the appropriate government authority or 
(ii) the date of establishment of a liquidating trust or other arrangement for the winding 
up of the affairs of Educational Organization.  

C. Right to Terminate. Educational Organization may notify UChicago Impact of its desire to 
terminate this Agreement at any time by giving UChicago Impact thirty (30) days prior 
written notice. The termination shall take effect thirty (30) days from UChicago Impact’s 
receipt of written notice.  

D. Survival. The following shall survive any termination of this Agreement for any reason: (i) 
all causes of action accruing to either Party under this Agreement; (ii) Educational 
Organization’s obligation to pay all amounts payable under this Agreement for Materials, 
Services or Data provided up to and including the date of termination; and (iii) Sections 
2.E,4, 5.E, 6, and 7 of this Agreement. 

E. Post Termination, Post Expiration Obligations of Educational Organization. Upon the 
termination of this Agreement for any reason, or the expiration of this Agreement, (i) all 
rights of Educational Organization to use the Materials and Services, and any other rights 
conferred to Educational Organization by this Agreement, with the exception of the use of 
Reports and Data provided pursuant to Section 2.A (ii), shall immediately thereafter cease, 
and (ii) all payments including fees and costs due under this Agreement and not yet paid shall 
become immediately due and payable. Educational Organization shall not thereafter operate 
or conduct business under any name or mark or in any other manner that might tend to create 
the impression that this Agreement is still in force, including but not limited to any reference 
to UChicago Impact or any trademark or servicemark of UChicago Impact in describing its 
operations. 

Section 9. Representations, Warranties, Covenants and Disclaimers 

A. Representations, Warranties and Covenants of Educational Organization. Educational 
Organization hereby represents, warrants and covenants, for itself, that: 

i. Educational Organization is a school district serving students in pre-kindergarten through 
twelfth grade, dedicated to driving change in urban schools through strategic partnerships 
and innovative school improvement initiatives, duly organized, validly existing and in 
good standing under the laws of Missouri, and has the corporate power and authority to 
execute and deliver this Agreement, and perform its obligations under this Agreement. 



ii. The execution, delivery and performance of the Agreement have been duly and validly 
authorized by Educational Organization, and upon execution and delivery by Educational 
Organization, this Agreement will constitute a valid and binding agreement of 
Educational Organization enforceable in accordance with its terms. 

iii. Educational Organization has no other agreements that conflict with the obligations 
undertaken and rights and licenses granted in this Agreement. 

iv. Any use of the Material(s) by Educational Organization shall comply with and conform 
to all applicable specifications required by any state and federal laws, including but not 
limited to the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) 20 USC 1232g et. 
seq. 

v. Educational Organization shall timely make all payments to UChicago Impact required 
by this Agreement. 

B. Disclaimer of Warranties. UCHICAGO IMPACT MAKES NO REPRESENTATIONS OR 
WARRANTIES OF ANY KIND, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, UNDER THIS AGREEMENT. 
IN PARTICULAR, UCHICAGO IMPACT DISCLAIMS ANY WARRANTY WITH 
RESPECT TO THE MATERIALS AND SERVICES OR WITH RESPECT TO ANY 
COPYRIGHTS AND TRADEMARKS COVERING MATERIALS OR SERVICES, 
INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO ANY REPRESENTATIONS OR WARRANTIES 
ABOUT (I) THE ACCURACY, SAFETY OR USEFULNESS FOR ANY PURPOSE OF 
ANY INFORMATION PROVIDED BY UCHICAGO IMPACT TO EDUCATIONAL 
ORGANIZATION WITH RESPECT TO THE MATERIALS AND SERVICES OR WITH 
RESPECT TO ANY COPYRIGHTS OR TRADEMARKS COVERING MATERIALS OR 
SERVICES AND ANY PRODUCTS DEVELOPED FROM OR COVERED BY THEM; (II) 
WHETHER THE USE OF ANY MATERIALS OR SERVICE WILL OR MIGHT 
INFRINGE A PATENT OR OTHER INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHT OWNED OR 
LICENSED BY A THIRD PARTY; OR (III) THE ACCURACY, SAFETY, OR 
USEFULNESS FOR ANY PURPOSE OF THE MATERIALS OR SERVICES. IN 
ADDITION, UCHICAGO IMPACT SPECIFICALLY DISCLAIMS ANY IMPLIED 
WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR 
PURPOSE. 

C. Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (“FERPA”). Each of the Parties hereby 
represents, warrants and covenants that it will comply in all material respects with FERPA, 
including, but not limited to the protection of student records. 

Section 10. Indemnification 

Educational Organization agrees to indemnify, defend and hold harmless UChicago Impact, 
its Affiliates, and the trustees, directors, officers, employees, fellows and agents of any of the 
foregoing (collectively the “Indemnified Persons”) from and against any and all claims, 
demands, loss, damages, penalties, costs or expenses (including attorneys' and witnesses' fees 
and costs) of any kind or nature, based upon, arising out of, or otherwise relating to this 
Agreement, including without limitation (i) any claim arising from the use of any Materials 



or Services and all activities associated therewith, or (ii) any use of information provided by 
UChicago Impact to Educational Organization. UChicago Impact shall be entitled to 
participate at its option and expense through counsel of its own selection, and may join in 
any legal actions related to any such third party claims, demands, losses, damages, costs, 
expenses and penalties. Educational Organization shall not enter into any settlement affecting 
any rights or obligations of any Indemnified Person or which includes an express or implied 
admission of liability, negligence or wrongdoing by any Indemnified Person, without the 
prior written consent of such Indemnified Person.  

Section 11. Assumption of Risk and Insurance 

A. Assumption of Risk. The entire risk as to the performance, safety and efficacy of any 
Materials and Services is assumed by Educational Organization. Indemnified Persons shall 
not, except for their intentional misconduct or gross negligence, be responsible or liable for 
any injury, loss, or damage of any kind, including but not limited to direct, indirect, special, 
incidental or consequential damages or lost profits to Educational Organization or any other 
person or entity, regardless of legal theory for any activity undertaken in connection with this 
Agreement, the Materials and Services, including the use or other disposition of the Materials 
and Services and all activities associated therewith. The above limitations on liability apply 
even though the Indemnified Person may have been advised of the possibility of such injury, 
loss or damage. Educational Organization shall not make any agreements, statements, 
representations or warranties or accept any liabilities or responsibilities whatsoever with 
regard to any person or entity which are inconsistent with this Section 8. 

B. Insurance. Educational Organization agrees to maintain liability insurance that shall cover 
any claims for bodily injury, property, or other damage alleged to relate to the Materials, 
Services or activities undertaken in connection with this Agreement, including the use or 
other disposition of the Materials or Services and all activities associated therewith.  

Section 12. Miscellaneous 

A. Entire Agreement, Amendment, Waiver. This Agreement, together with the Exhibits attached 
hereto constitutes the entire agreement between the parties regarding the subject matter 
hereof, and supersedes all prior written or oral agreements or understandings (express or 
implied) between them concerning the same subject matter. This Agreement may not be 
amended or modified except in a document signed by duly authorized representatives of each 
Party. No waiver of any default hereunder by either Party or any failure to enforce any rights 
hereunder shall be deemed to constitute a waiver of any subsequent default with respect to 
the same or any other provision hereof.  

B. Notice. Any notice required or otherwise made pursuant to this Agreement shall be in 
writing, sent by registered or certified mail properly addressed, or by facsimile with 
confirmed answer-back, to the other Party at the address set forth below or at such other 
address as may be designated by written notice to the other Party. Notice shall be deemed 
effective three (3) business days following the date of sending such notice if by mail, on the 
day following deposit with an overnight courier, if sent by overnight courier, or upon 
confirmed answer-back if by facsimile. 



 
 

If to UChicago Impact:  
UChicago Impact, LLC. 

      The University of Chicago  
    1313 E. 60th Street  
    Chicago, Illinois 60637 
 
    Facsimile Number: 773-702-8980 
    Attn: Collette Walton 
 
If to Educational Organization:  

Center School District 
   8701 Holmes Road 
   Kansas City, MO 64131 
    
   Facsimile Number: 816-349-3431 
   Attention: Sharon Nibbelink 

    

C. Assignment. This Agreement shall be binding on the parties hereto and upon their respective 
successors and assigns. Educational Organization may at any time, upon written notice to the 
other Party, assign or delegate to a successor to all or substantially all of its business any of 
its rights and obligations hereunder, provided that, any such assignment or delegation shall in 
no event relieve Educational Organization of its primary responsibility for its obligations 
hereunder. Any such assignment shall be conditioned on and shall not be effective until the 
assignee or transferee has executed and delivered a written agreement assuming and 
undertaking all of the duties and obligations of the assignor or transferor under this 
Agreement. Except as provided above, Educational Organization may not assign or delegate 
any right or obligation hereunder without the prior written consent of UChicago Impact, 
which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, and any attempted assignment or 
delegation in violation thereof shall be void. UChicago Impact may assign this Agreement at 
any time to any third party on written notice to Educational Organization. In the event of an 
assignment by UChicago Impact, the assignee shall be substituted for UChicago Impact as a 
party hereto, and UChicago Impact shall no longer be bound hereby. 

D. Governing Law. The interpretation and performance of this Agreement shall be governed by 
the laws of the State of Illinois applicable to contracts made and to be fully performed in that 
state. 

E. Force Majeure. Neither Party will be liable to the other if, and to the extent that, the 
performance of any of its obligations under this Agreement (other than an obligation of one 
party to pay any sum due to the other Party) is prevented, restricted, delayed or interfered 
with due to Force Majeure. The Party claiming an event of Force Majeure will promptly (and 
in any event no later than twenty (20) days after discovery of the event) notify the other Party 
in writing, and provide particulars of the cause or event. In the event of any such occurrence, 
deliveries of any order placed and accepted under this Agreement or the appropriate portion 



of such delivery will be suspended for the duration of the period, provided that no such act or 
occurrence will relieve Educational Organization from its obligations of payment hereunder. 

F. Independent Contractors. The Parties agree that the relationship of UChicago Impact and 
Educational Organization established by this Agreement is that of independent contractors. 
Furthermore, the Parties agree that this Agreement does not, is not intended to, and shall not 
be construed to, establish a partnership or joint venture, nor shall this Agreement create or 
establish an employment, agency or any other relationship. Neither Party shall have any 
right, power or authority, nor shall they represent themselves as having any authority to 
assume, create or incur any expense, liability or obligation, express or implied, on behalf of 
the other Party, or to otherwise act as an agent for the other Party for any purpose. 

G. No Use of Name. Except for uses required in connection with implementation of the Product, 
both parties to this Agreement agree not to use the other Party’s name in any commercial 
activity, marketing, advertising or sales brochures except with the prior written consent of the 
other Party, which consent will not be unreasonably withheld. Educational Organization 
agrees not to use the name of any UChicago Impact’s employee(s) in any commercial 
activity, marketing, advertising or sales brochures, or for any other purpose other than 
internal reporting and record keeping, without the written consent of UChicago Impact, in its 
sole discretion. 

H. Waiver. No term or provision of this Agreement shall be waived and no breach excused 
unless such waiver or consent shall be in writing and signed by the Party claimed to have 
waived or consented. No waiver of a breach shall be deemed to be a waiver of a different or 
subsequent breach. 

I. Construction. Each Party has consulted counsel of their choice regarding this Agreement, and 
each acknowledges and agrees that this Agreement shall be construed without regard to the 
Party or Parties responsible for the preparation of the same and shall be deemed as prepared 
jointly by the Parties. Any ambiguity or uncertainty existing herein shall not be interpreted or 
construed against any Party.  

J. Execution. This Agreement may be executed by the Parties in any number of identical 
counterparts, each of which, for all purposes shall be deemed to be an original, and all of 
which shall constitute, collectively, one instrument. 

K. Severability. If any provision of this Agreement shall be held illegal, unenforceable, or in 
conflict with any laws of any federal, provincial, state, or local government that may exercise 
jurisdiction over this Agreement, (i) the validity of the remaining portions or provisions shall 
not be affected thereby and (ii) the enforceability of such provisions in other jurisdictions 
shall not be affected thereby. 

L. Third Party Beneficiaries. All rights, benefits and remedies under this Agreement are solely 
intended for the benefit of UChicago Impact and Educational Organization and no other 
person or entity shall have any rights whatsoever to (i) enforce any obligation contained in 
this Agreement; (ii) seek a benefit or remedy for any breach of this Agreement; or (iii) take 
any other action relating to this Agreement under any legal theory, including but not limited 



to, actions in contract, tort (including but not limited to negligence, gross negligence and 
strict liability), or as a defense, setoff or counterclaim to any action or claim brought or made 
by the Parties. 

[Signature page follows] 
  



 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this agreement to be executed by their 
respective duly authorized officers or representatives on the date first above written. 
 
 
UChicago Impact LLC  Center School District  
 
By: _________________________________ 

 
By:__________________________________ 

Elliot Ransom 
Co-Chief Executive Officer 
UChicago Impact LLC 

Dr. Sharon Nibbelink 
Superintendent 
Center School District 

Date of signature: ______________________ Date of signature: ______________________ 
  

  
 



EXHIBIT A 
Materials and Services 

Section 1. 5Essentials Administration 
UChicago Impact will administer the 5Essentials School Improvement Survey to all schools 
specified by the Center School District provided that school rosters are cleaned and received by the 
roster deadline, January 18, 2019. The surveys will be administered using the 5Essentials Survey 
Administration Tool during the 2018-2019, 2019-2020 and 2020-2021 school years. The roster 
deadline for subsequent years will be determined based on survey window; rosters should be sent 
UChicago Impact no later than three weeks prior to survey administration. This tool provides online 
access to the 5Essentials Student, Teacher and Supplemental Parent Surveys. 

A. School Rosters and Confidentiality 

i. Educational Organization is responsible for communicating about the roster collection 
process to all schools. UChicago Impact will work directly with participating schools to 
acquire rosters in the correct format for all a) schools, b) principals, c) students and d) 
teachers. Any school that does not provide all appropriate and applicable rosters will not 
be able to take the survey. 

ii. Student and teacher identification will be kept confidential and stored on secure servers 
for both outreach and survey administration. Only UChicago Impact staff and agents 
necessary for administration of the survey will have access to student and teacher 
identifiers during administration. 

iii. Once data collection is complete, student and teacher names will be permanently deleted, 
as will teacher email addresses. UChicago Impact will never transmit teacher identifiers 
to anyone; the only identifiers that will exist for teachers are an internal random ID that is 
used for scoring; this ID is not connected to their identity or to their responses in 
subsequent survey administrations.   

B. Survey Coordinators 
In addition to the principal, each school may designate a coordinator to assist with facilitation 
of the survey. The principal and coordinator will receive a short manual detailing their roles 
and responsibilities for survey administration. 

C. Student Survey Administration 
Students will login to their survey using a district/school assigned student ID and their birth 
date. Students have the right to omit responses to any question. The survey will be available 
to students in grades 4-12.  

D. Teacher Survey Administration 
Teachers will access the survey using a randomly assigned username and password issued by 
the 5Essentials Online Administration Tool. The survey will be available to all Pre-
kindergarten to High School teachers. Teachers have the right to omit responses to any 
question. 



 

E. Parent Survey Administration 
Parents will access the survey using an anonymous login on the 5Essentials Online 
Administration Tool. The Survey will be available to all parents who have at least one (1) 
child enrolled at the school. The parent count for each school is equivalent to the number of 
students rostered and assigned to that school. 

F. Response Rate Monitoring 
The 5Essentials Survey Administration Tool will provide weekly response rate updates to 
EDUCATIONAL ORGANIZATION, district/charter administrators, principals and survey 
coordinators. The Tool will also allow users to check response rates at any time.  

i. To receive teacher data, schools must have at least 50% of teachers start the survey and 
have at least eight (8) valid respondents per item.  

ii. To receive student data, schools must have at least 50% of students start the survey and 
have at least 10 valid respondents per item. 

iii. To receive parent data, schools must have at least 20% of parents submit the survey. 

Section 2. 5Essentials Scoring 
UChicago Impact will score survey data from participating schools using a process developed at the 
University of Chicago Consortium on School Research (UChicago Consortium). The 5Essentials 
Scoring process creates school-level scores that minimize error by removing invalid responses using 
Rasch Analysis. 5Essentials Scoring allows school results to be compared from one year to the next 
and puts all schools within a particular grade level on the same scale, allowing schools with 
strengths and challenges to be identified. 

Section 3. 5Essentials Training 
UChicago Impact will provide webinar trainings for school leadership. 

5ESSENTIALS ORIENTATION 
Prior to administering the survey, practitioners will learn about the mechanics of survey 
administration and tips to drive up response rates. 
5ESSENTIALS SCORING AND REPORTING 
Prior to the release of their 5Essentials data, school teams will learn about the scoring and 
analysis process behind the data and become familiar with the 5Essentials Reports. 

Section 4. 5Essentials School Reports 
Schools receive a set of individualized, web-based reports that offer a comprehensive picture of 
school quality and provide a framework for understanding the hundred-plus survey questions. These 
reports include: 

A. Performance on the 5Essentials, shown in color-coded, easy to read diagrams.  



B. Changes in school performance over time on individual Measures and Essentials. 

C. A 1-year license to access their report online. Reports may be saved to PDF or printed at any-
time during that year. Upon renewal each year, schools will receive an additional year of 
access. 

Section 5. Report Release 
Reports will be available on a password protected basis to Educational Organization and 
participating schools staff members at the end of the 6-8–week scoring window. Access to the 
reports will be available to district administrators and principals prior to a broader release. Reports 
will be made publically available upon request; the final release date will be determined by 
Educational Organization. The web address provided for reports will be https://www.5-
essentials.org/center/2018.  

Section 6. 5Essentials Data 
UChicago Impact will provide Educational Organization with data files in Microsoft Excel format. 
These files include school-level response rates and results on Measures and Essentials. 

 
  



EXHIBIT B 
Materials and Services Pricing 

 

  

                                                 
1 A unit is equivalent to one school. 
2 The addition of supplemental measures is embedded into the cost for the 5Essentials System; however, any questions added 
beyond supplemental content will result in a fee to cover programming, scoring and reporting costs. 
3 Final pricing will be determined by actual number of units delivered (training sessions, schools, etc.) 

Component Unit Price Units1 Price 
5Essentials System: 
Includes: 
 5Essentials Organizing Schools for Improvement 

Surveys 
o Data on five essentials, 22 measures, and over 150 

questions tested through 20 years of research at the 
University of Chicago. 

o Measures predictive of student and school 
outcomes. 

o Access to additional question and measure banks.2 
o Online survey administration built for schools. 

 5Essentials Scoring 
o University of Chicago test scoring process. 
o Lazy respondent algorithm to remove intentionally 

or unintentionally inappropriate responses. 
o Predictive of school improvement changes. 
o 6-8-week turnaround time. 

 5Essentials Reports 
o Online reporting system for each school. 
o Trends. 
o Downloadable and printable reports. 
o 1-year license for principals and administrators. 
o Public access upon request. 

 5Essentials Data 
o Essentials and measures school-level data file. 
o Survey question responses school-level data file. 

 5Essentials Professional Learning Webinars 
o 5Essentials Orientation (included) 
o 5Essentials Scoring & Reporting (included) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

$2,000 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

$14,000 

Supplemental Parent Survey  $200 7 $1,400 
5Essentials System Subtotal $15,400 
Multi-Year Discount -$2,800 
Annual Cost3 $12,600 
3-Year Total $37,800 



 
EXHIBIT C 

Timeline4 
 

Service Description Timeline 
Logistics Educational Organization will supply UChicago 

Impact with introductions to selected school 
coordinators and principals but two Project Managers 
(one from UChicago Impact and one from 
Educational Organization) will serve as the main 
contact for the duration of the 5Essentials Survey 
Implementation. The Educational Organization 
personnel will work to supply school rosters to 
UChicago Impact and verify rosters for accuracy. 

November 26, 2018 
– January 18, 2019 

5Essentials Survey 
Administration 

UChicago Impact will administer the survey to 
Educational Organization schools. 

February 12, 2019 – 
March 8, 2019 

5Essentials 
Scoring 

UChicago Impact will analyze and score surveys. March 11, 2019 – 
April 19, 2019 

5Essentials 
Reporting 

UChicago Impact will provide Educational 
Organization with access to the survey reports, a 
summary analysis, and school level data files. 
 
UChicago Impact will meet with Educational 
Organization to review results and determine rollout 
schedule. 

April 24, 2019 

 
 
  

                                                 
4 Timeline will be modified for 2019-20 and 2020-21. 



Exhibit D 
Invoicing 

 
UChicago Impact will invoice Educational Organization based on key milestones, as outlined in the 
table below. 
 

Key Milestone Amount Due Approximate Timing 
Execution of Contract 
(or the anniversary of the execution 
for a multi-year contract) 

25% of contract value November 2018 

Close of Survey Window 25% of contract value  March 8, 2019 

Report Delivery 50% of contract value April 24, 2019 
 



Sora Starter Enrollment Form 1018- US/CAN 

____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

© 2018 OverDrive, Inc.            One OverDrive Way  •  Cleveland, OH 44125  •  P: +1 216-573-6886  •  F: +1 216-573-6889   

 

 

 
 

Sora Starter Enrollment Form 
District Information 

Name of District:   

Address:  

City/State/Zip Code:  

Primary District Contact 

Name: Title: 

Telephone: Email: 

Technology/Authentication Contact 

Name: Title: 

Telephone: Email: 

Access Fee Schedule 

Period of Service Access Fee 

Service through June 30, 2020  $0  

Authentication Type (Must Select One) 

□ LDAP □ Federated □ Google G Suite 
□ Direct ILS/LMS 

Authentication 

□ Custom HTTP 

Authentication 

□OverDrive sends emails about promotions, new products and services.  By checking this box, you consent to receiving    
OverDrive’s communications and promotional emails to your Primary District Contact email address.  These emails also include 
an easy method to manage your subscription(s), including unsubscribing to future emails. 

 

Terms and Conditions: 
• OverDrive® products and services for schools are licensed pursuant to the OverDrive School Digital Library (Sora Starter) 

Access Agreement, available at https://company.overdrive.com/sdlss-aa.pdf, the terms of which are incorporated herein 
and which may be modified from time to time.  

• Service will be provided under this Agreement through June 30, 2020. 

• The included Sora Starter Free Trial package of OverDrive-selected titles is subject to change without notice at any time.  

 
 
Acknowledgement and Acceptance: 
On behalf of my institution, my signature below indicates acceptance of the OverDrive School Digital Library (Sora Starter) Access 
Agreement, as well as my authority to enter into a legally binding agreement. 

 
By (signature)         Title        
 
Name (Print)         Date        

 
 
 
 

Please complete this order form and email to sales@overdrive.com or return by fax to +1 216-573-6889 
 

If you have any questions, please contact the OverDrive Sales team at +1 216-573-6886 or sales@overdrive.com. 

https://company.overdrive.com/sdlss-aa.pdf
mailto:sales@overdrive.com
mailto:sales@overdrive.com










MISSOURI SCHOOL BOARDS' ASSOCIATION 

II "FULL MAINTENANCE" SERVICE AGREEMENT II 

This agreement is entered as of December 1, 2018, through November 30 of 2019 between the 
Board of Directors of the Center School District #58 (hereinafter "School District") and the 
Missouri School Boards' Association, Columbia, Missouri (hereinafter "MSBA"). For good and 
valuable consideration including the promises made herein, the parties mutually promise and agree 
as follows: 

I. PURPOSE AND CONDITIONS 

In consideration of School District's promises made herein, MSBA agrees to perform the 
services enumerated in Section !I.A. of this agreement for the purpose of providing school 
district policy and procedure manual maintenance on a continuous basis to the School 
District. In consideration of MSBA's services, the School District agrees to perform the 
duties enumerated in Section II.B. and to make payment according to Section III. 

Prerequisite: Prior to the commencement of services pursuant to this contract, School 
District must have completed an audit and either (I) have completed a Customized Policy 
Project or Mini Project using MSBA Policy Services OR (2) have adopted MSBA's standard 
Board policies. MSBA will determine whether the School District's manual will need 
additional service before this agreement may take effect. 

The resources covered by this maintenance agreement include School District Policies and 
Administrative Procedures, in the manner in which those tenus are used by MSBA's Policy 
Services Department and as represented by MSBA's current standard model set of such 
materials for MSBA member use. Specifically, but without limitation, the terms "POLICY" 
and "PROCEDURE" as used herein exclude administrative forms, "handbooks" and similar 
materials produced by School District for independent distribution, as well as legal notices, 
job descriptions, contracts or other material that is not included in policies or procedures, as 
those terms are used by the MSBA Policy Services Department. 

Furthermore, School District acknowledges that it is familiar with the resources referenced 
above and expressly grants MSBA the discretion to detennine which submitted materials are 
outside of the scope of the resources contemplated to be maintained pursuant to this 
agreement. 

II. SERVICES 

A. MSBA agrees to: 

I. Monitor changes in state and federal law and, within a reasonable time, 
customize applicable district policies and procedures to incorporate changes. 
Customization applies to material in the body only. MSBA will not 



Full Maintenance Agreement 

customize titles, codes, material in headers and footers, legal references or 
cross references. MSBA has the sole discretion to make grammar, formatting 
and style decisions. 

2. Review submitted monthly Board minutes for actions that may warrant a new 
or revised policy or procedure. 

3. Review and edit district-originated revisions and additions to policies and 
procedures and provide written recommendations. 

4. Provide data entry, editing, coding and formatting of draft copies of 
recommendations of policies and procedures, revisions or additions resulting 
from services provided in items I through 3 of this section. 

5. Provide School District with sample policies, procedures and forms upon 
request. 

6. Advise School District on policy-related topics and organization. 

7. Maintain a current copy of School District's Board policies and 
administrative procedures on a continuous basis, including maintenance of 
an online version of policies and procedures. MSBA does not maintain past 
versions of district policies. 

8. Provide legal review of forms at the request of the district. This service 
agreement does not include maintenance of district forms. 

B. School District promises to: 

1. Designate a member of the administrative staff to serve as a liaison with 
MSBA for the duration of this agreement. All communication between the 
District and MSBA regarding policy revision and creation will channel 
through the liaison. 

2. Complete the Policy Manual Questionnaire and return it to the MSBA office. 

3. Have the district's policy resources reorganized by MSBA to operate within 
MSBA's standard division of Board Policies and Administrative Procedures 
and Forms. 

4. Provide MSBA with relevant monthly open meeting minutes of the actions 
of the Board of Directors in a timely manner. MSBA will dispose of minutes 
one year from the date of receipt. 



Full Maintenance Agreement 

5. Provide MSBA any desired revisions or additions to policies and procedures 
in a timely manner. 

Revisions must be submitted using formats designated by MSBA. The use 
of other formats that require MSBA staff to compare the submitted document 
with the previous version of the document in order to identify the district's 
changes may result in an addition charge for consultation in accordance with 
Section III. D. 

Revisions shall be submitted to MSBA by mail, e-mail or in an electronic 
format designated by MSBA. 

6. Complete and return checklists in the format developed by MSBA. 

7. In the rare event that it is necessary for School District to submit minutes of 
any closed meeting in order to inform MSBA editors of policymaking 
activities of the Board of Directors, redact those portions of the closed 
minutes that are confidential under law or district policy and redact those 
portions clearly irrelevant to policymaking. 

8. Execute this contract in accordance with the Missouri law of public entity 
contracts. 

9. Remain a member in good standing of the Missouri School Boards' 
Association throughout the life of this contract. In the event School District 
does not remain a member ofMSBA throughout the life of this contract, this 
contract shall immediatelytenninate, and the fee paid under Section III of this 
contract shall be retained by MSBA as liquidated damages, the parties hereby 
a&>reeing that actual damages will be difficult to calculate in such 
circumstances. 

Ill. FEES/FEE PAYMENT SCHEDULE 

A. In consideration of the services set forth in Section !I.A. of this agreement, School 
District shall pay to MSBA the fee of $3,665.00 within thirty (30) days following 
issuance of an invoice for this amount by MSBA to School District. Time is of the 
essence for payment of this fee. If payment has not been received within sixty ( 60) 
days from the invoice issue date, this contract shall become voidable at MSBA's 
option, at which time MSBA may cancel the contract, suspend services and/or seek 
judicial remedies. 

B. Services will begin on the date specified in this agreement and end one (I) year from 
the date the services begin. 



Full Maintenance Agreement 

C. 

D. 

IV. 

A. 

B. 

MSBA will charge reasonable fees to cover additional copies, postage, and shipping. 
An estimate of the charges will be provided at the time of the request. 

Additional services, including performing document comparisons, will be charged 
at $75 per hour. 

SPECIAL TERMS 

Policies and procedures, as provided through this service, are customized and 
designed for the School District only. The Board recognizes MSBA 's copyright and 
ownership of the non-customized portions of the policies and will not directly or 
indirectly infringe on MSBA 's copyright and ownership interest. MSBA recognizes 
that the Board must make its policies available to the public pursuant to state law. 

Other special terms agreed by the parties are: 

__ MSBA Policy Services Director Initials 

V. SIGNATURES 

For the 
Missouri School Boards' Association 

Kelli Hopkins, Associate Executive Director 

Date 

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD, 
For Center School District #58 

President, Board of Directors 

Superintendent (cr designee) 

Date 

Please sign this agreement and return to MSBA Policy Services, 2100 I-70 Drive S.W., Columbia, 
Missouri 65203. 

Revised 01/18 

November 26. 2018 



 1 

JACKSON COUNTY COMMUNITY CHILDREN’S  

SERVICES FUND SERVICES CONTRACT 

This contract, made and entered into by and between Jackson County Community Children’s 

Services, Inc., a Missouri nonprofit corporation, hereinafter referred to as CSF, and Center School 

District #58, hereafter referred to as the AGENCY.  

Whereas, CSF is a nonprofit corporation formed under the provisions of Chapter 355, pursuant to 

sections 67.1775 and 210.861 of the Revised Statutes of Missouri and Jackson County, Missouri 

ordinance 4951, and has the right to expend monies under the direction of CSF’s Board of 

Directors for the purposes of funding services to children and youth nineteen (19) years of age and 

younger and their families residing in Jackson County, Missouri; and  

Whereas, the AGENCY has submitted a proposal for funding and necessary supporting 

documentation to CSF detailing the services and other support to be provided along with the 

expected cost to the AGENCY thereof in response to the extension of contracted services initiated 

during the 2018 funding year; and  

Whereas, CSF has approved the proposal submitted by AGENCY for funding in whole or in part 

as hereinafter set forth and subject to the express terms of this Contract (hereafter “Contract”).  

Now therefore, in consideration of the mutual promises, agreements and covenants herein 

contained, the parties hereto agree to the following:  

FUND ALLOCATION FOR SERVICES RENDERED BY THE AGENCY  

1. FUNDING POLICIES 

CSF has established certain parameters for the provision of funds to service providers that have 

demonstrated through their proposal the ability to provide services in accordance with the 

requirements of CSF as set forth in its request for proposal (RFP) and in accordance with the 

budget, outcomes, and target population served as outlined by AGENCY in its formal response 

to the RFP. AGENCY will perform the services and carry out the activities as set forth in the 

AGENCY’s original proposal for funding.  Any Contract changes will be sent to the AGENCY 

via written letter from CSF’s Executive Director and shall thereafter be considered to be a part 

of this Contract between CSF and AGENCY.  

The AGENCY agrees to and understands that services performed under this agreement are 

limited to the AGENCY’s proposal for funding covered by the Term of this Agreement as 

more specifically set forth in Attachment A. 

2.  FUND ALLOCATION 

During the period January 1, 2019 to June 30, 2019, CSF hereby expresses its non-binding intention 

and its goal to provide an amount of funding not to exceed the CSF approved budget (the “fund 

allocation amount”), in consideration of the direct performance by AGENCY of those services set 

forth in this Contract.   



 2 

 

AGENCY shall only be paid for the actual services provided in accordance with this Contract.  CSF 

will be billed in accordance with the units of service, rates, and any applicable funding contingencies.  

CSF reserves the right to monitor AGENCY performance and intervene as necessary.   

 

The parties agree that CSF shall have no responsibility for any costs incurred by AGENCY above 

the approved fund allocation amount. The obligation of CSF to provide the fund allocation amount 

for the Term of this Contract is further contingent upon sufficient funds having been appropriated or 

generated through sales tax collections for the purpose of funding CSF by Jackson County.  In the 

event of failure of the County to appropriate or generate such funds, the obligations of the parties to 

this contract shall terminate. 

 

CSF reserves the sole and exclusive right to make additional funds available to AGENCY based 

upon CSF Board review and determination, which shall include AGENCY’s ongoing adherence to 

reports, audits, and other compliance requirements set forth in this Contract.  

 

Although not contemplated based on the funding parameters established herein, in the event 

AGENCY has unspent funds provided by CSF, such funds shall be returned to CSF.  Alternatively, 

at CSF’s sole discretion, should AGENCY be approved to receive funding in the following, new 

contract year, the overpayment may be “repaid” by deduction from one or more payments due on 

any such new contract awarded to AGENCY. 

 

3. BILLING 

AGENCY agrees to submit an invoice on or before the 15th day of April and July for those 

services actually provided during each quarter.   Should the 15th fall on a weekend day, 

submissions are due the first following business day. Transactions submitted to CSF by 

AGENCY on or after 120 days from the date of service provision shall be subject to denial. 

AGENCY agrees to utilize any invoice template and data collection tools provided by CSF.  

4. PAYMENTS 

CSF will process payments no later than thirty (30) days from the date the invoice is submitted.  

Exceptions to this timeframe may include errors in invoice submission, missing information, 

or processing and will be communicated to AGENCY. 

 

  

REPORTING, MONITORING, AND MODIFICATION  

5. REPORTING 

All invoices submitted by AGENCY must include specific detail, including date(s) services 

were provided, type of service provided, and a description of the recipient of the services in a 

fashion sufficient to allow CSF to determine that the services are as contracted.   AGENCY 

further agrees to submit to CSF those reports that CSF determines necessary and useful to the 

effectiveness of its ongoing programs including, but not limited to, the Target Population 



 3 

Served, cost of services per the Budget, and Outcomes Report, using the methods and manner 

requested and within the timeframe provided by CSF. Payments will be withheld from 

AGENCY if invoices do not provide sufficient detail or if designated and required reports are 

not submitted on time and no formal request for submission extension has been approved by 

CSF and until such reports are filed.  In the event required reports are not filed within thirty 

(30) business days from the original due date established by CSF, CSF reserves the right to 

review the contract compliance status of AGENCY and determine if the contract is null and 

void for the remainder of the contract period.  

 

AGENCY shall notify CSF immediately regarding any adverse action against it or any adverse 

situation related to a CSF funded program provided through or by AGENCY, including, but 

not limited to:  

 

• Injury of any kind or death to client, staff, volunteer or member of the public. 

• Incident or allegation of consumer sexual abuse, physical abuse, or neglect alleged to have 

been engaged in by an AGENCY employee or volunteer, or by a foster parent, or another 

consumer while in the custody of AGENCY. 

• Insolvency or bankruptcy. 

• Governmental, regulatory, or other legal action against AGENCY or its staff. 

• Any changes in license status. 

• Change of executive leadership. 

 

6. MERGERS/ASSIGNMENT 

AGENCY agrees that at the time of the signing of this document, AGENCY is not in a pending 

or expected merger with any other entity. In the event that AGENCY becomes aware of a 

potential merger, AGENCY agrees to notify CSF immediately.  This Contract is not assignable 

by AGENCY without the express written consent of CSF.  In the event AGENCY does wish 

to merge or otherwise assign this Contract, AGENCY must obtain the advance written 

approval of CSF to such assignment. 

7. FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

AGENCY shall supply CSF with financial information, including, but not limited to, income 

and expense statements and statements of financial position for the two most recent fiscal 

years.  If AGENCY has financial statements audited by an independent certified public 

accounting, then AGENCY shall provide a copy of same to CSF as soon as completed.  Audited 

financial statements for any AGENCY or entity proposing to provide services are not 

necessarily required to qualify for funding from CSF.  The determination of any audit 

requirement is at the sole discretion of CSF.  

8. FEDERAL AND STATE REPORTING 

Any AGENCY with federal tax exempt status under Internal Revenue Code (IRC) section 

501 agrees to submit to CSF a copy of its annual Federal Form 990, Federal Form 990-EZ, 

or evidence of the filing of Federal Form 990-N and (if applicable) Federal Form 990-T 



 4 

and/or Missouri Form 1120, or other similar or related documents required by law.  

All Missouri school districts, including charter schools, are required to be audited annually 

and to submit a copy of the audit report to the Department of Elementary and Secondary 

Education.  Any AGENCY that is a Missouri school district shall provide to CSF a copy of 

this audit report.  All other AGENCY contractors not required to file either a federal 

information return or audit shall provide to CSF that information set forth under paragraph 7, 

herein.    If AGENCY will not be filing any required Federal and State reporting forms on 

time with the appropriate State or Federal agency, then a copy of its extension to file, Federal 

Form 8868 and/or Missouri Form 7004 must be submitted to CSF upon request by CSF. 

Payments may be withheld from the AGENCY if reports designated here are not submitted 

within the required timeframe or as requested by CSF. 

9. MONITORING 

CSF reserves the right to monitor the Contract and the programs or services provided by 

AGENCY throughout the effective period of the Contract to ensure compliance with 

contractual requirements. CSF shall utilize AGENCY’s application for funding in addition to 

any mutually agreed to modifications and revisions as submitted by AGENCY to assist CSF 

with monitoring service delivery and program expenditures. AGENCY is expected to provide 

services and achieve outcomes as described in AGENCY’s application for funding and 

detailed in this Contract and collective Schedule A, Outcomes Reporting, Budget, and Target 

Population Served.    

AGENCY agrees to permit CSF to monitor and review any component of CSF funded 

programs, except as prohibited by laws protecting client confidentiality. CSF is not a health 

services organization or entity.  CSF at no time will create, receive, maintain or transmit any 

personally identifying information of AGENCY clients or any protected health information 

("PHI") as defined under the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 

(“HIPAA) or that is otherwise limited from transmission and/or disclosure under HIPAA in 

the course of this Contract.  In connection with any and all CSF funding and monitoring, 

AGENCY will ensure that CSF does not receive any personally identifying information of 

clients or any PHI.  Should CSF receive any such information, it will return same to AGENCY 

immediately upon discovery and shall maintain any such information in a strictly confidential 

fashion pending that return.      

In addition, AGENCY hereby agrees that, upon notice of seven (7) business days, it will make 

available to CSF or its designee(s) all non-confidential, non-PHI records, personnel, and 

documentation for auditing, reviewing, and interviewing, to determine the status of the service, 

activities, and programs covered hereunder and all other matters set forth in the contract.  

CSF reserves the right to survey clients served by the AGENCY with this funding regarding 

their level of satisfaction and engagement with the services.  

10. MODIFICATION OR AMENDMENT 

In the event AGENCY requests to make any changes, modifications, or amendments to funded 



 5 

services, activities, and/or programs covered by this Contract, a request for the proposed 

modification or amendment must be submitted to the assigned CSF representative for approval 

at least 30days before the end of the contract period.  Requests to CSF must be submitted in 

writing and any such requests may be denied at the discretion of CSF.  Any amendment or 

modification of this Contract must be agreed to in a writing signed by all of the parties.  

OTHER TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

11.  VIOLATION OF AGENCY’s CLIENT’s RIGHTS  

 

Any alleged case of a violation of protected and/or legal rights of an AGENCY client in a 

program funded by CSF shall be investigated in accordance with the AGENCY’s policies and 

procedures and in accordance with any local/state/federal regulations, as well as to the 

satisfaction of CSF.  

 

The AGENCY agrees to notify CSF’s representative of any such incidents that have been 

reported to any governmental body and must also authorize the governmental body to notify 

CSF of any substantiated allegations. The AGENCY must comply with Federal and Missouri 

law regarding confidentiality of client records.  

 

12. NON-DISCRIMINATION 

 

AGENCY shall not discriminate against any employee, applicant for employment, or any 

potential or actual recipient of AGENCY services because of race, creed, gender, sexual 

orientation, gender identity or national origin, age, marital status, or disability, or any other 

characteristic protected by federal, state or local law. This prohibition may be amended to the 

extent that such provision is inconsistent with an immutable characteristic of the AGENCY’s 

mission. In the event of AGENCY’s noncompliance with the provisions of this paragraph, the 

Contract may be terminated or suspended in whole or in part, and AGENCY may be declared 

ineligible for future CSF contracts.  

13. CHILD ABUSE SCREENING AND CRIMINAL BACKGROUND SCREENING  

AGENCY must require and obtain background checks, including child abuse and neglect 

screenings, as well as criminal background checks for felony convictions involving moral 

turpitude, by the Family Care Safety Registry, law enforcement, or another screening 

approved by CSF, conducted annually on all employees and volunteers providing direct 

services to children and youth.  

14.  USE OF FUNDS  

AGENCY agrees that CSF funds shall be used exclusively for direct services provided and for 

administrative costs directly related to the AGENCY’s ability to provide such services outlined 

in the AGENCY’s application for funding, including any modifications or amendments, and 

in accordance with this Contract and all schedules.  

 



 6 

15.  TERMINATION  

CSF shall have the right to terminate the Contract in the exercise of its absolute and sole 

discretion, upon written notice to AGENCY. No cause for termination is necessary for CSF to 

terminate.  After receipt of such notice, the Contract shall automatically terminate without 

further obligation of the parties.  

If AGENCY desires to terminate prior to the Contract end, CSF must receive a letter from 

AGENCY indicating they are withdrawing from the program and the reasons for doing so, and 

the projected date the program and/services will officially end.  The AGENCY must provide 

thirty (30) days written notice to CSF of intent to terminate this contract unless CSF and 

AGENCY agree on an alternative timeframe. A final billing of all services delivered must be 

completed by AGENCY and received by CSF within thirty (30) days of the end of service.  

CSF requires a termination plan which includes a description of the current clients served by 

the program and how services will end or be transitioned. The written plan should include 

organizations and/or resources for current and future clients who need the service.  Failure to 

provide the plan will result in forfeiture of any amounts due and payable to AGENCY for 

services prior to termination.  

16.  FAILURE TO PERFORM/DEFAULT  

Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 15, in the event that AGENCY, at any time, fails or 

refuses to perform according to the terms of this Contract and/or CSF’s policies, as determined 

by CSF, such failure or refusal shall constitute a default hereunder, and CSF will be relieved 

of any further obligation to make payments to AGENCY as set out herein. This Contract may 

be terminated for cause at the option of CSF unless CSF determines that the nature of the 

infraction warrants immediate termination, as permitted by Section 15. AGENCY has thirty 

(30) days from the date of written notice of termination for cause to remedy the default. 

In the event that CSF determines that AGENCY is not complying with the terms of this 

Contract, or at risk for non-compliance with contractual requirements, CSF may impose special 

conditions or restrictions prior to termination. Special conditions include, but are not limited 

to: 

• Requiring technical assistance; 

• Additional levels of approval for contracted activities;  

• Providing more detailed financial reports or documentation; 

• Additional monitoring; and 

• Submission and implementation of a corrective action plan.  

 

In the event that CSF requires the AGENCY to submit and implement a corrective action plan, 

the AGENCY shall submit the plan to CSF within the timeframe specified in the AGENCY 

notification.  

 

 

 



 7 

17. STANDARDS  

AGENCY will comply with all applicable local/state/federal certification and licensing 

requirements and all applicable federal, state, and local laws. National accreditation may be 

substituted in place of any required state/federal certification/licensure, in instances where no 

certification/licensure exists for the funded services. To the extent that the services require 

accreditation, licensure, or certification, AGENCY shall maintain such accreditation, 

licensure, or certification in the services for which it is receiving CSF funding. For agencies in 

the process of obtaining accreditation, licensure, or certification at the time of this Contract, 

such accreditation, licensure, or certification shall be obtained within fifteen (15) days of 

acceptance of the Contract or as otherwise agreed.  

18. ELIGIBLE SERVICE RECIPIENTS  

Recipients of services must be Jackson County, Missouri, residents ages nineteen (19) years 

of age and younger and their families. AGENCY shall not utilize CSF funds to provide services 

to non-Jackson County residents under any circumstances. For school-based services provided, 

the school must be located physically within Jackson County, Missouri.  

19. MEDIA  

AGENCY shall notify CSF of contact with the media regarding CSF funded programs or 

profiles of participants in CSF funded programs. At the request of CSF, and as appropriate in 

connection with the services provided by AGENCY, AGENCY agrees to acknowledge CSF 

as a funding source on the home page of its website and as may be appropriate on all written 

and electronic publications including brochures, letterhead, annual reports, and newsletters 

which reference the services being funded by CSF. The AGENCY will coordinate with CSF 

to inform the community about the ways its tax dollars are being invested in services and 

support.  

20. INDEMNIFICATION 

The AGENCY agrees to hold harmless, defend, and indemnify CSF for any and all liability, 

personal injury, or property damage stemming from any acts, negligence, misfeasance, or 

omissions arising out of the AGENCY’s performance of the Contract agreement.  

21.   PROFESSIONAL LIABILITY INSURANCE 

AGENCY agrees to carry the following insurance coverage during the period of this Contract 

and will provide CSF with Certificates of Insurance for all required coverage prior to 

commencement of the work under this Contract. 

Commercial General Liability (CGL):  AGENCY shall agree to maintain for the duration of 

the Contract commercial general liability, (CGL) and, if necessary, commercial general 

umbrella insurance with a limit of no less than $1 million per each occurrence.  CGL insurance 

shall cover liability arising from premises, operations, independent contractors, products – 



 8 

completed operations, personal injury and advertising injury and liability assumed under an 

insured contract (including the tort liability of another assumed in a business contract).   

Jackson County Community Children’s Services Fund, Inc., and Jackson County, Missouri, 

shall be endorsed on the policy as additional insured for CGL and provide for thirty (30) days 

written notice prior to any material changes or cancellation. Certificates of insurance, 

including the endorsement on behalf of CSF, shall be provided to CSF at or prior to the 

commencement of the the Contract and updated accordingly throughout the Contract term 

should coverage change, expire, or renew.  

22.  INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR/NO JOINT VENTURE 

 

This Contract does not create a partnership, joint venture or any other form of joint relationship 

between CSF and AGENCY, which for the purposes of this Contract operates as an 

independent contractor. CSF does not recognize any of the AGENCY’s employees, agents, or 

volunteers as those of CSF.  

23.  TERM 

This contract commences on January 1, 2019 and remains in effect until June 30, 2019, 

unless sooner terminated pursuant to the early termination provisions contained herein. The 

laws of the State of Missouri shall govern the interpretation, validity, performance, and 

enforcement of this contract.   

24.  NOTICES  

Any written notice or communication to CSF shall be mailed or delivered to:  

Jackson County Community Children’s Services Fund, Inc. 

3100 Broadway Blvd, Suite 227 

Kansas City, MO 64111 
 

With a Copy to: 

Copilevitz & Canter, LLC 

C/O Greg Lam 

310 W. 20th Street, Suite 300 

Kansas City, MO  64018 

 

Any written notice or communication to AGENCY shall be mailed or delivered to:  

Center School District #58 

8701 Holmes Road 

Kansas City, MO  64131 

 



 9 

This Contract constitutes the complete understanding of the parties hereto with respect to the 

subject matter and may be modified or amended only by a written instrument executed by both 

parties. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereunto set their hands:  

 

Center School District #58 

 

______________________________________ 

Signature 

 

Title: _________________________________ 

 

Date: _________________________________ 

 

 

Jackson County Community Children’s Services Fund, Inc. 

 

 
Executive Director 

Date: 12.14.18 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 10 

 

Schedule A –Budget (A-1) 

 

Reimbursements for the contract period will not exceed $61,500. 

 

 

 



  

2019-2020 Calendar 

www.center.k12.mo.us 



 

 

CENTER SCHOOL DISTRICT #58 
KANSAS CITY, MISSOURI 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS TOGETHER 
WITH INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 



CENTER SCHOOL DISTRICT #58 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

 - i - 

 
Independent Auditors’ Report ........................................................................................................................ 1 
 
Basic Financial Statements: 
 
     Statement of Net Position - Modified Cash Basis ......................................................................................... 3 
 
     Statement of Activities - Modified Cash Basis ............................................................................................. 4 
 
     Balance Sheet - Modified Cash Basis - Governmental Funds ...................................................................... 5 
 
     Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes 
        in Fund Balances - Modified Cash Basis - Governmental Funds .............................................................. 6 
 
     Statement of Fiduciary Net Position - Modified Cash Basis ........................................................................ 7 
 
     Statement of Change in Fiduciary Net Position - Modified Cash Basis ....................................................... 8 
 
     Notes to the Basic Financial Statements ....................................................................................................... 9 
 
Supplementary Information: 
 
    Budgetary Comparison Schedule - Modified Cash Basis: 
 

General Fund .......................................................................................................................................... 20 
 
Special Revenue Fund ............................................................................................................................ 21 
 
Debt Service Fund .................................................................................................................................. 22 
 
Capital Projects Fund ............................................................................................................................. 23 

 
Notes to the Budgetary Comparison Schedule ............................................................................................ 24 

 
Schedule of Revenues Collected by Source  .................................................................................................... 25 
 
Comparison of Revenues Collected by Source ................................................................................................ 26 
 
Schedule of Expenditures Paid by Object  ....................................................................................................... 27 
 
Selected Trends ................................................................................................................................................ 28 
 
Schedule of Selected Statistics ......................................................................................................................... 29 
 
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards .................................................................................................. 31 
 
  



CENTER SCHOOL DISTRICT #58 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

 - ii - 

 
Internal Control and Compliance: 
 
Report on the Administration's Assertions About Compliance with  
    Specified Requirements of Missouri Laws and Regulations ....................................................................... 33 
 
Schedule of State Findings ............................................................................................................................... 34 
 
Independent Auditors’ Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting  
   and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial  
   Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards .............................................. 35 
 
Independent Auditors’ Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program 
   and on Internal Control over Compliance Required by the Uniform Guidance ........................................... 37 
 
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs .................................................................................................... 39 
 
 



 
 

WESTBROOK  &  CO.,  P.C. 
Certified Public Accountants 

 
 

 
Member, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants; Missouri Society of Certified Public Accountants 

 
Telephone:     Richmond: (816) 776-3584      KC Line: (816) 470-3584      Carrollton: (660) 542-0102 

Fax:       Richmond: (816) 470-7100      Carrollton: (660) 542-3959 
Website: www.westbrookcpa.com 

 

749 Driskill Drive 
Richmond, MO  64085 

18 North Folger 
Carrollton, MO 64633 

 
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

 
 
To the Board of Education 
Center School District #58 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the accompanying modified cash basis financial statements of the governmental 
activities, each major fund and the aggregate remaining fund information of Center School District #58 as 
of and for the year ended June 30, 2018, and the related notes to the financial statements, which 
collectively comprise the District’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with the modified cash basis of accounting described in Note A.  This includes determining 
that the modified cash basis of accounting is an acceptable basis for the preparation of the financial 
statements in the circumstances.  Management is also responsible for the design, implementation, and 
maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditors’ Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit.  We conducted 
our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and 
the standards applicable to the financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by 
the Comptroller General of the United States.  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit 
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. 
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the District’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the District’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.  An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinions. 
 
 



 

- 2 - 

Opinions 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
respective modified cash basis financial position of the governmental activities, each major fund and the 
aggregate remaining fund information of Center School District #58 as of June 30, 2018, and the 
respective changes in modified cash basis financial position for the year then ended in conformity with 
the basis of accounting described in Note A. 
 
Other Information 
 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements as a whole that 
collectively comprise the District’s basic financial statements.  The supplementary information as listed in 
the table of contents, including the schedule of expenditures of federal awards as required by Title 2 U.S. 
Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and 
Audit Requirements for Federal Awards, is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a 
required part of the basic financial statements. 
 
The supplementary information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates 
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements.  
Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial 
statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information 
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to 
the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing 
standards generally accepted in the United States of America.  In our opinion, the supplementary 
information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole 
on the basis of accounting described in Note A. 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated November 14, 
2018 on our consideration of the District’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its 
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements and other matters.  
The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial 
reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the District’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance.  That report is an integral part 
of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the District’s 
internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 
 
Basis of Accounting 
 
We draw attention to Note A of the financial statements that describes the basis of accounting. The 
financial statements are prepared on the modified cash basis of accounting, which is a basis of accounting 
other than accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  Our opinions are not 
modified with respect to this matter. 
 
 
 
 
Richmond, Missouri 
November 14, 2018 



CENTER SCHOOL DISTRICT #58
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION - MODIFIED CASH BASIS

JUNE 30, 2018

 Cash and cash equivalents 13,020,990$    

LIABILITIES

Payroll liabilities 77,066             

NET POSITION

Restricted for:
    Capital outlay 623,646           
    Debt service 5,629,688        
Unrestricted 6,690,590        

Total net position 12,943,924$    

GOVERNMENTAL
ACTIVITIES

ASSETS

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
- 3 -



Net (Expense)

Operating Revenue and
Grants Change in

Charges for and Net Position

Expenses Services Contributions Governmental

GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES
Instruction 20,736,641$       74,316$              3,262,164$         -$                    (17,400,161)$      
Student activities 666,445              283,219              -                      -                      (383,226)             
Student services 1,522,804           -                      -                      -                      (1,522,804)          
Instructional staff support 2,120,559           -                      -                      -                      (2,120,559)          
Building administration 2,420,553           -                      -                      -                      (2,420,553)          
General administration & central services 3,241,601           -                      -                      -                      (3,241,601)          
Operation of plant 4,091,035           -                      -                      -                      (4,091,035)          
Transportation 2,078,600           -                      255,563              -                      (1,823,037)          
Food service 1,335,046           162,280              1,247,719           -                      74,953                
Community services 1,114,166           -                      1,080,317           -                      (33,849)               
Facility acquisition and construction 768,092              -                      -                      -                      (768,092)             
Debt service:
   Principal retirement 3,020,000           -                      -                      -                      (3,020,000)          
   Interest and fees 708,365              -                      -                      -                      (708,365)             

Total Governmental Activities 43,823,907$       519,815$            5,845,763$         -$                    (37,458,329)        

General Revenues:

     Property taxes 28,015,329         

     Basic formula 4,194,122           

     Sales tax 2,617,595           

     State assessed utilities 607,363              

     In lieu of tax 206,962              

     Earnings on investments 125,904              

     Other revenue 315,633              

       Fines and escheats 25,036                

     County stock insurance fund 278,900              

     M&M surtax 588,257              

Total General Revenues 36,975,101         

Change in net position (483,228)             
Net Position Beginning of Year 13,427,152         

Net Position End of Year 12,943,924$       

CENTER SCHOOL DISTRICT #58
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES - MODIFIED CASH BASIS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

Contributions

PROGRAM REVENUES

Capital
Grants
and 

FUNCTION/PROGRAM

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
- 4 -



CENTER SCHOOL DISTRICT #58
STATEMENT OF ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES - MODIFIED CASH BASIS

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
JUNE 30, 2018

SPECIAL DEBT CAPITAL
GENERAL REVENUE SERVICE PROJECTS

FUND FUND FUND FUND

ASSETS 

 Cash and cash equivalents 6,767,656$       -$                5,629,688$      623,646$          13,020,990$      

Payroll liabilities 77,066$            -$                -$                -$                 77,066$             

Fund Balances:
Restricted -                     -                   5,629,688         -                   5,629,688           
Assigned 817,411             -                   -                   623,646            1,441,057           
Unassigned 5,873,179          -                   -                   -                   5,873,179           

Total fund balances 6,690,590          -                   5,629,688         623,646            12,943,924         

Total liabilities and fund balances 6,767,656$        -$                 5,629,688$       623,646$          13,020,990$       

TOTAL
GOVERNMENTAL

FUNDS

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
- 5 -



CENTER SCHOOL DISTRICT #58
STATEMENT OF REVENUES , EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES - 

MODIFIED CASH BASIS - GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

SPECIAL DEBT CAPITAL TOTAL
GENERAL REVENUE SERVICE PROJECTS GOVERNMENTAL 

FUND FUND FUND FUND FUNDS

REVENUES:
Local 27,028,138$        981,598$             4,034,230$          321,143$             32,365,109$                
County 647,701               25,036                 228,776               9,786                   911,299                       
State 2,451,330            3,008,514            -                       -                       5,459,844                    
Federal 2,551,569            1,978,542            -                       -                       4,530,111                    
Other -                       74,316                 -                       -                       74,316                         

     Total Revenues 32,678,738          6,068,006            4,263,006            330,929               43,340,679                  

EXPENDITURES:
Instruction 5,190,626            15,414,738          -                       131,277               20,736,641                  
Student activities 314,121               352,324               -                       -                       666,445                       
Student services 1,000,550            522,254               -                       -                       1,522,804                    
Instructional staff support 1,091,718            1,013,033            -                       15,808                 2,120,559                    
Building administration 929,514               1,491,039            -                       -                       2,420,553                    
General administration & central services 2,322,216            648,033               -                       271,352               3,241,601                    
Operation of plant 4,018,062            -                       -                       72,973                 4,091,035                    
Transportation 2,078,600            -                       -                       -                       2,078,600                    
Food service 1,332,662            -                       -                       2,384                   1,335,046                    
Community services 667,808               446,358               -                       -                       1,114,166                    
Facility acquisition and construction -                       -                       -                       768,092               768,092                       
Debt service:
   Principal retirement -                       -                       2,930,000            90,000                 3,020,000                    
   Interest and fees -                       -                       688,827               19,538                 708,365                       

   Total Expenditures 18,945,877          19,887,779          3,618,827            1,371,424            43,823,907                  

Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures 13,732,861          (13,819,773)         644,179               (1,040,495)           (483,228)                      

Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Transfers (14,219,773)         13,819,773          -                       400,000               -                               

Net change in fund balance (486,912)              -                       644,179               (640,495)              (483,228)                      

Fund balance, beginning 7,177,502            -                       4,985,509            1,264,141            13,427,152                  

Fund balance, ending 6,690,590$          -$                     5,629,688$          623,646$             12,943,924$                

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
- 6 - 



CENTER SCHOOL DISTRICT #58
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION - MODIFIED CASH BASIS

FIDUCIARY FUND

Certificates of deposit 6,342$         

Held in trust for scholarships 6,342$         

NET POSITION

JUNE 30, 2018

SCHOLARSHIP
FUND

ASSETS

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
- 7 -



CENTER SCHOOL DISTRICT #58
STATEMENT OF CHANGE IN NET POSITION
MODIFIED CASH BASIS - FIDUCIARY FUND

JUNE 30, 2018

SCHOLARSHIP
FUND

Additions
Interest received 83$                    
Contributions -                     

Total additions 83                      

Deductions
Scholarships paid to students -                     
Transfer for student activities (20,194)              

Total deductions (20,194)              

Change in Net Position (20,111)              

Net Position, beginning 26,453               

Net Position, ending 6,342$               

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
- 8 -



CENTER SCHOOL DISTRICT #58 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 
 

 - 9 - 

NOTE A - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Principles Used to Determine Scope of Entity:  The District's reporting entity includes the District's 
governing board and all related organizations. 
 
The combined financial statements of the District include all organizations that raise and hold economic 
resources for the direct benefit of the District. The District has implemented GASB Statement No. 61, The 
Financial Reporting Entity: Omnibus an amendment of GASB Statements No. 14 and No. 34.  GASB 
Statement No. 61 amended GASB Statement No. 14.  GASB Statement No. 61 modifies certain 
requirements for inclusion of component units in the financial reporting entity. 
 
The District has determined that no other outside agency meets the criteria set forth in GASB Statement 
No. 61 and, therefore, no other agency has been included as a component unit in the District's financial 
statements. 
 
Basis of Presentation: The District’s basic financial statements consist of government-wide statements, 
including a statement of net position and a statement of activities, and fund financial statements which 
provide a more detailed level of financial information. 
 

Government-wide Financial Statements - The Statement of Net Position and the Statement of 
Activities display information about the School District as a whole.  The Statement of Net 
Position presents the financial condition of the governmental activities of the District at year-end.  
The Statement of Activities presents a comparison between direct expenditures and program 
revenues for each program or function of the District’s governmental activities.  Direct 
expenditures are those that are specifically associated with a service, program, or department and 
therefore clearly identifiable to a particular function.  Program revenues include amounts paid by 
the recipient of goods or services offered by the program and grants and contributions that are 
restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular program.  Revenues 
which are not classified as program revenues are presented as general revenues of the District.  
The comparison of direct expenditures with program revenues identifies the extent to which each 
governmental function is self-financing or draws from the general revenues of the District. 
 
Fund Financial Statements - During the year, the District segregates transactions related to certain 
District functions or activities in separate funds in order to aid financial management and to 
demonstrate legal compliance. Fund financial statements are designed to present financial 
information of the District at this more detailed level. The focus of governmental fund financial 
statements is on major funds.  Each major fund is presented in a separate column. 

 
Fund Accounting:  The accounts of the District are organized on the basis of funds, each of which is 
considered a separate accounting entity.  The operations of each fund are accounted for with a separate set 
of self-balancing accounts that comprise its assets, liabilities, fund balance, revenues and expenditures.  
District resources are allocated to and accounted for in individual funds based upon the purposes for 
which they are to be spent and the means by which spending activities are controlled.  The following 
funds are used by the District: 
 
Major Governmental Funds: 
 

General Fund:  Accounts for and reports all financial resources not accounted for and 
reported in another fund. 

 
  



CENTER SCHOOL DISTRICT #58 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 
 

 - 10 - 

NOTE A - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

Special Revenue Fund:  Accounts for and reports the proceeds of specific revenue 
sources that are restricted or committed to expenditure for specified purposes other 
than debt service or capital projects. 
 
Debt Service Fund:  Accounts for and reports financial resources that are restricted, 
committed, or assigned to expenditures for principal and interest. 
 
Capital Projects Fund:  Accounts for and reports financial resources that are restricted, 
committed, or assigned to expenditures for capital outlay, including the acquisition or 
construction of capital facilities and other capital assets. 

 
Fiduciary Fund: 
 

Scholarship Fund:  Accounts for assets held on behalf of outside parties.  The fund 
maintains the awarding of scholarships to specific individuals in accordance with the 
terms of scholarship agreements entered into with the donors. 

 
Measurement Focus 
 
Government-wide Financial Statements:  The government-wide financial statements are prepared using 
the total economic resources measurement focus.  All assets and liabilities associated with the operation 
of the District are included on the Statement of Net Position. 
 
Fund Financial Statements:  All governmental funds are accounted for using a flow of current financial 
resources measurement focus.  With this measurement of focus, only current assets and current liabilities 
generally are included on the balance sheet.  The Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in 
Fund Balances reports on the sources (revenues and other financing sources) and uses (expenditures and 
other financing uses) of current financial resources.  This approach does not differ from the manner in 
which the governmental activities of the district-wide financial statements are prepared. 
 
Basis of Accounting:  In the government-wide Statement of Net Position and Statement of Activities and 
the fund financial statements, governmental activities are presented using the modified cash basis of 
accounting.  This basis recognizes assets, liabilities, net position/fund equity, revenues and expenditures 
when they result from cash transactions.  Salaries for teachers are recorded as expenditures paid in the 
fiscal year in which the obligations under the salary contracts are fulfilled by the teachers, even though a 
portion of such salaries are not paid until July of the following fiscal year.  This basis is a comprehensive 
basis of accounting other than accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
Pooled Cash and Temporary Investments:  Cash resources of the individual funds are combined to form a 
pool of cash and temporary investments which is managed by the District's Treasurer.  Interest income 
received is allocated to contributing funds based on cash and temporary investment balances.  The 
investment pool is available for use by all funds except the Debt Service Fund (State law requires that all 
deposits of the Debt Service Fund be kept separate and apart from all other funds of the District). 
 
Vacation, Personal and Short-Term Leave:  Vacation time, personal days, and short-term leave are 
considered as expenditures in the year paid. Short-term leave accumulation is unlimited and personal 
leave may be accumulated up to a total of 5 days. Short-term leave amounts unused and which are vested 
in the employee are payable upon retirement or separation at $35 per day for certified staff and $31 per 
day for non-certified staff.  



CENTER SCHOOL DISTRICT #58 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 
 

 - 11 - 

NOTE A - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
Teachers’ Salaries:  Payroll checks written and held in June 2018, for July payrolls from 2017-2018 
contracts in the amount of $1,093,379 are included in the financial statements as an expenditure paid in 
the month of June. 
 
OPEB Liabilities:  As the District uses the modified cash basis of accounting, OPEB liabilities are not 
reported in these financial statements.  The District has not provided for an estimate of this liability to be 
performed. 
 
NOTE B - DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS 
 
Custodial credit risk:  For deposits, custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of bank failure, the 
District’s deposits may not be returned to it.  At June 30, 2018, the District’s total deposits were 
$2,547,112 of which $255,086 were covered by FDIC insurance and $2,292,026 were covered by 
securities held by the bank in the District’s name. 
 
Interest rate risk:   Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair 
value of an investment.  The District has a formal investment policy that minimizes the risk that the 
market value of securities in the portfolio will fall due to changes in general interest rates by structuring 
the investment portfolio so that securities mature to meet cash requirements for ongoing operations, 
thereby avoiding the need to sell securities on the open market prior to maturity and investing operating 
funds primarily in shorter term securities. 
 
Credit risk:  Credit risk is defined as the risk that an issuer or other counterparts to an investment in debt 
securities will not fulfill its obligation.  The District does not have a formal policy that limits its 
investment choices other than the limitations of state law. 
 
The District is participating in the program created by Senate Bill 301 administered by the Missouri 
Health and Educational Authority (MOHEFA).  The program intercepts a portion of state aid and places 
those funds in escrow to pay the current debt service requirement of the District’s outstanding bonds.  The 
District’s investments in MOHEFA are not rated by any of the nationally recognized statistical rating 
organizations.  The District had $1,521,415 invested with MOHEFA at June 30, 2018. 
 
The District also has an escrow account to fund the debt service for the Series 2010B Qualified School 
Construction Bonds.  A portion of state aid is intercepted and placed in this fund to pay the current debt 
service requirement of the Series 2010B bonds.  The District had $62,608 invested in this account at June 
30, 2018. 
 
MOSIP is professionally managed by PFM Asset Management LLC, a registered investment adviser, who 
is one of the nations’ largest administrators of local government investment programs.  All investments in 
the MOSIP pool are rated AAAm by Standard and Poor’s and meet the permitted investments statutes for 
Missouri Schools.  The District had $11,771,337 invested with MOSIP at June 30, 2018. 
 
Concentration of credit risk:  Concentration of credit risk is the risk loss attributed to the magnitude of a 
government’s investment in a single user.  The District’s investment policy places no limit on the amount 
the District may invest in any one issuer. 
 
  



CENTER SCHOOL DISTRICT #58 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 
 

 - 12 - 

NOTE C - INSURANCE 
 
The District is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of 
assets; injuries to employees; and natural disasters.  The District maintains commercial insurance to 
protect itself from such risks.   
 
NOTE D - TAXES 
 
Property taxes attach as an enforceable lien on property as of January 1.  Taxes are levied on November 1 
and payable by December 31.  Jackson County collects the property tax and remits it to the District.  The 
District also receives sales tax collected by the state and remitted based on weighted average daily 
attendance.  The District is required to reduce its property tax levy by one-half the amount of sales tax 
estimated to be received in the subsequent calendar year.  The District’s voters have approved a waiver of 
the rollback and, therefore, the District was not required to reduce its levy for the calendar year 2017. 
 
The assessed valuation of the tangible taxable property for the calendar year 2017 for purposes of local 
taxation was: 
 

Real Estate:
    Residential 207,755,074$     
    Agricultural 27,035              
    Commercial 141,143,623      
Personal Property 84,190,243        

433,115,975$      
 
The tax levy per $100 of the assessed valuation of tangible taxable property for the calendar year 2017 for 
purposes of local taxation was: 
 

Unadjusted Adjusted
General Fund 5.5547$       5.5547$       
Special Revenue Fund -              -              
Debt Service Fund 0.9000         0.9000         
Capital Projects Fund 0.0600         0.0600         

6.5147$       6.5147$        
 
The receipts of current and delinquent property taxes during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018, 
aggregated approximately 99 percent of the current assessment computed on the basis of the levy as 
shown above. 
 
  



CENTER SCHOOL DISTRICT #58 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 
 

 - 13 - 

NOTE E - RETIREMENT PLAN 
 
PSRS is a mandatory cost-sharing multiple employer retirement system for all full-time certificated 
employees and certain part-time certificated employees of all public school districts in Missouri (except 
the school districts of St. Louis and Kansas City) and all public community colleges.  PSRS also includes 
certificated employees of PSRS, Missouri State Teachers' Association, Missouri State High School 
Activities Association, and certain employees of the state of Missouri who elected to remain covered by 
PSRS under legislation enacted in 1986, 1987 and 1989.  The majority of PSRS members are exempt 
from Social Security contributions.  In some instances, positions may be determined not to be exempt 
from Social Security contributions.  Any PSRS member who is required to contribute to Social Security 
comes under the requirements of Section 169.070 (9) RSMo, known as the "2/3’s statute."  PSRS 
members required to contribute to Social Security are required to contribute two-thirds of the approved 
PSRS contribution rate and their employer is required to match the contribution.  The members' benefits 
are further calculated at two-thirds the normal benefit amount.  A Comprehensive Annual Financial 
Report ("CAFR”) can be obtained at www.psrs-peers.org. 
 
PSRS is a defined benefit plan providing retirement, disability, and death/survivor benefits.  Members are 
vested for service retirement benefits after accruing five years of service.  Individuals who (a) are at least 
age 60 and have a minimum of 5 years of service, (b) have 30 years of service or (c) qualify for benefits 
under the "Rule of 80" (service and age total at least 80) are entitled to a monthly benefit for life, which is 
calculated using a 2.5% benefit factor.  Beginning July 1, 2001, and ending July 1, 2014, a 2.55% benefit 
factor is used to calculate benefits for members who have 31 or more years of service.  Actuarially age-
reduced benefits are available for members with five to 24.9 years of service at age 55.  Members who are 
younger than age 55 and who do not qualify under the "Rule of 80" but have between 25 and 29.9 years 
of service may retire with a lesser benefit factor.  Members that are three years beyond normal retirement 
can elect to have their lifetime monthly benefits actuarially reduced in exchange for the right to also 
receive a one-time partial lump sum (PLSO) payment at retirement equal to 12, 24, or 36 times the Single 
Life benefit amount.  A Summary Plan Description detailing the provisions of the plan can be found on 
PSRS' website at www.psrs-peers.org.  Since the prior valuation date, the benefit provisions were 
amended to make permanent an early retirement benefit allowing members to retire at any age after 25 
years of service. 
 
PSRS members were required to contribute 14.5% of their annual covered salary during fiscal year 2018.  
Employers were required to match the contributions made by employees.  The contribution rate is set 
each year by the PSRS Board of Trustees upon the recommendation of the independent actuary within the 
contribution restrictions set in Section 169.030 RSMo.  The annual statutory increase in the total 
contribution rate may not exceed 1% of pay.  Contributions for employees of the State of Missouri were 
made by the state in accordance with the actuarially determined contribution rate needed to fund current 
costs and prior service costs of state employees as authorized in Section 104.342.8 RSMo. 
 
The District’s contributions to PSRS for the year ended June 30, 2018 were $2,483,435.  The District's 
contributions to S-PSRS, the "2/3’s statute", for the year ended June 30, 2018 were $28,066. 
 
  



CENTER SCHOOL DISTRICT #58 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 
 

 - 14 - 

NOTE E - RETIREMENT PLAN (continued) 
 
PEERS is a mandatory cost-sharing multiple employer retirement system for all public school district 
employees (except the school districts of St. Louis and Kansas City), employees of the Missouri 
Association of School Administrators, and community college employees (except the Community 
College of St. Louis).  Employees of covered districts who work 20 or more hours per week on a regular 
basis and who are not contributing members of the Public School Retirement System of Missouri (PSRS) 
must contribute to PEERS. Employees of PSRS who do not hold Missouri educator certificates also 
contribute to PEERS.  PEERS was established as a trust fund by an Act of the Missouri General 
Assembly effective October 13, 1965.  Statutes governing the System are found in Sections 169.600-
169.715 and Sections 169.560-169.595 RSMo.  The statutes place responsibility for the operation of 
PEERS on the Board of Trustees of the Public School Retirement System of Missouri.  A Comprehensive 
Annual Financial Report (“CAFR") can be obtained at www.psrs-peers.org. 
 
PEERS is a defined benefit plan providing service retirement and disability benefits to its members.   
Members are vested for service retirement benefits after accruing five years of service.  Individuals who 
(a) are at least age 60 and have a minimum of five years of service, (b) have 30 years of service, or (c) 
qualify for benefits under the "Rule of 80" (service and age total at least 80) are entitled to a monthly 
benefit for life, which is calculated using a 1.61% benefit factor.  Members qualifying for “Rule of 80" or 
“30-and-out” are entitled to an additional temporary .8% benefit multiplier until reaching minimum Social 
Security age (currently age 62).  Actuarially age-reduced retirement benefits are available with five years 
of service at age 55.  Members who are younger than age 55 and who do not qualify under the "Rule of 
80'' but have between 25 and 29.9 years of service may retire with a lesser benefit factor.  Members that 
are three years beyond normal retirement can elect to have their lifetime monthly benefits actuarially 
reduced in exchange for the right to also receive a one-time partial lump sum (PLSO) payment at 
retirement equal to 12, 24, or 36 times the Single Life benefit amount.  A Summary Plan Description 
detailing the provisions of the plan can be found on PSRS' website at www.psrs-peers.org. 
 
PEERS members were required to contribute 6.86% of their annual covered salary during fiscal year 
2018.  Employers were required to match the contributions made by employees.  The contribution rate is 
set each year by the PSRS Board of Trustees upon the recommendation of the independent actuary within 
the contribution restrictions set in Section 169.030 RSMo.  The annual statutory increase in the total 
contribution rate may not exceed 0.5% of pay. 
 
The District’s contributions to PEERS for the year ended June 30, 2018 were $474,320. 
 
NOTE F - INTERFUND TRANSFERS 
 
During the year, the District transferred $13,819,773 from the General Fund to the Special Revenue Fund 
to avoid deficit spending in the Special Revenue Fund. 
 
The District also made a $400,000 transfer from the General Fund to the Capital Projects Fund for 
necessary capital outlay expenditures. This revenue transfer is capped by an amount calculated annually 
by the Missouri Department of Elementary and Secondary Education (DESE). 
 
  



CENTER SCHOOL DISTRICT #58 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 
 

 - 15 - 

NOTE G - LONG-TERM DEBT 
 
Changes in long-term debt during the fiscal year were as follows: 
 

Beginning Ending Amount Due
Balance Balance Within One

July 1, 2017 Additions Retirements June 30, 2018 Year
Bonds payable 22,554,973$    -$               2,930,000$      19,624,973$    3,155,000$     
Capital leases 873,339          -                213,339           660,000           90,000           

Total 23,428,312$    -$               3,143,339$      20,284,973$    3,245,000$     

NOTE H - BONDS PAYABLE 
 
Bonds payable at June 30, 2018, consist of: 
 

Series 2010A general obligation building bonds
due on March 1, 2025; interest at 5.08 to 5.28% 3,945,000$       

Series 2010B general obligation qualified school
construction bonds due in varying annual installments
through March 1, 2027; interest at 5.58% 2,805,000         

Series 2012 general obligation refunding bonds
due in varying annual installments through
March 1, 2022; interest at 2.00 to 2.50% 5,009,973         

Series 2013 taxable general obligation refunding bonds
due in varying annual installments through
March 1, 2020; interest at 3.00% 1,070,000         

Series 2016 general obligation refunding bonds
due in varing annual installments through 
March 1, 2021; interest at 2.00% to 4.887% 6,795,000         

19,624,973$     

 
  



CENTER SCHOOL DISTRICT #58 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 
 

 - 16 - 

NOTE H - BONDS PAYABLE (continued) 
 
Debt service requirements to maturity are: 
 

Year Ending
June 30, Principal Interest Total

2019 3,155,000$      584,496$         3,739,496$      
2020 3,265,000        473,346          3,738,346        
2021 2,864,973        969,423          3,834,396        
2022 3,590,000        230,246          3,820,246        
2023 1,245,000        140,496          1,385,496        
2024 1,310,000        99,386            1,409,386        
2025 1,390,000        55,278            1,445,278        
2026 -                 7,574              7,574              
2027 2,805,000        7,574              2,812,574        
Total 19,624,973$    2,567,819$      22,192,792$    

 
NOTE I - CAPITAL LEASE OBLIGATIONS 
 
On September 1, 2014, the District entered into a lease purchase agreement in the amount of $493,356 to 
finance the cost of acquiring copiers in various District buildings.  The lease is for four years, requiring 
quarterly payments of $30,835, interest at 0%.  This lease was paid off June 2018. 
 
On April 7, 2015, the District issued $920,000 Series 2015 Refunding Certificates of Participation to 
refund the District’s outstanding Series 2009 Certificates of Participation which were issued to pay the 
cost of acquiring and installing energy conservation improvements in various District buildings.  The 
lease obligation is for ten years, requiring varying annual installments through April 2025; interest 
ranging from 1.00% to 2.75%.  The balance at June 30, 2018 was $660,000. 
 
Future minimum lease payments on the above leases are as follows: 
 

Year Ending
June 30, Principal Interest Total

2019 90,000$          15,625$          105,625$         
2020 90,000            13,825            103,825          
2021 95,000            12,025            107,025          
2022 90,000            10,125            100,125          
2023 95,000            7,875              102,875          
2024 100,000          5,500              105,500          
2025 100,000          2,750              102,750          

Total 660,000$         67,725$          727,725$         

 
 
  



CENTER SCHOOL DISTRICT #58 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 
 

 - 17 - 

NOTE J - FUND BALANCES - GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 
 
Statement No. 54 of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB 54) establishes accounting 
and financial reporting standards for all governments that report governmental funds.  GASB 54 
establishes criteria for classifying fund balances and clarifies definitions for governmental fund types. 
 
For committed fund balances (as defined in GASB 54), the District’s highest level of decision-making 
authority is the Board of Education.  Restrictions are authorized by the Board based on recommended 
fund placement in the original adopted and later revised budget, as well as by Board resolution.  Further, 
the Board delegates the authority to assign amounts for specific purpose(s) to the superintendent or 
designee. 
 

Nonspendable fund balance - Represents amounts that cannot be spent due to form or are required to 
be maintained intact. 

 
Restricted fund balance - Represents amounts constrained for a specific purpose - externally imposed 
by creditors, grantors, contributors or imposed by law. 

 
Committed fund balance - Represents amounts designated for a special purpose by a government 
using its highest level of decision-making authority - formal action by the Board would make the 
commitment and only the Board can remove such commitment. 

 
Assigned fund balance - Represents amounts constrained by the Board or official designated by the 
Board to be used for a specific purpose.  For all governmental funds other than the General Fund - the 
amount reported as assigned should not result in a deficit in unassigned fund balance. 

 
Unassigned fund balance - Residual classification for the General Fund.  In other funds there will be 
no unassigned fund balance, unless a negative fund balance exists. 
 

For all funds except the Debt Service Fund, the Board may consider the order of spending as restricted, 
committed, assigned, and then unassigned amounts as available.  For the Debt Service Fund, the Board 
may approve unrestricted or assigned balances to be spent prior to restricted balances, allowing the 
spending of interest prior to principal.  The yearend audit process will establish the fund balance 
restriction recommendations for classifying remaining fund balances as required by GASB 54. 
 
State rules for public school finance require the Teachers’ Fund (Special Revenue Fund) be used to 
account for revenue sources legally restricted to expenditures for the purpose of teachers’ salaries and 
benefits as outlined by the Annual Secretary of the Board Report (ASBR).  Substantial sources of revenue 
for the Teachers’ Fund will be through transfers from General Fund balances and the required state basic 
formula and Proposition C sales tax allocations.  The Board establishes the Teachers’ Fund as a Special 
Revenue Fund and a major fund in the financial statements. 
 
The District shall maintain sufficient financial reserves to provide for prudent financial management and 
for adequacy of cash flow to support operations.  The operating fund balance is the combined fund 
balances for the General and Special Revenue Funds.  These reserves include elements for an operating 
reserve and a financial stabilization reserve.  The appropriate amount for the operating reserve fund 
should be reviewed periodically. 
 
As fund balances approach 15 percent Board-established minimum reserve balance, the Board may 
determine necessary action to include, but not be limited to, a levy election or significant budget reduction 
measures. 



CENTER SCHOOL DISTRICT #58 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 
 

 - 18 - 

NOTE J - FUND BALANCES - GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS (continued) 
 
As of June 30, 2018, fund balances are composed of the following: 
 

Special Debt Capital 
General Revenue Service Projects
Fund Fund Fund Fund

Restricted:
     Debt service -$              -$           5,629,688$      -$            
Assigned:
     Student activities 97,686           -            -                 -              
     Food service 719,725         -            -                 -              
     Capital projects -                -            -                 623,646       
Total Assigned 817,411         -            -                 623,646       

Unassigned 5,873,179      -            -                 -              

Total fund balances 6,690,590$    -$           5,629,688$      623,646$      

 
 
NOTE K - LITIGATION 
 
The District is a defendant in a pending lawsuit.  At this time, outcomes cannot be predicted, however, the 
District is vigorously defending against the claim. 
 
NOTE L - TAX ABATEMENT 
 
The City of Kansas City has entered into agreements with various developers for real property tax 
abatements.  The District’s 2017 property tax revenue was reduced by $1,131,000 under these 
agreements.   
 
The District also received $178,000 associated with the abated taxes from the City of Kansas City in 
fiscal year ended June 30, 2018. 
 



 

 - 19 - 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



ORIGINAL FINAL ACTUAL VARIANCE

REVENUES:
Local 26,409,853$     27,025,251$     27,028,138$     2,887$             
County 765,000           647,702           647,701           (1)                     
State 2,817,590        2,451,334        2,451,330        (4)                     
Federal 2,915,633        2,502,480        2,551,569        49,089             
Other -                   -                   -                   -                   

        
Total Revenues 32,908,076      32,626,767      32,678,738      51,971             

EXPENDITURES:
Instruction 4,902,395        5,576,462        5,190,626        385,836           
Student activities 301,874 293,907 314,121 (20,214)            
Student services 912,545           911,728           1,000,550        (88,822)            
Instruction staff support 921,183           1,121,505        1,091,718        29,787             
Building administration 1,374,881        852,359           929,514           (77,155)            
General administration & central services 1,724,076        2,202,102        2,322,216        (120,114)          
Operation of plant 3,881,679        3,804,955        4,018,062        (213,107)          
Transportation 1,725,442        2,078,614        2,078,600        14                    
Food service 1,375,833        1,324,253        1,332,662        (8,409)              
Community services 935,105           731,044           667,808           63,236             

Facility acquisition and construction -                   -                   -                   -                   
Debt service:
   Principal retirement -                   -                   -                   -                   
   Interest and fees -                   -                   -                   -                   

   Total Expenditures 18,055,013      18,896,929      18,945,877      (48,948)            

Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures 14,853,063      13,729,838      13,732,861      3,023               

Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Transfers (14,784,229)     (14,220,147)     (14,219,773)     374                  

Net change in fund balance 68,834             (490,309)          (486,912)          3,397               

Fund balance, beginning 7,177,502        7,177,502        7,177,502        -                   

Fund balance, ending 7,246,336$      6,687,193$      6,690,590$      3,397$             

BUDGET

CENTER SCHOOL DISTRICT #58
BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE - MODIFIED CASH BASIS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018
GENERAL FUND

- 20 -



ORIGINAL FINAL ACTUAL VARIANCE

REVENUES:
Local 1,012,500$       982,299$          981,598$          (701)$                
County 19,000              25,153              25,036              (117)                  
State 2,650,000         3,008,516         3,008,514         (2)                      
Federal 1,306,769         1,973,942         1,978,542         4,600                
Other 75,000              74,318              74,316              (2)                      

Total Revenues 5,063,269         6,064,228         6,068,006         3,778                

EXPENDITURES:
Instruction 15,674,091       15,695,771       15,414,738       281,033            
Student activities 328,816 328,816 352,324 (23,508)             
Student services 461,605            461,605            522,254            (60,649)             
Instruction staff support 980,964            996,161            1,013,033         (16,872)             
Building administration 1,451,778         1,451,778         1,491,039         (39,261)             
General administration & central services 507,883            507,883            648,033            (140,150)           
Operation of plant -                   -                   -                   -                    
Transportation -                   -                   -                   -                    
Food service -                   -                   -                   -                    
Community services 442,361            442,361            446,358            (3,997)               
Facility acquisition and construction -                   -                   -                   -                    
Debt service:
   Principal retirement -                   -                   -                   -                    
   Interest and fees -                   -                   -                   -                    

   Total Expenditures 19,847,498       19,884,375       19,887,779       (3,404)               

Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures (14,784,229)     (13,820,147)     (13,819,773)     374                   

Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Transfers 14,784,229     13,820,147     13,819,773     (374)                 

Net change in fund balance -                   -                   -                   -                    

Fund balance, beginning -                   -                   -                   -                    

Fund balance, ending -$                 -$                 -$                 -$                  

BUDGET

CENTER SCHOOL DISTRICT #58
BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE - MODIFIED CASH BASIS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018
SPECIAL REVENUE FUND

- 21 -



ORIGINAL FINAL ACTUAL VARIANCE

REVENUES:
Local 4,022,856$       4,028,188$       4,034,230$      6,042$              
County 261,000            228,776            228,776           -                    
State -                   -                   -                   -                    
Federal -                   -                   -                   -                    
Other -                   -                   -                   -                    

Total Revenues 4,283,856         4,256,964         4,263,006        6,042                

EXPENDITURES:
Instruction -                   -                   -                   -                    
Student activities -                   -                   -                   -                    
Student services -                   -                   -                   -                    
Instruction staff support -                   -                   -                   -                    
Building administration -                   -                   -                   -                    
General administration & central services -                   -                   -                   -                    
Operation of plant -                   -                   -                   -                    
Transportation -                   -                   -                   -                    
Food service -                   -                   -                   -                    
Community services -                   -                   -                   -                    
Facility acquisition and construction -                   -                   -                   -                    
Debt service:
   Principal retirement 2,930,000         2,930,000         2,930,000        -                    
   Interest and fees 895,815            688,827            688,827           -                    

   Total Expenditures 3,825,815         3,618,827         3,618,827        -                    

Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures 458,041            638,137            644,179           6,042                

Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Proceeds from sale of bonds -                   -                   -                   -                    

Net change in fund balance 458,041            638,137            644,179           6,042                

Fund balance, beginning 4,985,509         4,985,509         4,985,509        -                    

Fund balance, ending 5,443,550$       5,623,646$       5,629,688$      6,042$              

BUDGET

CENTER SCHOOL DISTRICT #58
BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE - MODIFIED CASH BASIS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018
DEBT SERVICE FUND

- 22 -



ORIGINAL FINAL ACTUAL VARIANCE

REVENUES:
Local 344,518$         (221,868)$        321,143$         543,011$         
County 12,000             9,787               9,786               (1)                     
State 3,000               -                   -                   -                   
Federal -                   -                   -                   -                   
Other -                   -                   -                   -                   

Total Revenues 359,518           (212,081)          330,929           543,010           

EXPENDITURES:
Instruction 62,000             131,284           131,277           7                      
Student activities -                   -                   -                   -                   
Student services 3,200               -                   -                   -                   
Instruction staff support 5,300               15,808             15,808             -                   
Building administration -                   -                   -                   -                   
General administration & central services 194,000           271,353           271,352           1                      
Operation of plant 60,000             72,975             72,973             2                      
Transportation -                   -                   -                   -                   
Food service 3,000               2,385               2,384               1                      
Community services -                   -                   -                   -                   
Facility acquisition and construction 824,000           768,092           768,092           -                   
Debt service:
   Principal retirement 85,000 90,000             90,000             -                   
   Interest and fees 19,000             19,538             19,538             -                   

   Total Expenditures 1,255,500        1,371,435        1,371,424        11                    

Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures (895,982)          (1,583,516)       (1,040,495)       543,021           

Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Transfers 895,982         400,000         400,000         -                  

Net change in fund balance -                   (1,183,516)       (640,495)          543,021           

Fund balance, beginning 1,264,141        1,264,141        1,264,141        -                   

Fund balance, ending 1,264,141$      80,625$           623,646$         543,021$         

BUDGET

CENTER SCHOOL DISTRICT #58
BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE - MODIFIED CASH BASIS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018
CAPITAL PROJECTS FUND

- 23 -



CENTER SCHOOL DISTRICT #58 
NOTES TO THE BUDGETARY COMPARISION SCHEDULE 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 
 

 - 24 - 

Budgetary Process 
 
The District follows these procedures in establishing the budgetary data reflected in the financial 
statements: 
 

1. In accordance with Chapter 67, RSMo, the District adopts a budget for each fund. 
 

2. Prior to July, the superintendent, who serves as the budget officer, submits to the Board 
of Education a proposed budget for the fiscal year beginning on the following July 1.  
The proposed budget includes estimated revenues and proposed expenditures for all 
funds.  Budgeted expenditures cannot exceed beginning available monies plus estimated 
revenues for the year. 

 
3. A public hearing is conducted to obtain taxpayer comments.  Prior to its approval by the 

Board of Education, the budget document is available for public inspection. 
 

4. Prior to July 1, the budget is legally enacted by a vote of the Board of Education. 
 

5. Subsequent to its formal approval of the budget, the Board of Education has the authority 
to make necessary adjustments to the budget by formal vote of the Board.  Adjustments 
made during the year are reflected in the final budget information included in the 
financial statements. 

 
6. Budgets for District funds are prepared and adopted on the modified cash basis (budget 

basis), recognizing revenues when collected and expenditures when paid, except for 
teachers’ salaries as discussed in Note A. 

 
Budgetary Compliance 
 
Actual expentitures of $18,945,877 in the General Fund exceeded budgeted amounts of $18,896,929 by 
$48,948.  Also, actual expenditures of $19,887,779 in the Special Revenue Fund exceeded budgeted 
amounts of $19,884,375 by $3,404. 
 
 



CENTER SCHOOL DISTRICT #58
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES COLLECTED BY SOURCE 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

SPECIAL DEBT CAPITAL
GENERAL REVENUE SERVICE PROJECTS

FUND FUND FUND FUND TOTAL
LOCAL:

Property tax 23,887,018$       -$                 3,870,290$      258,021$     28,015,329$          
 Sales tax 1,635,997          981,598           -                   -              2,617,595              
Financial institution tax 32,196               -                   5,217               348             37,761                   
M & M surtax 501,089             -                   81,720             5,448          588,257                 
In lieu of tax 176,464             -                   28,592             1,906          206,962                 
Earnings on investments 71,579               -                   48,411             5,914          125,904                 
Food service 162,280             -                   -                   -              162,280                 

Student activities 283,219             -                   -                   -              283,219                 
Other local revenue 278,296             -                   -                   49,506         327,802                 

     Total Local 27,028,138        981,598           4,034,230        321,143       32,365,109            

COUNTY:
Fines and escheats -                     25,036             -                   -              25,036                   

State assessed utilities 409,900             -                   190,246           7,217          607,363                 

County stock insurance fund 237,801             -                   38,530             2,569          278,900                 

     Total County 647,701             25,036             228,776           9,786          911,299                 

STATE:
Basic formula 806,303             2,418,910        -                   -              3,225,213              
Transportation 255,563             -                   -                   -              255,563                 
Early Childhood Special Ed. -                     589,133           -                   -              589,133                 
Basic formula - Classroom Trust Fund 968,909             -                   -                   -              968,909                 

Career education -                     471                  -                   -              471                        
Food service 11,844               -                   -                   -              11,844                   
Educational Screening Program 95,100               -                   -                   -              95,100                   
Residential placement/Excess cost 18,338               -                   -                   -              18,338                   
High Need Fund 295,273             -                   -                   -              295,273                 

     Total State 2,451,330          3,008,514        -                   -              5,459,844              
FEDERAL:

Title I -                     906,176           -                   -              906,176                 
Title II A -                     107,267           -                   -              107,267                 
Title III 19,032               -                   -                   -              19,032                   
Title IV A 1,527 -                   -                   -              1,527                     
Impact Aid 271,363             -                   -                   -              271,363                 
Headstart -                     878,304           -                   -              878,304                 
Career education 48,102               -                   -                   -              48,102                   
IDEA grants 10,631               -                   -                   -              10,631                   
Medicaid 124,714             -                   -                   -              124,714                 

Individuals with Disabilities 824,919 -                   -                   -              824,919                 
Child Nutrition 1,235,875          -                   -                   -              1,235,875              
Early Childhood Special Ed. -                     82,195             -                   -              82,195                   

Other federal revenue 15,406               4,600               -                   -              20,006                   

     Total Federal 2,551,569          1,978,542      -                 -              4,530,111             
OTHER:

Contracted educational services -                     74,316             -                   -              74,316                   

Total Revenues Collected 32,678,738$       6,068,006$      4,263,006$      330,929$     43,340,679$          

- 25 -



2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Local 32,365,109$         31,671,660$         30,775,034$         28,491,606$         28,955,723$       
County 911,299                1,044,927 907,508 792,911 578,336
State 5,459,844             5,553,485 4,893,730 4,942,029 4,616,650
Federal 4,530,111             3,840,709 3,987,784 3,641,650 3,674,126
Other 74,316                  83,603                 81,513                41,061                 68,256              

Total 43,340,679$         42,194,384$         40,645,569$        37,909,257$         37,893,091$      

CENTER SCHOOL DISTRICT #58
COMPARISON OF REVENUES COLLECTED BY SOURCE

FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2018, 2017, 2016, 2015 AND 2014

Note: The above graphs do not include proceeds from bonds.

75%

2%

13%
10%

0%

76%

2%

13%
9%

0%

76%

2%

12% 10%

0%

75%

2%

13%
10%

0%

76%

2%

12% 10%

0%
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

Local County State Federal Other

2018

2017

2016

2015

2014

- 26 -



SPECIAL DEBT CAPITAL 
GENERAL REVENUE SERVICE PROJECTS 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

FUND FUND FUND FUND TOTALS TOTALS TOTALS TOTALS TOTALS

Salaries 6,321,419$   15,435,396$ -$              -$              21,756,815$  20,535,228$  20,189,302$  20,526,438$  20,422,013$  

Employee benefits 2,307,403     4,452,383     -                -                6,759,786      6,156,868 5,868,978 5,924,328 6,090,030
Purchased services 8,002,597     -                -                -                8,002,597      7,141,382 6,436,239 6,335,990 6,089,779
Supplies 2,314,458     -                -                2,314,458      2,202,127 2,041,443 1,944,071 2,235,847
Capital outlay -                -                -                1,261,886     1,261,886      666,657 669,410 501,750 969,723
Principal -                -                2,930,000     90,000          3,020,000      3,073,339 14,428,339 2,800,000 13,050,000
Interest and fees -                -                688,827        19,538          708,365         792,872         1,102,350      1,083,040      1,685,267      

18,945,877$ 19,887,779$ 3,618,827$   1,371,424$   43,823,907$  40,568,473$  50,736,061$  39,115,617$  50,542,659$  

Note:  The above graphs do not include expenditures for debt service or for capital improvements.

FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2018, 2017, 2016, 2015 AND 2014
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES PAID BY OBJECT 

CENTER SCHOOL DISTRICT #58

73%

20%

6%
1%

73%

19%

6% 2%

74%

18%

6%
2%

75%

18%

6%
1%

75%

17%

6%
2%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

Salaries and employee benefits Puchased services Supplies Capital outlay

2018

2017

2016

2015

2014

- 27 -



General and Special Revenue Funds 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Total Fund Balances 7,444,250$        6,332,316$        6,711,003$        7,177,502$        6,690,590$        

Total Expenditures 34,837,669        34,734,194        34,534,961        36,035,606        38,833,656        

Reserve Ratio 21.37% 18.23% 19.43% 19.92% 17.23%

Average Daily Attendance 2,255.94            2,306.47            2,385.91            2,337.58            2,359.81            

CENTER SCHOOL DISTRICT #58
SELECTED TRENDS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2014 THROUGH 2018

0.00%

5.00%

10.00%

15.00%

20.00%

25.00%

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Reserve Ratio

 2,100

 2,150

 2,200

 2,250

 2,300

 2,350

 2,400

 2,450

 2,500

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Average Daily Attendance

- 28 -



CENTER SCHOOL DISTRICT #58 
SCHEDULE OF SELECTED STATISTICS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 

County District Number 048-080 

 - 29 - 

 
1. CALENDAR 
 

A. Standard day length (SDL) - The total number of hours between the starting time of the first class 
and the dismissal time of the last class, minus the time allowed for lunch and one passing time, 
and minus Channel One time. Reported with 4 decimal places.  

 
Grades K-5   6.5000 

   Grades 6-8   6.5000 
   Grade 9    6.5000 
   Grades 10-12   6.5000 

    
B. The number of actual calendar hours classes were in session and pupils were under the direction 

of teachers during this school year was as follows: 
 

   Grades K-5   1,110.00 
   Grades 6-8   1,112.50 
   Grade 9    1,112.50 
   Grades 10-12   1,106.00 

    
C. The number of days classes were in session and pupils were under the direction of teachers during 

this school year was 175 days for grades K - 9, 174 days for grades 10 - 12. 
 
2. AVERAGE DAILY ATTENDANCE  
 

Grades K-12 2,304.01    
Grades K-12 Remedial 2.67          
Resident II 14.88         
Summer School 38.25         
Total Average Daily Attendance 2,359.81     

 
3. SEPTEMBER MEMBERSHIP 
 

September Membership FTE Count: 2,475.08 
 

4. FREE AND REDUCED PRICE LUNCH FTE COUNT (Section 163.011(6), RSMo) 
 

State FTE Total: Free: 1,712.52 
 Reduced:    116.00 
 Total 1,828.52 

 
5. FINANCE 
 

A. As required by Section 162.401, RSMo. a bond was purchased for the District’s treasurer in the 
amount of:  $100,000 

 
B. The District’s deposits were secured during the year as required by Section 110.010 and 110.020, 

RSMo. True 
  



CENTER SCHOOL DISTRICT #58 
SCHEDULE OF SELECTED STATISTICS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 

County District Number 048-080 

 - 30 - 

 
5. FINANCE (continued) 
 

C. The District maintained a separate bank account for its Debt Service Fund in accordance with 
Section 165.011, RSMo. True 
 

D. Salaries reported for educators in the October Core Data cycle are supported by payroll/contract 
records. True 

 
E. If a $162,326 or 7% x SAT x WADA transfer was made in excess of adjusted expenditures, did 

the Board approve a resolution to make the transfer, which identified the specific projects to be 
funded by the transfer and an expected expenditure date for the projects to be undertaken?     N/A 

 
F. The District published a summary of the prior year’s audit report within thirty days of the receipt 

of the audit pursuant to Section 165.121, RSMo. True 
 
G. The District has a professional development committee plan adopted by the Board with the 

professional development committee plan identifying the expenditure of seventy-five percent 
(75%) of one percent (1%) of the current year basic formula apportionment. True 

 
H. The amount spent for approved professional development committee plan activities was: $32,250 

 
6. TRANSPORTATION (Section 163.161, RSMo.) 

 
A. The school transportation allowable costs substantially conform to 5 CSR 30-261.040, Allowable 

Costs for State Transportation Aid. True 
 

B. The District’s school transportation ridership records are maintained in a manner to accurately 
disclose in all material respects the average number of regular riders transported. True 

 
C. Based on the ridership records, the average number of students (non-disabled K-12, K-12 

students with disabilities and career education) transported on a regular basis (ADT) was: 
 Eligible ADT:  1,195.00 
 Ineligible ADT:         0.00 

 
D. The District’s transportation odometer mileage records are maintained in a manner to accurately 

disclose in all material respects the eligible and ineligible mileage for the year. True 
 

E. Actual odometer records show the total district-operated and contracted mileage for the year was: 
 309,122 

 
 Of this total, the eligible non-disabled and students with disabilities route miles and the ineligible 

non-route and disapproved miles (combined) was: Eligible miles: 250,511 
 Ineligible miles (non-route/disapproved):   58,611 
 

F. Number of days the District operated the school transportation system during the regular school 
year:        175 

 
 



FEDERAL GRANTOR/ FEDERAL 
PASS-THROUGH GRANTOR/ CFDA PASS-THROUGH
     PROGRAM TITLE NUMBER GRANTOR NUMBER EXPENDITURES

U.S. Department of Agriculture

Passed-through Missouri Department
of Elementary and Secondary Education:

  Child Nutrition Cluster:
     School Breakfast Program 10.553 048-080 322,172$       
     National School Lunch Program 10.555 048-080 913,703         
     Non Cash: Food Distribution 10.555 048-080 132,357         

          Total Child Nutrition Cluster 1,368,232      

U.S. Department of Education

Passed-through Missouri Department
of Elementary and Secondary Education:

  Special Education Cluster (IDEA):
    Special Education - Grants to States 84.027A 048-080 770,743         
    Special Education - Preschool Grants 84.173A 048-080 18,295           

          Total Special Education Cluster (IDEA) 789,038         

  Title I - Grants to Local Educational Agencies 84.010A 048-080 823,512         

  Improving Teacher Quality State Grants 84.367A 048-080 91,699           

  English Language Acquisition Grants 84.365A 048-080 18,541           

  Student Support and Academic Enrichment Program 84.424A 048-080 4,321             

  Passed-through Blue Springs School District:
    Science and Math Matters Grant 84.366B 5,600             

  Passed-through Raytown School District:
    Perkins IV - Career Education Mentoring Program 84.048A 53,447           

Direct:
  Title VII,  Impact Aid 84.041 271,363         

        Total U.S. Department of Education 2,057,521      

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services

Passed-through Mid-America Regional Council:

   Head Start 93.600 589,356         

Passed-through Missouri Department of Health and

Senior Services:

     Chronic Disease Prevention and Control 93.070 DH170004001 14,910           

          Total U.S. Department of Health and Human Services 604,266         

Total Expenditures of Federal Awards 4,030,019$    

Note 1. Basis of Presentation

Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards (the "Schedule") includes the federal award activity of Center School
District #58 under programs of the federal government for the year ended June 30, 2018. The information in this Schedule is
presented in accordance with the requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Because the Schedule presents
only a selected portion of the operations of Center School District #58, it is not intended to and does not present the financial
position, change in net position or cash flows of Center School District #58.

Expenditures reported on the Schedule are reported on the modified cash basis of accounting. Such expenditures are recognized
following the cost principles contained in the Uniform Guidance, wherein certain types of expenditures are not allowable or are
limited as to reimbursement. Center School District #58 has elected not to use the 10-percent de minimis indirect cost rate allowed
under the Uniform Guidance.

CENTER SCHOOL DISTRICT #58
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

- 31 -



 

 - 32 - 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

INTERNAL CONTROL AND COMPLIANCE 



 
 

WESTBROOK  &  CO.,  P.C. 
Certified Public Accountants 

 
 

REPORT ON ADMINISTRATION’S ASSERTIONS 
ABOUT COMPLIANCE WITH SPECIFIED 

REQUIREMENTS OF MISSOURI LAWS AND REGULATIONS 
 

 
Member, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants; Missouri Society of Certified Public Accountants 

 
Telephone:     Richmond: (816) 776-3584      KC Line: (816) 470-3584      Carrollton: (660) 542-0102 

Fax:       Richmond: (816) 470-7100      Carrollton: (660) 542-3959 
Website: www.westbrookcpa.com 

 
 

- 33 - 

749 Driskill Drive 
Richmond, MO  64085 

18 North Folger 
Carrollton, MO 64633 

 
 
 
 
 
To the Board of Education 
Center School District #58 
 
We have audited the administration's assertions, included in its representation letter dated November 14, 
2018, that Center School District #58 complied with the requirements of Missouri Laws and Regulations 
regarding budgetary and disbursement procedures; accurate disclosure by the District's attendance records 
of average daily attendance, resident membership on the last Wednesday of September, 2017 and the 
number of students eligible to receive free or reduced price lunches on the last Wednesday of January, 
2018; and accurate disclosure by the District's pupil transportation records of the average students 
scheduled to be transported eligible and ineligible for state aid, the number of miles eligible and ineligible 
for state aid and the allowable costs for pupil transportation during the year ended June 30, 2018. As 
discussed in that representation letter, administration is responsible for the District's compliance with 
those requirements.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the administration's assertions about 
the District's compliance based on our audit. 
 
Our audit was made in accordance with standards established by the American Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants and, accordingly, included examining evidence supporting compliance with the 
specified laws and regulations, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary under 
the circumstances.  We believe that our examination provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.  Our 
opinion does not provide a legal determination on the District's compliance with specified requirements. 
 
In our opinion, the administration's assertions that the District complied with the aforementioned 
requirements for the year ended June 30, 2018 are fairly stated in all material respects. 
 
We also noted immaterial instances of noncompliance with the aforementioned requirements that we have 
reported to the administration of the District in the accompanying Schedule of State Findings. 
 
This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Board of Education, administration and 
the Missouri Department of Elementary and Secondary Education and is not intended to be and should 
not be used by anyone other than these specified parties. 
 
 
 
 
November 14, 2018 
 



CENTER SCHOOL DISTRICT #58 
SCHEDULE OF STATE FINDINGS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 
 

 - 34 - 

TRANSPORTATION 
 
During the audit, we noted errors in the ridership lists and reporting of pupil transported. Though these 
errors were immaterial in total, State regulations require that accurate ridership counts for October and 
February be reported on the Application for State Transportation Aid. We recommend that the District 
review its procedures and reconcile ridership information with the reports provided by the bus contractor 
to ensure accurate reporting. 
 
Also, we noted that the summary reports prepared by the bus company were accurate; however the 
summing of the miles was incorrect.  The miles driven for the year were incorrectly totaled; therefore the 
Application for State Transportation Aid was incorrect.  As a result of our audit, the mileage reports were 
correctly summarized and the Application for State Transportation Aid has been corrected.  
 
ATTENDANCE 
 
During our audit, we noted that two Resident II students hours in attendance were not reported on Screen 
14A.  As a result of our audit, Core Data has been corrected. 
 
BUDGET COMPLIANCE 
 
Chapter 67, RSMo prohibits the expenditure of public monies unless those expenditures have been 
authorized.  During our audit, we noted that the actual expenditures of  $18,945,877 in the General Fund 
exceeded budgeted amounts of $18,896,929 by $48,948.  Additionally, we noted that actual expenditures 
of $19,887,779 in the Special Revenue Fund exceeded budgeted amounts of $19,884,375 by $3,404.



 
 

WESTBROOK  &  CO.,  P.C. 
Certified Public Accountants 

 

 

- 35 - 
 

Member, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants; Missouri Society of Certified Public Accountants 
 

Telephone:     Richmond: (816) 776-3584      KC Line: (816) 470-3584      Carrollton: (660) 542-0102 
Fax:       Richmond: (816) 470-7100      Carrollton: (660) 542-3959 

Website: www.westbrookcpa.com 
 

 

 749 Driskill Drive 
Richmond, MO  64085 

18 North Folger 
Carrollton, MO 64633 

 
 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL 
REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH  
GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

 
 
To the Board of Education 
Center School District #58 
 
We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the modified cash basis financial statements of 
the governmental activities, each major fund and the aggregate remaining fund information of Center 
School District #58 as of and for the year ended June 30, 2018, and the related notes to the financial 
statements,  which collectively comprise the District’s basic financial statements, and have issued our 
report thereon dated November 14, 2018. 
 
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the District’s internal 
control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s internal control.  Accordingly, we 
do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s internal control. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis.  A material weakness is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material 
misstatement of the District’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a 
timely basis.  A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control 
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with 
governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies.  Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses.  However, material 
weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 
 
 



 

 - 36 - 

Compliance and Other Matters 
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the District’s financial statements are free from 
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the 
determination of financial statement amounts.  However, providing an opinion on compliance with those 
provisions was not an objective of our audit and, accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.  The 
results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be 
reported under Government Auditing Standards. 
 
Purpose of this Report 
 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance 
and the result of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’ internal 
control or on compliance.  This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the District’s internal control and compliance.  
Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 
 
 
 
Richmond, Missouri 
November 14, 2018 
 



 
 

WESTBROOK  &  CO.,  P.C. 
Certified Public Accountants 

 

 

- 37 - 
 

Member, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants; Missouri Society of Certified Public Accountants 
 

Telephone:     Richmond: (816) 776-3584      KC Line: (816) 470-3584      Carrollton: (660) 542-0102 
Fax:       Richmond: (816) 470-7100      Carrollton: (660) 542-3959 

Website: www.westbrookcpa.com 
 

749 Driskill Drive 
Richmond, MO  64085 

18 North Folger 
Carrollton, MO 64633 

 
 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH  
MAJOR FEDERAL PROGRAM AND ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER  

COMPLIANCE REQUIRED BY THE UNIFORM GUIDANCE 
 
 
To the Board of Education 
Center School District #58 
 
Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program 
 
We have audited the District’s compliance with the types of compliance requirements described in the 
OMB Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and material effect on each of the District’s major 
federal programs for the year ended June 30, 2018.  The District’s major federal programs are identified 
in the summary of auditors’ results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned 
costs. 
 
Management’s Responsibility 
 
Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements of federal statutes, regulations, and the 
terms and conditions of its federal awards applicable to its federal programs. 
 
Auditors’ Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for each of the District’s major federal 
programs based on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above.  We conducted 
our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued 
by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of 
Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit 
Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Those standards and the Uniform Guidance 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance 
with the types of compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect 
on a major federal program occurred.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about the 
District’s compliance with those requirements and performing such other procedures as we considered 
necessary in the circumstances. 
 
We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each major 
federal program.  However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of the District’s compliance. 
 
Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 
 
In our opinion, the District complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance requirements 
referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on its major federal programs for the year 
ended June 30, 2018. 
 
 



 

 - 38 - 

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance 
 
Management of the District is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over 
compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above.  In planning and performing our 
audit of compliance, we considered the District’s internal control over compliance with the types of 
requirements that could have a direct and material effect on each major federal program to determine the 
auditing procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
compliance for each major federal program, and to test and report on internal control over compliance in 
accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of internal control over compliance.  Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the District’s internal control over compliance. 
 
A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over 
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned 
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a 
federal program on a timely basis.  A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a 
deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a 
reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal 
program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis.  A significant deficiency in 
internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over 
compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material 
weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged 
with governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first 
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over 
compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies.  We did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses.  However, 
material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 
 
The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our 
testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the 
Uniform Guidance.  Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 
 
 
 
Richmond, Missouri 
November 14, 2018 
 



CENTER SCHOOL DISTRICT #58 
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 
 

 - 39 - 

A.  SUMMARY OF AUDITORS’ RESULTS 
 

Type of auditors' report issued on whether
     the financial statements audited were prepared
     in accordance with the modified cash basis Unmodified

Internal control over financial reporting:
     •  Material weakness(es) identified? Yes X No

     •  Significant deficiency(ies) identified? Yes X None reported

Noncompliance material to financial 
     statements noted? Yes X No

Federal Awards

Internal control over major federal programs:
     •  Material weakness(es) identified? Yes X No

     •  Significant deficiency(ies) identified? Yes X None reported

Type of auditor's report issued on compliance
     for major federal programs: Unmodified

Any audit findings disclosed that are required to 
     be reported in accordance with 
     2 CFR 200.516(a)? Yes X No

Identification of major federal programs:
     Child Nutrition Cluster CFDA No. 10.553 and 10.555
     Impact Aid CFDA No. 84.041

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between
     type A and type B programs: 750,000$  

Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee? Yes X No

 
B.  FINDINGS - FINANCIAL STATEMENT AUDIT 

 
None  
 

C.  FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS - MAJOR FEDERAL AWARD PROGRAMS 
AUDIT 
 
None 

 



Auditors’ Report 
June 30, 2018

1WESTBROOK  &  CO.,  P.C.
Certified Public Accountants



INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
Page 2 – Paragraph #1

2

To the Board of Education 

Center School District #58 

WESTBROOK  &  CO.,  P.C.
Certified Public Accountants



CENTER SCHOOL DISTRICT #58
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES-MODIFIED CASH BASIS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018
Page 4, excerpt

3
WESTBROOK  &  CO.,  P.C.
Certified Public Accountants



CENTER SCHOOL DISTRICT #58
STATEMENT OF ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES –

MODIFIED CASH BASIS GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
JUNE 30, 2018

Page 5

4WESTBROOK  &  CO.,  P.C.
Certified Public Accountants



CENTER SCHOOL DISTRICT #58
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2018
Page 18, excerpt from Note J – Fund Balances – Governmental Funds

5WESTBROOK  &  CO.,  P.C.
Certified Public Accountants



6

Page 6

WESTBROOK  &  CO.,  P.C.
Certified Public Accountants



CENTER SCHOOL DISTRICT #58 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2018
Page 15, excerpt from Note G – Long – Term Debt

7WESTBROOK  &  CO.,  P.C.
Certified Public Accountants



CENTER SCHOOL DISTRICT #58 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2018
Page 16, Note H – Bonds Payable

8WESTBROOK  &  CO.,  P.C.
Certified Public Accountants



CENTER SCHOOL DISTRICT #58 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2018
Page 16, Note I – Capital Lease

9WESTBROOK  &  CO.,  P.C.
Certified Public Accountants



CENTER SCHOOL DISTRICT #58 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2018
Page 18, Note L – Tax Abatement

10WESTBROOK  &  CO.,  P.C.
Certified Public Accountants



11

Page 26

WESTBROOK  &  CO.,  P.C.
Certified Public Accountants



12

Page 27

WESTBROOK  &  CO.,  P.C.
Certified Public Accountants



13

Page 28

WESTBROOK  &  CO.,  P.C.
Certified Public Accountants



REPORT ON THE ADMINISTRATION’S ASSERTIONS 
ABOUT COMPLIANCE WITH SPECIFIED 

REQUIREMENTS OF MISSOURI LAWS AND REGULATIONS
Page 33 – Paragraphs #3 & #4

14
WESTBROOK  &  CO.,  P.C.
Certified Public Accountants



CENTER SCHOOL DISTRICT #58
SCHEDULE OF STATE FINDINGS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018
Page 34

15WESTBROOK  &  CO.,  P.C.
Certified Public Accountants



INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL 
OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER 

MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH 
GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

Page 35 – Paragraph #4

16WESTBROOK  &  CO.,  P.C.
Certified Public Accountants



INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH
MAJOR FEDERAL PROGRAM AND REPORT ON INTERNAL 

CONTROL  OVER COMPLIANCE AS REQUIRED BY THE 
UNIFORM GUIDANCE

Page 37 – Paragraph #5 and Page 38 – Paragraph #3

Page 37 – Paragraph #5

In our opinion, the District complied, in all material respects, with the compliance requirements 
referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major federal programs 
for the year ended June 30, 2018.

17WESTBROOK  &  CO.,  P.C.
Certified Public Accountants

Page 38 – Paragraph #3

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first 
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over 
compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies.  We did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses.  However, 
material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.



18

Page 39, excerpt

WESTBROOK  &  CO.,  P.C.
Certified Public Accountants



19

Page 39, continued

WESTBROOK  &  CO.,  P.C.
Certified Public Accountants



Report to Administration

20WESTBROOK  &  CO.,  P.C.
Certified Public Accountants



Report to Administration

21WESTBROOK  &  CO.,  P.C.
Certified Public Accountants



Report to Administration

22WESTBROOK  &  CO.,  P.C.
Certified Public Accountants



1 

 

 
 

Center School District 

2018 Patron and Staff Online Surveys 
Data as of December 11 

 
 

Question: What grade – A, B, C, D or F – would you give the Center School District on the 

following areas? Results on this question are reported, using a 5-point weighted scale. In this 

scale, 4.00 is considered the equivalent of a “B,” and “n” is the number of participants in each 

group. 

Factor Patrons 

(n=170) 

Staff 

(n=150) 

Performance of district teachers 4.13 4.13 

Quality of education 4.04 3.93 

Value received for the tax dollars spent 3.77 3.55 

Quality of the technology in the 

classroom 

3.95 3.89 

Performance of school principals 4.01 3.65 

Performance of the Center School District 

administration 

3.82 3.28 

Performance of the Center School Board 3.88 3.29 

Efforts of the district to involve citizens in 

decision-making 

3.54 3.50 

Efforts of the district to communicate 

with citizens 

3.80 3.52 

Safety of students in the district 3.81 3.51 

Quality of the Center District school 

facilities  

3.40 2.68 

Class sizes, meaning the number of 

students in each classroom 

3.72 3.22 

The district’s responsiveness to citizen 

concerns 

3.53 3.46 

Preparation of students to be college- 

and/or career-ready 

3.76 3.57 

The performance of the district on 

fulfilling promises 

3.73 3.41 



2 

 

Question: Thinking now about everything you know or have heard about the district, what 

overall grade would you give the Center School District? 

 

Response Patrons 

(n=170) 

Staff (n=149) 

A 33 6 

B 78 78 

C 44 49 

D 10 12 

F 3 4 

Don’t know 2 0 

 

Question: Starting with Center High School, one of the ideas is to enhance the security,  

and to renovate some of the interior to allow for more collaborative spaces, which would 

provide greater classroom layout flexibility for teachers and students and enhanced 

academic opportunities. If these projects were part of a bond issue, would you be…?  

 

Response Patrons 

(n=166) 

Staff 

(n=147) 

More likely to vote in favor 122 94 

More likely to vote against 8 18 

It would make no difference to you 16 28 

Don’t know 20 7 

 

Question: Also, at Center High School, the committee has been discussing artificial turf at 

the athletic field, along with a building for upgraded locker rooms and concessions. The 

athletic ideas also include adding baseball fields and tennis courts. If these projects were 

part of a bond issue, would you be…?  

 

Response Patrons 

(n=168) 

Staff (n=147) 

More likely to vote in favor 111 64 

More likely to vote against 19 41 

It would make no difference to you 24 33 

Don’t know 14 9 

 

Question: At Center Middle School, the study group has recommended enhancing the 

security and renovating the collaborative spaces to provide a more secure entrance. In 

addition, the group has discussed adding to the cafeteria, which would then provide 

sufficient space for an entire grade. If these projects were part of a bond issue, would you 

be…?  

 

Response Patrons 

(n=167) 

Staff 

(n=146) 

More likely to vote in favor 143 111 

More likely to vote against 5 11 



3 

 

It would make no difference to you 11 15 

Don’t know  8 9 

 

Question: For Center Elementary, the ideas include creating a secure entry and reworking 

the administrative spaces, creating more collaboration locations, and potentially renovating 

the part of the lower level that is currently not being used. If these projects were part of a 

bond issue, would you be…?  

 

Response Patrons 

(n=167) 

Staff  

(n=145) 

More likely to vote in favor 133 120 

More likely to vote against 8 7 

It would make no difference to you 15 14 

Don’t know  11 4 

 

Question: At Boone Elementary – which is also the home of the district’s Early Childhood 

Center – the study group recommended considering moving Early Childhood to a different 

location, which would free up classroom and outdoor space for the elementary school. 

There has also been discussion about changes to the parking lot and traffic flow and 

upgrading security. If this was part of a bond issue, would you be…?  

 

Response Patrons 

(n=167) 

Staff  

(n=146) 

More likely to vote in favor 119 116 

More likely to vote against 11 14 

It would make no difference to you 16 10 

Don’t know  21 6 

 

Question: There are four different ideas for Indian Creek Elementary. The first is to 

renovate it to make additional classrooms larger, while creating a secure entry at the front 

of the building and moving the School Office to the front of the building with other offices. 

If this was the idea selected for Indian Creek, would you be…?  

 

Response Patrons 

(n=163) 

Staff 

(n=146) 

More likely to vote in favor 97 84 

More likely to vote against 18 37 

It would make no difference to you 27 16 

Don’t know  21 9 

 

 

 

 

 

 



4 

 

Question: The second idea is to renovate the building and turn it into the district’s Early 

Childhood Center. Students in the school now would be transferred to other elementary 

schools in the district, Boone, Red Bridge and Center. If this was the idea selected for 

Indian Creek, would you be…?  

 

Response Patrons 

(n=163) 

Staff 

(n=145) 

More likely to vote in favor 67 45 

More likely to vote against 58 68 

It would make no difference to you 14 17 

Don’t know  24 15 

 

Question: The third idea is to tear down the building, leaving green space for the 

community. Again, students currently attending the school would be transferred to other 

schools in the district, Boone, Red Bridge and Center. If this was the idea selected for 

Indian Creek, would you be…?  

 

Response Patrons 

(n=164) 

Staff 

(n=144) 

More likely to vote in favor 28 28 

More likely to vote against 90 83 

It would make no difference to you 15 18 

Don’t know  31 15 

 

Question: The fourth idea is to purchase a building within the district’s boundaries that 

could be renovated to become a new Indian Creek Elementary, a new Central Office and a 

Culinary Arts Academy for high school students. If these projects were part of a bond 

issue, would you be…?  

 

Response Patrons 

(n=164) 

Staff 

(n=146) 

More likely to vote in favor 104 96 

More likely to vote against 27 27 

It would make no difference to you 10 12 

Don’t know  23 11 

 

Question: Which of the four ideas for Indian Creek do you like best?  

  

Response Patrons (n=164) Staff (n=145) 

Renovating the current building and 

keeping it an elementary school 

44 26 

Renovating it to become the 

district’s Early Childhood Center 

27 20 

Tearing it down and leaving green 

space 

5 16 

Buying a building in the district and 65 64 



5 

 

converting it to a new Indian Creek 

Elementary, Central Office and 

Culinary Arts Academy for high 

school students 

Don’t know 12 7 

Like them all 6 9 

Don’t like any of them 5 3 

 

Question: If closing Indian Creek and consolidating from four to three elementary schools 

had the potential to save the district money over the long term, would you be…? 

 

Response Patrons (n=164) Staff 

(n=146) 

More favorable to the idea of  

closing it 

60 65 

Less favorable to the idea 65 43 

It would make no difference to you 17 25 

Don’t know  22 13 

 

Question: At Red Bridge Elementary, the group recommended adding additional 

classrooms and a gym addition, and converting the old gym into an extension of the 

cafeteria. The group also recommended enhancing the secure entry and the office space in 

the building. If these projects were part of a bond issue, would you be…?  

 

Response Patrons (n=163) Staff  

(n=145) 

More likely to vote in favor 113 99 

More likely to vote against 8 19 

It would make no difference to you 17 18 

Don’t know  25 9 

 

Question: The district may have the opportunity to purchase a different building in the 

district that is near St. Joseph Health Center and use it for the district’s Early Childhood 

Center. If this project was part of a bond issue, would you be…?  

 

Response Patrons (n=164) Staff 

(n=146) 

More likely to vote in favor 109 87 

More likely to vote against 15 20 

It would make no difference to you 17 23 

Don’t know  23 16 

 

 

 

 



6 

 

Question: What if the school district selected the projects we have been discussing that you 

think are a good idea and the bond issue election was today? Would you…?  

 

Response Patrons (n=161) Staff (n=144) 

Strongly favor it 82 78 

Favor it 49 36 

Neither favor nor oppose it 2 2 

Oppose it 1 4 

Strongly oppose it 4 5 

Depends on what it costs  5 3 

Depends on the final project list  14 11 

Don’t know  4 5 

 

What if the bond issue resulted in NO tax increase? Would you…?  

 

Response Patrons (n=163) Staff (n=144) 

Strongly favor it 100 91 

Favor it 25 17 

Neither favor nor oppose it 12 7 

Oppose it 1 4 

Strongly oppose it 3 4 

Depends on the final project list  20 14 

Don’t know  2 7 

 

 

Demographics 

 

Question: How long have you, yourself, lived within the boundaries of the Center School 

District? Asked only of patrons. 

 

Response Patrons (n=160) 

Less than 2 years 13 

2 years to 5 years 37 

More than 5 years to 10 years 39 

More than 10 years to 15 years 32 

More than 15 years 21 

I’ve lived here all my life 18 

 

Question: To make certain we have people from all parts of the district, can you tell me 

which elementary school in the district children in your neighborhood would typically 

attend? Asked only of patrons.  

 

Response Patrons (n=162) 

Red Bridge 56 

Boone 39 



7 

 

Center 27 

Indian Creek 34 

Don’t know 6 

 

Question: Do you have any children or grandchildren who attend school in the Center  

School District right now? Asked only of patrons.  

 

Response Patrons (n=162) 

Yes, children 158 

No, children 4 

Yes, grandchildren 0 

No 0 

 

Question: Do you have any children or grandchildren who previously were students  

in the district, but who have graduated?  Asked only of patrons.  

 

Response Patrons (n=162) 

Yes, children 35 

Yes, children and 

grandchildren 

4 

Yes, grandchildren 0 

No 123 

 

Question: What building do you work in? Asked only of staff.  

 

Response Staff (n=127) 

Center High School 19 

Center Middle School 24 

Red Bridge Elementary  13 

Boone Elementary 21 

Center Elementary 5 

Indian Creek Elementary 15 

Early Childhood Center 12 

Center Alternative School 7 

Parents as Teachers 2 

District Office 9 

 

Question: Are you …? Asked only of staff.  

 

Response Staff (n=128) 

Certified Staff 97 

Classified Staff 31 

 



Row Labels Sum of Cost

Boone Elementary $4,612,250

ADA Access Improvements (Exterior Ramps) $37,500

Building Infiltration Improvements $17,000

Exterior Lighting / Parking Lot Lighting Replacement $71,250

Interior Door Replacement $205,000

Interior Lighting Replacement to LED $100,000

New PA/Intercom System $267,750

Replacement of galvanized/out dated overhead water distribution and sanitary $25,000

Restroom Renovations (Flooring, Partitions, Fixtures, Walls, Ceilings, Lighting) $425,000

Roof Improvements $780,000

Secure Entry - Storefront $16,250

Security Cameras & Electronic Access $85,500

Total HVAC Replacement $2,542,000

Ventilation Improvements / Plasma Filtration $40,000

Carondelet ECC $3,600,000

Carondelet Remodel $3,600,000

CAS $1,983,125

Building Infiltration Improvements $4,000

Convert Heat Pump Loop to Variable Flow $137,000

Energy Management Control System Expansion $110,000

Exterior Lighting / Parking Lot Lighting Replacement $24,625

Fluid Cooler repair $18,750

Interior Door Replacement $60,000

Interior Lighting Improvements $168,000

New Exhaust/Make-Up Air in Kitchen/Balancing.  Supplemental Cooling $16,500

New PA/Intercom System $98,500

Restroom Renovations (Flooring, Partitions, Fixtures, Walls, Ceilings, Lighting) $450,000

Retaining Wall Repairs $150,000

Roof Improvements $320,000

Secure Entry & Main Office Addition / Existing Space Renovation $393,750

Ventilation Improvements / Plasma Filtration $32,000

Center Elementary $2,795,113

ADA Access Improvements (Exterior Ramps) $37,500

Building Infiltration Improvements $32,000

Building Intercom Upgrade $140,207

Convert Heat Pump Loop to Variable Flow $160,000

DOAS / decoupled ductwork -improved ventilation for classrooms $125,000

Energy Management Control System Expansion $198,000

Exterior Lighting / Parking Lot Lighting Replacement $46,736

Interior Lighting Replacement to LED $72,000

Replacement of galvanized/out dated overhead water distribution and sanitary $18,750

Restroom Renovations (Flooring, Partitions, Fixtures, Walls, Ceilings, Lighting) $375,000

Roof Improvements $546,000

Secure Entry / Main Office & 2 Classroom Swap, Exterior Ramps $812,500

Security Cameras & Electronic Access $100,949

Total Building T&B $93,471

OPTION 1a - 48 MILLION WITH ESCO



Ventilation Improvements / Plasma Filtration $37,000

Center High School $6,119,500

ADA Access Improvements (Exterior Ramps) $112,500

Building Infiltration Improvements $32,000

Building Intercom/PA Upgrade $225,000

Dishwasher Replacement $35,000

Drinking Fountains $25,000

Energy Management Control System Expansion $253,000

Exterior Lighting / Parking Lot Lighting Replacement $150,000

Interior Lighting Replacement to LED $583,000

Kitchen Exhaust / Make Up Air System Replacement $76,000

Kitchen Walk-In Freezer replacement / reconfiguration $50,000

Replacement of galvanized/out dated overhead water distribution and sanitary $31,250

Restroom Renovations (Flooring, Partitions, Fixtures, Walls, Ceilings, Lighting) $1,125,000

Roof Improvements $985,000

Secure Entry - Storefront $31,250

Security Cameras & Electronic Access $180,000

Underground domestic water line repair $15,000

Ventilation Improvements / Plasma Filtration $66,000

HVAC Improvements & T&B $2,144,500

Center Middle School $4,796,500

ADA Access Improvements (Exterior Ramps) $37,500

Building Infiltration Improvements $16,000

Building Intercom Upgrade $213,750

Energy Management Control System Expansion $123,000

Exterior Lighting / Parking Lot Lighting Replacement $71,250

Interior Lighting Replacement to LED $127,000

Kitchen Exhaust / Make Up Air System Replacement $63,000

Kitchen Walk-In Freezer replacement / reconfiguration $42,000

Main Office Remodel $375,000

Mudjacking at Cafeteria $93,750

Replacement of galvanized/out dated overhead water distribution and sanitary $25,000

Restroom Renovations (Flooring, Partitions, Fixtures, Walls, Ceilings, Lighting) $800,000

Roof Improvements $800,000

Secure Entry - Storefront $20,313

Security Cameras & Electronic Access $85,500

SPED Drop off $335,938

Ventilation Improvements / Plasma Filtration $45,000

HVAC Improvements & T&B $1,522,500

District Wide $750,000

FF&E $500,000

Re-Keying Doors $250,000

High School Athletic Improvements $1,250,000

Football Field from Grass to Turf $1,250,000

Indian Creek Option 1 - New School $18,637,500

Demolish current school and rebuild a new school $18,637,500

Red Bridge Elementary $6,917,710

Acoustic modifications for Gym Unit. $15,000

ADA Access Improvements (Exterior Ramps) $37,500

Building Infiltration Improvements $9,000

Building Intercom Upgrade $71,906

Classroom Addition - 2 Classrooms w/ Restrooms $1,698,750

Energy Management Control System Expansion $40,000



Exterior Lighting / Parking Lot Lighting Replacement $23,969

FEMA Rated Gymnasium (5,500 SF) $2,406,250

Interior Lighting Replacement to LED $47,000

Kitchen Exhaust / Make Up Air System Replacement $21,000

Kitchen Walk-In Freezer replacement / reconfiguration $39,000

Main Office Remodel $300,000

Replacement of galvanized/out dated overhead water distribution and sanitary $25,000

Restroom Renovations (Flooring, Partitions, Fixtures, Walls, Ceilings, Lighting) $375,000

Roof Improvements $1,000,000

Secure Entry - Storefront $32,500

Security Cameras & Electronic Access $51,773

underground domestic water line repair from main across the street/ relocate shutoff $11,000

Ventilation Improvements / Plasma Filtration $21,000

HVAC Improvements & T&B $692,063

Grand Total Option 2 w. ESCO $51,461,698



Row Labels Sum of Cost

Boone Elementary $4,612,250

ADA Access Improvements (Exterior Ramps) $37,500

Building Infiltration Improvements $17,000

Exterior Lighting / Parking Lot Lighting Replacement $71,250

Interior Door Replacement $205,000

Interior Lighting Replacement to LED $100,000

New PA/Intercom System $267,750

Replacement of galvanized/out dated overhead water distribution and sanitary $25,000

Restroom Renovations (Flooring, Partitions, Fixtures, Walls, Ceilings, Lighting) $425,000

Roof Improvements $780,000

Secure Entry - Storefront $16,250

Security Cameras & Electronic Access $85,500

Total HVAC Replacement $2,542,000

Ventilation Improvements / Plasma Filtration $40,000

Carondelet ECC $3,600,000

Carondelet Remodel $3,600,000

CAS $1,983,125

Building Infiltration Improvements $4,000

Convert Heat Pump Loop to Variable Flow $137,000

Energy Management Control System Expansion $110,000

Exterior Lighting / Parking Lot Lighting Replacement $24,625

Fluid Cooler repair $18,750

Interior Door Replacement $60,000

Interior Lighting Improvements $168,000

New Exhaust/Make-Up Air in Kitchen/Balancing.  Supplemental Cooling $16,500

New PA/Intercom System $98,500

Restroom Renovations (Flooring, Partitions, Fixtures, Walls, Ceilings, Lighting) $450,000

Retaining Wall Repairs $150,000

Roof Improvements $320,000

Secure Entry & Main Office Addition / Existing Space Renovation $393,750

Ventilation Improvements / Plasma Filtration $32,000

Center Elementary $2,795,113

ADA Access Improvements (Exterior Ramps) $37,500

Building Infiltration Improvements $32,000

Building Intercom Upgrade $140,207

Convert Heat Pump Loop to Variable Flow $160,000

DOAS / decoupled ductwork -improved ventilation for classrooms $125,000

Energy Management Control System Expansion $198,000

Exterior Lighting / Parking Lot Lighting Replacement $46,736

Interior Lighting Replacement to LED $72,000

Replacement of galvanized/out dated overhead water distribution and sanitary $18,750

Restroom Renovations (Flooring, Partitions, Fixtures, Walls, Ceilings, Lighting) $375,000

Roof Improvements $546,000

Secure Entry / Main Office & 2 Classroom Swap, Exterior Ramps $812,500

Security Cameras & Electronic Access $100,949

Total Building T&B $93,471

OPTION 1b - 48 MILLION WITH ESCO



Ventilation Improvements / Plasma Filtration $37,000

Center High School $6,119,500

ADA Access Improvements (Exterior Ramps) $112,500

Building Infiltration Improvements $32,000

Building Intercom/PA Upgrade $225,000

Dishwasher Replacement $35,000

Drinking Fountains $25,000

Energy Management Control System Expansion $253,000

Exterior Lighting / Parking Lot Lighting Replacement $150,000

Interior Lighting Replacement to LED $583,000

Kitchen Exhaust / Make Up Air System Replacement $76,000

Kitchen Walk-In Freezer replacement / reconfiguration $50,000

Replacement of galvanized/out dated overhead water distribution and sanitary $31,250

Restroom Renovations (Flooring, Partitions, Fixtures, Walls, Ceilings, Lighting) $1,125,000

Roof Improvements $985,000

Secure Entry - Storefront $31,250

Security Cameras & Electronic Access $180,000

Underground domestic water line repair $15,000

Ventilation Improvements / Plasma Filtration $66,000

HVAC Improvements & T&B $2,144,500

Center Middle School $4,796,500

ADA Access Improvements (Exterior Ramps) $37,500

Building Infiltration Improvements $16,000

Building Intercom Upgrade $213,750

Energy Management Control System Expansion $123,000

Exterior Lighting / Parking Lot Lighting Replacement $71,250

Interior Lighting Replacement to LED $127,000

Kitchen Exhaust / Make Up Air System Replacement $63,000

Kitchen Walk-In Freezer replacement / reconfiguration $42,000

Main Office Remodel $375,000

Mudjacking at Cafeteria $93,750

Replacement of galvanized/out dated overhead water distribution and sanitary $25,000

Restroom Renovations (Flooring, Partitions, Fixtures, Walls, Ceilings, Lighting) $800,000

Roof Improvements $800,000

Secure Entry - Storefront $20,313

Security Cameras & Electronic Access $85,500

SPED Drop off $335,938

Ventilation Improvements / Plasma Filtration $45,000

HVAC Improvements & T&B $1,522,500

District Wide $750,000

FF&E $500,000

Re-Keying Doors $250,000

High School Athletic Improvements $1,250,000

Football Field from Grass to Turf $1,250,000

Indian Creek Option 4 -  Full Renovation + Addition $15,200,000

Full existing building renovation and 4 classroom addition $15,200,000

Red Bridge Elementary $6,917,710

Acoustic modifications for Gym Unit. $15,000

ADA Access Improvements (Exterior Ramps) $37,500

Building Infiltration Improvements $9,000

Building Intercom Upgrade $71,906

Classroom Addition - 2 Classrooms w/ Restrooms $1,698,750

Energy Management Control System Expansion $40,000



Exterior Lighting / Parking Lot Lighting Replacement $23,969

FEMA Rated Gymnasium (5,500 SF) $2,406,250

Interior Lighting Replacement to LED $47,000

Kitchen Exhaust / Make Up Air System Replacement $21,000

Kitchen Walk-In Freezer replacement / reconfiguration $39,000

Main Office Remodel $300,000

Replacement of galvanized/out dated overhead water distribution and sanitary $25,000

Restroom Renovations (Flooring, Partitions, Fixtures, Walls, Ceilings, Lighting) $375,000

Roof Improvements $1,000,000

Secure Entry - Storefront $32,500

Security Cameras & Electronic Access $51,773

underground domestic water line repair from main across the street/ relocate shutoff $11,000

Ventilation Improvements / Plasma Filtration $21,000

HVAC Improvements & T&B $692,063

Grand Total Option 2 w. ESCO $48,024,198



Category Item Location Cost
Possible 

Performance 
Contract

21st Century Learning FF&E District Wide $500,000 

21st Century Learning Administration Building addition to High School Community Choice $2,500,000 

21st Century Learning FEMA Rated Gymnasium (5,500 SF) Red Bridge Elementary $2,406,250
 

21st Century Learning SPED Drop off Center Middle School $335,938

21st Century Learning Vertical Circulation to Lower Level & Corridor Renovation Center Middle School $1,500,000

21st Century Learning Administration / Art and Collaboration Area Renovations / Classroom RenvationsCenter Middle School $3,081,250

21st Century Learning Classroom Addition - 2 Classrooms w/ Restrooms Red Bridge Elementary $1,698,750

Athletic Improvements Football Field from Grass to Turf High School Athletic Improvements $1,250,000

ECC to Carondelet Carondelet Remodel Carondelet ECC $3,600,000

Indian Creek Option 1 Demolish current school and rebuild a new school Indian Creek Option 1 - New School $18,637,500

Indian Creek Option 4 Full existing building renovation and 4 classroom addition Indian Creek Option 4 -  Full Renovation + Addition $15,200,000

Safety & Security / 
Welcoming Secure Entry - Storefront Boone Elementary $16,250

Safety & Security / 
Welcoming Security Cameras & Electronic Access Boone Elementary $85,500

Safety & Security / 
Welcoming Exterior Lighting / Parking Lot Lighting Replacement Boone Elementary $71,250

Y

Safety & Security / 
Welcoming New PA/Intercom System Boone Elementary $106,875

Safety & Security / 
Welcoming Secure Entry & Main Office Addition / Existing Space Renovation CAS $393,750

Safety & Security / 
Welcoming Exterior Lighting / Parking Lot Lighting Replacement CAS $24,625

Y

Safety & Security / 
Welcoming New PA/Intercom System CAS $49,250

Safety & Security / 
Welcoming Secure Entry / Main Office & 2 Classroom Swap, Exterior Ramps Center Elementary $812,500

Safety & Security / 
Welcoming Security Cameras & Electronic Access Center Elementary $100,949

Safety & Security / 
Welcoming Building Intercom Upgrade Center Elementary $70,103

Safety & Security / 
Welcoming Exterior Lighting / Parking Lot Lighting Replacement Center Elementary $46,736

Y

Safety & Security / 
Welcoming Secure Entry - Storefront Center High School $31,250 

Safety & Security / 
Welcoming Exterior Lighting / Parking Lot Lighting Replacement Center High School $150,000

Y

Safety & Security / 
Welcoming Security Cameras & Electronic Access Center High School $180,000

Safety & Security / 
Welcoming Building Intercom/PA Upgrade Center High School $225,000

Safety & Security / 
Welcoming Secure Entry - Storefront Center Middle School $20,313

Safety & Security / 
Welcoming Main Office Remodel Center Middle School $375,000

Safety & Security / 
Welcoming Security Cameras & Electronic Access Center Middle School $85,500

Safety & Security / 
Welcoming Building Intercom Upgrade Center Middle School $106,875

Safety & Security / 
Welcoming Exterior Lighting / Parking Lot Lighting Replacement Center Middle School $71,250

Y

Safety & Security / 
Welcoming Secure Entry - Storefront Red Bridge Elementary $32,500



Safety & Security / 
Welcoming Main Office Remodel Red Bridge Elementary $300,000

Safety & Security / 
Welcoming Security Cameras & Electronic Access Red Bridge Elementary $51,773

Safety & Security / 
Welcoming Building Intercom Upgrade Red Bridge Elementary $35,953

Safety & Security / 
Welcoming Exterior Lighting / Parking Lot Lighting Replacement Red Bridge Elementary $23,969

Y



Row Labels Sum of Cost

Boone Elementary $4,612,250

ADA Access Improvements (Exterior Ramps) $37,500

Building Infiltration Improvements $17,000

Exterior Lighting / Parking Lot Lighting Replacement $71,250

Interior Door Replacement $205,000

Interior Lighting Replacement to LED $100,000

New PA/Intercom System $267,750

Replacement of galvanized/out dated overhead water distribution and sanitary $25,000

Restroom Renovations (Flooring, Partitions, Fixtures, Walls, Ceilings, Lighting) $425,000

Roof Improvements $780,000

Secure Entry - Storefront $16,250

Security Cameras & Electronic Access $85,500

Total HVAC Replacement $2,542,000

Ventilation Improvements / Plasma Filtration $40,000

Carondelet ECC $3,600,000

Carondelet Remodel $3,600,000

CAS $1,983,125

Building Infiltration Improvements $4,000

Convert Heat Pump Loop to Variable Flow $137,000

Energy Management Control System Expansion $110,000

Exterior Lighting / Parking Lot Lighting Replacement $24,625

Fluid Cooler repair $18,750

Interior Door Replacement $60,000

Interior Lighting Improvements $168,000

New Exhaust/Make-Up Air in Kitchen/Balancing.  Supplemental Cooling $16,500

New PA/Intercom System $98,500

Restroom Renovations (Flooring, Partitions, Fixtures, Walls, Ceilings, Lighting) $450,000

Retaining Wall Repairs $150,000

Roof Improvements $320,000

Secure Entry & Main Office Addition / Existing Space Renovation $393,750

Ventilation Improvements / Plasma Filtration $32,000

Center Elementary $2,795,113

ADA Access Improvements (Exterior Ramps) $37,500

Building Infiltration Improvements $32,000

Building Intercom Upgrade $140,207

Convert Heat Pump Loop to Variable Flow $160,000

DOAS / decoupled ductwork -improved ventilation for classrooms $125,000

Energy Management Control System Expansion $198,000

Exterior Lighting / Parking Lot Lighting Replacement $46,736

Interior Lighting Replacement to LED $72,000

Replacement of galvanized/out dated overhead water distribution and sanitary $18,750

Restroom Renovations (Flooring, Partitions, Fixtures, Walls, Ceilings, Lighting) $375,000

Roof Improvements $546,000

Secure Entry / Main Office & 2 Classroom Swap, Exterior Ramps $812,500

Security Cameras & Electronic Access $100,949

Total Building T&B $93,471

Ventilation Improvements / Plasma Filtration $37,000

OPTION 2a - 48 MILLION WITHOUT ESCO (55 MILLION TOTAL)



Center High School $6,119,500

ADA Access Improvements (Exterior Ramps) $112,500

Building Infiltration Improvements $32,000

Building Intercom/PA Upgrade $225,000

Dishwasher Replacement $35,000

Drinking Fountains $25,000

Energy Management Control System Expansion $253,000

Exterior Lighting / Parking Lot Lighting Replacement $150,000

Interior Lighting Replacement to LED $583,000

Kitchen Exhaust / Make Up Air System Replacement $76,000

Kitchen Walk-In Freezer replacement / reconfiguration $50,000

Replacement of galvanized/out dated overhead water distribution and sanitary $31,250

Restroom Renovations (Flooring, Partitions, Fixtures, Walls, Ceilings, Lighting) $1,125,000

Roof Improvements $985,000

Secure Entry - Storefront $31,250

Security Cameras & Electronic Access $180,000

Underground domestic water line repair $15,000

Ventilation Improvements / Plasma Filtration $66,000

HVAC Improvements & T&B .. $2,144,500

Center Middle School $7,877,750

ADA Access Improvements (Exterior Ramps) $37,500

Building Infiltration Improvements $16,000

Building Intercom Upgrade $213,750

Energy Management Control System Expansion $123,000

Exterior Lighting / Parking Lot Lighting Replacement $71,250

Interior Lighting Replacement to LED $127,000

Kitchen Exhaust / Make Up Air System Replacement $63,000

Kitchen Walk-In Freezer replacement / reconfiguration $42,000

Main Office Remodel $375,000

Mudjacking at Cafeteria $93,750

Replacement of galvanized/out dated overhead water distribution and sanitary $25,000

Restroom Renovations (Flooring, Partitions, Fixtures, Walls, Ceilings, Lighting) $800,000

Roof Improvements $800,000

Secure Entry - Storefront $20,313

Security Cameras & Electronic Access $85,500

SPED Drop off $335,938

Ventilation Improvements / Plasma Filtration $45,000

HVAC Improvements & T&B $1,522,500

Administration / Art and Collaboration Area Renovations / Classroom Renovations $3,081,250

District Wide $750,000

FF&E $500,000

Re-Keying Doors $250,000

High School Athletic Improvements $1,250,000

Football Field from Grass to Turf $1,250,000

Indian Creek Option 1 - New School $18,637,500

Demolish current school and rebuild a new school $18,637,500

Red Bridge Elementary $6,917,710

Acoustic modifications for Gym Unit. $15,000

ADA Access Improvements (Exterior Ramps) $37,500

Building Infiltration Improvements $9,000

Building Intercom Upgrade $71,906

Classroom Addition - 2 Classrooms w/ Restrooms $1,698,750

Energy Management Control System Expansion $40,000



Exterior Lighting / Parking Lot Lighting Replacement $23,969

FEMA Rated Gymnasium (5,500 SF) $2,406,250

Interior Lighting Replacement to LED $47,000

Kitchen Exhaust / Make Up Air System Replacement $21,000

Kitchen Walk-In Freezer replacement / reconfiguration $39,000

Main Office Remodel $300,000

Replacement of galvanized/out dated overhead water distribution and sanitary $25,000

Restroom Renovations (Flooring, Partitions, Fixtures, Walls, Ceilings, Lighting) $375,000

Roof Improvements $1,000,000

Secure Entry - Storefront $32,500

Security Cameras & Electronic Access $51,773

underground domestic water line repair from main across the street/ relocate shutoff $11,000

Ventilation Improvements / Plasma Filtration $21,000

HVAC Improvements & T&B $692,063

Grand Total Option 1 w/o ESCO $54,542,948



Row Labels Sum of Cost

Boone Elementary $4,612,250

ADA Access Improvements (Exterior Ramps) $37,500

Building Infiltration Improvements $17,000

Exterior Lighting / Parking Lot Lighting Replacement $71,250

Interior Door Replacement $205,000

Interior Lighting Replacement to LED $100,000

New PA/Intercom System $267,750

Replacement of galvanized/out dated overhead water distribution and sanitary $25,000

Restroom Renovations (Flooring, Partitions, Fixtures, Walls, Ceilings, Lighting) $425,000

Roof Improvements $780,000

Secure Entry - Storefront $16,250

Security Cameras & Electronic Access $85,500

Total HVAC Replacement $2,542,000

Ventilation Improvements / Plasma Filtration $40,000

Carondelet ECC $3,600,000

Carondelet Remodel $3,600,000

CAS $1,983,125

Building Infiltration Improvements $4,000

Convert Heat Pump Loop to Variable Flow $137,000

Energy Management Control System Expansion $110,000

Exterior Lighting / Parking Lot Lighting Replacement $24,625

Fluid Cooler repair $18,750

Interior Door Replacement $60,000

Interior Lighting Improvements $168,000

New Exhaust/Make-Up Air in Kitchen/Balancing.  Supplemental Cooling $16,500

New PA/Intercom System $98,500

Restroom Renovations (Flooring, Partitions, Fixtures, Walls, Ceilings, Lighting) $450,000

Retaining Wall Repairs $150,000

Roof Improvements $320,000

Secure Entry & Main Office Addition / Existing Space Renovation $393,750

Ventilation Improvements / Plasma Filtration $32,000

Center Elementary $2,795,113

ADA Access Improvements (Exterior Ramps) $37,500

Building Infiltration Improvements $32,000

Building Intercom Upgrade $140,207

Convert Heat Pump Loop to Variable Flow $160,000

DOAS / decoupled ductwork -improved ventilation for classrooms $125,000

Energy Management Control System Expansion $198,000

Exterior Lighting / Parking Lot Lighting Replacement $46,736

Interior Lighting Replacement to LED $72,000

Replacement of galvanized/out dated overhead water distribution and sanitary $18,750

Restroom Renovations (Flooring, Partitions, Fixtures, Walls, Ceilings, Lighting) $375,000

Roof Improvements $546,000

Secure Entry / Main Office & 2 Classroom Swap, Exterior Ramps $812,500

Security Cameras & Electronic Access $100,949

Total Building T&B $93,471

OPTION 2b - 48 MILLION WITHOUT ESCO (55 MILLION TOTAL)



Ventilation Improvements / Plasma Filtration $37,000

Center High School $6,119,500

ADA Access Improvements (Exterior Ramps) $112,500

Building Infiltration Improvements $32,000

Building Intercom/PA Upgrade $225,000

Dishwasher Replacement $35,000

Drinking Fountains $25,000

Energy Management Control System Expansion $253,000

Exterior Lighting / Parking Lot Lighting Replacement $150,000

Interior Lighting Replacement to LED $583,000

Kitchen Exhaust / Make Up Air System Replacement $76,000

Kitchen Walk-In Freezer replacement / reconfiguration $50,000

Replacement of galvanized/out dated overhead water distribution and sanitary $31,250

Restroom Renovations (Flooring, Partitions, Fixtures, Walls, Ceilings, Lighting) $1,125,000

Roof Improvements $985,000

Secure Entry - Storefront $31,250

Security Cameras & Electronic Access $180,000

Underground domestic water line repair $15,000

Ventilation Improvements / Plasma Filtration $66,000

HVAC Improvements & T&B .. $2,144,500

Center Middle School $9,377,750

ADA Access Improvements (Exterior Ramps) $37,500

Building Infiltration Improvements $16,000

Building Intercom Upgrade $213,750

Energy Management Control System Expansion $123,000

Exterior Lighting / Parking Lot Lighting Replacement $71,250

Interior Lighting Replacement to LED $127,000

Kitchen Exhaust / Make Up Air System Replacement $63,000

Kitchen Walk-In Freezer replacement / reconfiguration $42,000

Main Office Remodel $375,000

Mudjacking at Cafeteria $93,750

Replacement of galvanized/out dated overhead water distribution and sanitary $25,000

Restroom Renovations (Flooring, Partitions, Fixtures, Walls, Ceilings, Lighting) $800,000

Roof Improvements $800,000

Secure Entry - Storefront $20,313

Security Cameras & Electronic Access $85,500

SPED Drop off $335,938

Ventilation Improvements / Plasma Filtration $45,000

Vertical Circulation to Lower Level & Corridor Renovation $1,500,000

HVAC Improvements & T&B $1,522,500

Administration / Art and Collaboration Area Renovations / Classroom Renovations $3,081,250

District Wide $750,000

FF&E $500,000

Re-Keying Doors $250,000

High School Athletic Improvements $1,250,000

Football Field from Grass to Turf $1,250,000

Indian Creek Option 4 -  Full Renovation + Addition $15,200,000

Full existing building renovation and 4 classroom addition $15,200,000

Red Bridge Elementary $6,917,710

Acoustic modifications for Gym Unit. $15,000

ADA Access Improvements (Exterior Ramps) $37,500

Building Infiltration Improvements $9,000

Building Intercom Upgrade $71,906



Classroom Addition - 2 Classrooms w/ Restrooms $1,698,750

Energy Management Control System Expansion $40,000

Exterior Lighting / Parking Lot Lighting Replacement $23,969

FEMA Rated Gymnasium (5,500 SF) $2,406,250

Interior Lighting Replacement to LED $47,000

Kitchen Exhaust / Make Up Air System Replacement $21,000

Kitchen Walk-In Freezer replacement / reconfiguration $39,000

Main Office Remodel $300,000

Replacement of galvanized/out dated overhead water distribution and sanitary $25,000

Restroom Renovations (Flooring, Partitions, Fixtures, Walls, Ceilings, Lighting) $375,000

Roof Improvements $1,000,000

Secure Entry - Storefront $32,500

Security Cameras & Electronic Access $51,773

underground domestic water line repair from main across the street/ relocate shutoff $11,000

Ventilation Improvements / Plasma Filtration $21,000

HVAC Improvements & T&B $692,063

Grand Total Option 2 w/o ESCO $52,605,448



Category Item Location Cost
Possible 

Performance 
Contract

21st Century Learning FF&E District Wide $500,000 

21st Century Learning Administration Building addition to High School Community Choice $2,500,000 

21st Century Learning FEMA Rated Gymnasium (5,500 SF) Red Bridge Elementary $2,406,250

21st Century Learning SPED Drop off Center Middle School $335,938

21st Century Learning Vertical Circulation to Lower Level & Corridor Renovation Center Middle School $1,500,000

21st Century Learning Administration / Art and Collaboration Area Renovations / Classroom RenovationsCenter Middle School $3,081,250

21st Century Learning Classroom Addition - 2 Classrooms w/ Restrooms Red Bridge Elementary $1,698,750

Athletic Improvements Football Field from Grass to Turf High School Athletic Improvements $1,250,000

ECC to Carondelet Carondelet Remodel Carondelet ECC $3,600,000

Indian Creek Option 1 Demolish current school and rebuild a new school Indian Creek Option 1 - New School $18,637,500

Indian Creek Option 4 Full existing building renovation and 4 classroom addition Indian Creek Option 4 -  Full Renovation + Addition $15,200,000

Safety & Security / 
Welcoming Secure Entry - Storefront Boone Elementary $16,250

Safety & Security / 
Welcoming Security Cameras & Electronic Access Boone Elementary $85,500

Safety & Security / 
Welcoming Exterior Lighting / Parking Lot Lighting Replacement Boone Elementary $71,250

Y

Safety & Security / 
Welcoming New PA/Intercom System Boone Elementary $106,875

Safety & Security / 
Welcoming Secure Entry & Main Office Addition / Existing Space Renovation CAS $393,750

Safety & Security / 
Welcoming Exterior Lighting / Parking Lot Lighting Replacement CAS $24,625

Y

Safety & Security / 
Welcoming New PA/Intercom System CAS $49,250

Safety & Security / 
Welcoming Secure Entry / Main Office & 2 Classroom Swap, Exterior Ramps Center Elementary $812,500

Safety & Security / 
Welcoming Security Cameras & Electronic Access Center Elementary $100,949

Safety & Security / 
Welcoming Building Intercom Upgrade Center Elementary $70,103

Safety & Security / 
Welcoming Exterior Lighting / Parking Lot Lighting Replacement Center Elementary $46,736

Y

Safety & Security / 
Welcoming Secure Entry - Storefront Center High School $31,250 

Safety & Security / 
Welcoming Exterior Lighting / Parking Lot Lighting Replacement Center High School $150,000

Y

Safety & Security / 
Welcoming Security Cameras & Electronic Access Center High School $180,000

Safety & Security / 
Welcoming Building Intercom/PA Upgrade Center High School $225,000

Safety & Security / 
Welcoming Secure Entry - Storefront Center Middle School $20,313

Safety & Security / 
Welcoming Main Office Remodel Center Middle School $375,000

Safety & Security / 
Welcoming Security Cameras & Electronic Access Center Middle School $85,500

Safety & Security / 
Welcoming Building Intercom Upgrade Center Middle School $106,875

Safety & Security / 
Welcoming Exterior Lighting / Parking Lot Lighting Replacement Center Middle School $71,250

Y

Safety & Security / 
Welcoming Secure Entry - Storefront Red Bridge Elementary $32,500



Safety & Security / 
Welcoming Main Office Remodel Red Bridge Elementary $300,000

Safety & Security / 
Welcoming Security Cameras & Electronic Access Red Bridge Elementary $51,773

Safety & Security / 
Welcoming Building Intercom Upgrade Red Bridge Elementary $35,953

Safety & Security / 
Welcoming Exterior Lighting / Parking Lot Lighting Replacement Red Bridge Elementary $23,969

Y







 

 

GCBDA- PROFESSIONAL STAFF 

Consistent contact with students and staff is important to the learning environment and 

district operation and therefore is an essential duty of a professional staff member's 

position. However, the Board recognizes that there are circumstances that require an 

employee to miss work, and the purpose of this policy is to identify situations where paid 

and unpaid leave from work are appropriate. 

The district may require an employee to provide the district verification of illness from a 

healthcare provider or supply other documentation verifying the absence before the 

district applies sick leave or other applicable paid leave to the absence. In accordance 

with law, the district may require an employee to present a certification of fitness to 

return to work whenever the employee is absent from work due to the employee's health. 

Short-Term Leave 

Short-term leave includes sick leave, bereavement leave and personal business leave. 

Personnel regularly employed less than 11 months will be granted ten days; personnel 

regularly employed 11 months will be granted 11 days; and personnel regularly employed 

12 months will be granted 12 days. 

Effective with the 2005–2006 school year, When a certificated employee leaves the 

Center School District #58, he or she, or his or her beneficiary in the case of death, shall 

be paid $35 per day for the unused days of leaves. Employees who have (a) broken an 

employment contract with the district, (b) been terminated for cause by the district, or 

(c) resigned due to the discovery by the District of conduct that would have resulted in 

their termination for cause, will not be eligible for buy-back of unused days of leave 

(Examples would include a finding by the district of harassment, discrimination, abuse 

and/or retaliation). Employees who have broken an employment contract with the district 

or have been terminated for cause by the district will not be eligible for buy-back of 

unused days of leave. An employee will not receive compensation for unused days of 

leaves unless he or she has been employed by the district for at least one year. 

The administrator in charge of each building is responsible for reporting the short-term 

leave of the personnel under his or her supervision. 

A district employee may not use short-term leave during the period the employee 

receives Workers' Compensation for time lost to work-related incidents. 

The following leaves with pay will be provided to full-time professional staff employees. 

Regular, part-time professional staff employees will receive these leaves on a pro rata 

basis. This policy does not apply to temporary or substitute staff members unless 

otherwise noted. 

 1.         Sick Leave – Sick leave will be granted to an employee in the event of personal 

illness, injury or incapacity including pregnancy, childbirth and adoption of the employee 



 

 

GCBDA- PROFESSIONAL STAFF 

or the employee’s immediate family. The Board defines “immediate family” in regard to 

sick leave to include: 

            ►          The employee’s dependents. 

            ►          Any person over whom the employee has legal guardianship or for whom the employee 

has power of attorney and is the primary caregiver. 

            ►          Any other person deemed appropriate by the employee’s immediate supervisor. 

(Note: "Family" for FMLA purposes is more limited.) 

The Board reserves the right to require a physician’s certification, or FMLA Certificate of 

Health Care Provider in cases of serious health conditions under the FMLA, attesting to 

the illness or incapacity of the claimant and/or inclusive dates of incapacitation. 

  

Staff members who are ill are encouraged to stay home to promote healing and reduce 

the risk of infecting others, especially during a pandemic or other significant health event. 

In the event of a pandemic or other significant health event, schools may be closed to all 

staff and students or just students. If schools are closed only to students, staff members 

are expected to work regular schedules or use appropriate leave. 

Any certificated employee who is a member of a retirement system shall remain a 

member during any period of leave under sick leave provisions of the district or under 

Workers' Compensation. The employee shall also receive creditable service credit for such 

leave time if the employee makes contributions to the system equal to the amount of 

contributions that he or she would have made had he or she been on active service status. 

2.         Bereavement Leave – Leave will be granted to an employee in the event of 

bereavement in the immediate family. The Board defines “immediate family” in regard to 

bereavement to include: 

             ►          The employee’s spouse. 

             ►          The following relatives of the employee or the employee’s spouse: parents, children, 

children’s spouses, grandparents, grandchildren and siblings. 

            ►          Any person over whom the employee has legal guardianship or for whom the employee 

has power of attorney and is the primary caregiver. 

             ►          Any other person deemed appropriate by the employee’s immediate supervisor. 

 3.         Personal Business Leave – “Personal business leave” may be granted upon 

written request by the employee and approval by the principal and the Director of Human 

Resources when in their judgment, such leave is required. Absences may be charged 

against personal business leave for the following reasons: 



 

 

GCBDA- PROFESSIONAL STAFF 

            a.         Attendance at a legal or professional commitment and/or transaction 

that cannot be accomplished outside the regular hours of employment. 

             b.         Observance of a religious holiday. 

             c.         Court appearances, unless applicable law or policy provides for paid 

leave.  

Unlike “personal leave,” requests for “personal business leave” must specify the reason(s) 

for such leave. Written requests are first submitted to the employee’s immediate 

supervisor for approval. If the employee has no accrued short-term leave, unpaid 

“personal business leave” may be granted at the discretion of the Director of Human 

Resources. 

Personal Leave 

Two days of personal leave will be granted to each employee. Unused personal leave will 

be carried forward up to a maximum of three personal leave days. When added to the 

two days allowed annually for this purpose, an employee may use a maximum of five 

personal leave days in any contract year. When a maximum of five personal leave days 

have been accumulated, additional personal leave days will roll into sick leave days. All 

days will have the same cash value as unused sick days upon separation from the district. 

Personal leave requests will be made in writing to the Director of Human Resources 

through the immediate administrator at least five days in advance of such contemplated 

absence. However, 30 days' notice is required by law if the leave qualifies as FMLA leave 

and such notice is practical. Such leave shall then be authorized in writing by the Director 

of Human Resources. 

“Personal leave” is not authorized for the following, unless an emergency situation exists: 

1.         Time periods when short-term leave has already been granted to five percent of 

the total number of certificated employees. 

 2.         First or last day of school, day before or day after a school holiday, or days that 

are designated for staff professional development as contained in the annual school 

calendar. 

Absences may be charged against personal leave for leaves authorized by law, policy or 

the Board that would otherwise be unpaid including, but not limited to, leave under the 

FMLA. 

In case of an emergency or if the employee cannot meet the normal requirements, 

“personal leave” may be granted at the discretion of the Director of Human Resources. 

As a condition to granting such leave, the employee shall at the earliest opportunity notify 

his or her immediate supervisor of such emergency and follow with a written request to 

the Director of Human Resources. Permission or denial of such personal leave will be 



 

 

GCBDA- PROFESSIONAL STAFF 

given verbally by the Director of Human Resources and later documented in writing. 

However, 30 days' notice is required by law if the leave qualifies as FMLA leave and such 

notice is practical. 

Vacation 

All professional staff employed on a 12-month basis will receive 20 working days of 

vacation per year. An employee must submit a written request for vacation to the 

superintendent or designee and receive written authorization before taking vacation days. 

If the employee's absence may disrupt district operations, the superintendent or designee 

has the discretion to deny a request for vacation or to limit the time of year the employee 

may take his or her vacation. 

The Board requires that vacation days be used annually. Current 12-month professional 

staff who have accumulated ten or less carry-over days of vacation as of June 30, 2003, 

may use those days or receive payment for the ten or less unused carry-over vacation 

days at the conclusion of district service based on his/her contracted 2002-2003 school 

year daily rate. Beginning with the 2003-2004 school year, 12-month professional staff 

may not carry over vacation days. 

July 1 will be the employment anniversary date used to calculate vacation allowance. 

During the first fiscal year of employment of 12-month employees, they will receive a 

prorated portion of their vacation on December 31. They will receive the rest of their 

prorated vacation on June 30. Thereafter, employees will receive their allotted vacation 

days on June 30. 

Employees hired after December 31 will receive their prorated portion of vacation days 

on June 30 of their first fiscal year of employment. During the second fiscal year of 

employment, they will receive half of their vacation days on December 31 and half of 

their vacation days on June 30. Thereafter, these employees will receive their allotted 

vacation days on June 30. 

Any vacation earned from prorated accrual can be carried over to the next fiscal year. 

A district employee may not use vacation days during the period the employee receives 

Workers' Compensation for time lost to work-related incidents. 

Unless otherwise provided, the following leaves will be provided to full-time and part-

time professional employees. 

1.         Holidays – The district will grant paid and unpaid holidays in accordance with the 

academic calendar adopted by the Board. The Board currently recognizes the following 

paid holidays: Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day, Friday after 

Thanksgiving, Christmas Eve, Christmas Day, New Year’s Eve, New Year’s Day, Martin 

Luther King Jr.’s Birthday, Presidents’ Day and Memorial Day. Holidays may be modified 



 

 

GCBDA- PROFESSIONAL STAFF 

or eliminated as needed when the academic calendar is changed due to inclement 

weather or for other reasons. Holidays may change from year to year. 

 2.         Professional Leave – Employees may be granted professional leave to attend 

classes or conferences, meet with mentors or participate in other approved professional 

growth activities. Professional leave must be approved by the superintendent or 

designee, arranged well in advance and is not considered personal leave. 

 3.         Military Leave – The Board shall grant military leave as required by law. Members 

of the National Guard or any reserve component of the U.S. Armed Forces who are 

engaged in the performance of duty or training will be entitled to a leave of absence of 

120 hours in any federal fiscal year (October 1 – September 30) without impairment of 

efficiency rating or loss of time, pay, regular leave or any other rights or benefits. 

Employees shall provide the district an official order verifying that they are required to 

report to duty. 

 4.         Election Leave – Any employee who is appointed as an election judge pursuant 

to state law may be absent on any election day for the period of time required by the 

election authority. The employee must notify the district at least seven days prior to any 

election in which the employee will serve as an election judge. No employee will be 

terminated, disciplined, threatened or otherwise subjected to adverse action based on 

the employee's service as an election judge. 

 5.         Leave to Vote – Employees who do not have three successive hours free from 

work while the polls are open will be granted a leave period of up to three hours to permit 

the employees three successive hours while the polls are open for the purpose of voting. 

Requests for such leave must be made prior to election day, and the employee's 

supervisors will designate when during the workday the leave should be taken. Any 

employee who properly requests leave to vote and uses the leave for that purpose will 

not be subject to discipline, termination or loss of wages or salary. 

6.         Jury Duty Leave – If a certificated employee is required to serve on a jury, the 

employee will be paid the difference between jury duty payment and his or her regular 

daily salary amount for time spent responding to a summons for jury duty, time spent 

participating in the jury selection process or time spent actually serving on a jury. An 

employee will not be terminated, disciplined, threatened or otherwise subjected to 

adverse action because of the employee's receipt of or response to a jury summons. 

 7.         Leave for Court Subpoena – If the subpoena is directly related to the employee's 

school duties, the employee will be released for court appearance without loss of leave. 

Other court appearances will be deducted from personal leave. 

8.         Firefighter Leave – Employees will be allowed to use personal, vacation and/or 

unpaid leave for any time taken to respond to an emergency in the course of performing 

duties as a volunteer firefighter. For the purposes of this section, "volunteer firefighter" 

includes members of Missouri-1 Disaster Medical Assistance Team, Missouri Task Force 



 

 

GCBDA- PROFESSIONAL STAFF 

One, Urban Search and Rescue Team or those activated by the Federal Emergency 

Management Agency (FEMA) in times of national disaster. Employees covered under this 

section shall not be terminated from employment for joining a volunteer fire department 

or for being absent from or late to work in order to respond to an emergency. Employees 

shall make every reasonable effort to notify the principal or supervisor if the employee 

may be absent from or late to work under this section. Employees are required to provide 

their supervisors with a written statement from the supervisor or acting supervisor of the 

volunteer fire department stating that the employee responded to an emergency along 

with the time and date of the emergency. 

  

9.         Crime Victim Leave – Any employee who is a crime victim, who witnesses a crime 

or who has an immediate family member who is a crime victim will not be required to 

use vacation, personal or sick leave in order to honor a subpoena to testify in a criminal 

proceeding, attend a criminal proceeding or participate in the preparation of the criminal 

proceeding. 

10.       Civil Air Patrol Leave – Any employee who is a member of Civil Air Patrol and has 

qualified for a Civil Air Patrol emergency service specialty or who is certified to fly 

counternarcotics missions shall be granted unpaid leave to perform Civil Air Patrol 

emergency service duty or counternarcotics missions without loss of time, regular leave 

or any other rights or benefits in accordance with law. The leave is limited to 15 working 

days in any calendar year, but is unlimited when responding to a state- or nationally 

declared emergency in Missouri. The district may request that the employee be exempted 

from responding to a specific mission. 

11.       Coast Guard Auxiliary Leave – Employees who are members of the United States 

Coast Guard Auxiliary will be granted an unpaid leave of absence for periods during which 

they are engaged in the performance of United States Coast Guard or United States Coast 

Guard Auxiliary duties, including travel related to such duties, when authorized by the 

director of auxiliary or other appropriate United States Coast Guard Authority. Such 

leaves of absence will be given without loss of time, regular leave or any other rights or 

benefits to which such employees would otherwise be entitled. The leave is limited to 15 

working days in any calendar year, but is unlimited when responding to a state- or 

nationally declared emergency in Missouri or upon any navigable waterway within or 

adjacent to the state of Missouri. The district may request that an employee be exempted 

from responding to a specific mission. 

Pregnancy, Childbirth and Adoption Leave 

A pregnant employee shall continue in the performance of her duties as long as she is 

able to do so and as long as her ability to perform duties is not impaired, based on medical 

opinion. 



 

 

GCBDA- PROFESSIONAL STAFF 

The employee may use accrued sick leave, personal leave or vacation during periods of 

pregnancy-related disability and, if necessary, an unpaid leave of absence to begin at the 

time recommended by her physician. The employee shall return to duty when she is 

physically able, based on medical opinion, except that this paragraph creates no rights 

extending beyond the contracted period of employment. 

Pregnant employees shall be treated the same as other employees who are similar in 

their ability or inability to work for all purposes under this policy. 

An employee who is the primary caretaker of an adopted child will be provided the same 

leave opportunities afforded employees for pregnancy-related leave for the purpose of 

arranging for the child's placement or caring for the child after placement. 

An employee must notify the district of the need for and anticipated duration of the leave 

at least 30 days before leave is to begin, if foreseeable. If 30 days' notice is not practical, 

the employee must give as much notice as possible. 

These rules are subject to preemption by the FMLA as necessary for FMLA-eligible 

employees. 

 



 

 

GDBDA- Support Staff 

Consistent staffing is important to the learning environment and district operation and 

therefore is an essential duty of all employees. However, the Board recognizes that there 

are circumstances that require an employee to miss work, and the purpose of this policy 

is to identify situations where paid and unpaid leave from work are appropriate. 

Short-Term Leave 

Short-term leave includes sick leave, bereavement leave and personal business leave. 

Personnel regularly employed less than 11 months will be granted ten days; and 

personnel regularly employed 12 months will be granted 12 days. During the first year 

of employment, short-term leave days will be earned monthly (one sick leave day per 

month; one personal leave day after six months). After the first full year of employment, 

short-term leave days will be awarded on the anniversary of employment or the start of 

the new fiscal year. 

Effective with the 2005–2006 school year, When a non-certificated employee leaves the 

Center School District #58, he or she, or his or her beneficiary in the case of death, shall 

be paid $31 per day for the unused days of leaves. Employees who have (a) broken an 

employment contract with the district (if any), (b) been terminated for cause by the 

district, or (c) resigned due to the discovery by the District of conduct that would have 

resulted in their termination for cause, will not be eligible for buy-back of unused days of 

leave (Examples would include a finding by the district of harassment, discrimination, 

abuse and/or retaliation). Employees who have broken an employment contract with the 

district or have been terminated for cause by the district will not be eligible for buy-back 

of unused days of leave. An employee will not receive compensation for unused days of 

leaves unless he or she has been employed by the district for at least one year. 

The administrator in charge of each building is responsible for reporting the short-term 

leave of the personnel under his or her supervision. 

A district employee may not use short-term leave during the period the employee 

receives Workers' Compensation for time lost to work-related incidents. 

The district may require an employee to provide the district verification of illness from a 

healthcare provider before the district applies sick leave or other applicable paid leave to 

the absence. In accordance with law, the district may require an employee to present a 

certification of fitness to return to work whenever the employee is absent from work due 

to the employee's health. 

The following leaves with pay will be provided to full-time support staff employees. 

Regular, part-time support staff employees will receive these leaves on a pro rata basis. 

This policy does not apply to temporary or substitute staff members unless otherwise 

noted. 



 

 

GDBDA- Support Staff 

 1.         Sick Leave – Sick leave will be granted to an employee in the event of 

personal illness, injury or incapacity including pregnancy, childbirth and adoption of the 

employee or the employee’s immediate family. The Board defines “immediate family” in 

regard to sick leave to include: 

            ►          The employee’s dependents. 

            ►          Any other person over whom the employee has legal guardianship or for whom the 

employee has power of attorney and is the primary caregiver. 

            ►          Any other person deemed appropriate by the employee’s immediate supervisor. 

(Note: "Family" for FMLA purposes is more limited.) 

The Board reserves the right to require a physician’s certification, or FMLA Certificate of 

Health Care Provider in cases of serious health conditions under the FMLA, attesting to 

the illness or incapacity of the claimant and/or inclusive dates of incapacitation. 

Staff members who are ill are encouraged to stay home to promote healing and reduce 

the risk of infecting others, especially during a pandemic or other significant health event. 

In the event of a pandemic or other significant health event, schools may be closed to all 

staff and students or just students. If schools are closed only to students, staff members 

are expected to work regular schedules or use appropriate leave. 

Any support staff employee who is a member of a retirement system shall remain a 

member during any period of leave under sick leave provisions of the district or under 

Workers' Compensation. The employee shall also receive creditable service credit for such 

leave time if the employee makes contributions to the system equal to the amount of 

contributions that he or she would have made had he or she been on active service status. 

2.         Bereavement Leave – Leave will be granted to an employee in the event of 

bereavement in the immediate family. The Board defines “immediate family” in regard to 

bereavement to include: 

            ►          The employee's spouse. 

            ►          The following relatives of the employee or the employee’s spouse: parents, children, 

children’s spouses, grandparents, grandchildren and siblings. 

             ►          Any person over whom the employee has legal guardianship or for whom the 

employee has power of attorney and is the primary caregiver. 

            ►          Any other person deemed appropriate by the employee’s immediate supervisor. 

  



 

 

GDBDA- Support Staff 

3.         Personal Business Leave – “Personal business leave” may be granted upon 

request by the employee and approval by the Director of Human Resources or designee 

when, in his or her judgment, such is required. 

            a.        Attendance at a legal or professional commitments and transactions that 

cannot be accomplished outside the regular hours of employment. 

            b.       Observance of a religious holiday. 

            c.        Court appearances, unless applicable law or policy provides for paid leave. 

Unlike “personal leave,” requests for “personal business leave” must specify the reason(s) 

for such leave. Requests are first submitted through the online substitute program for 

approval. If the employee has no accrued short-term leave, unpaid “personal business 

leave” may be granted at the discretion of the Director of Human Resources. 

Personal Leave – Two days of personal leave will be granted to each employee. Unused 

personal leave will be carried forward up to a maximum of three personal leave days. 

When added to the two days allowed annually for this purpose, an employee may use a 

maximum of five personal leave days in any contract year. When a maximum of five 

personal leave days have been accumulated, additional personal leave days will roll into 

sick leave days. All days will have the same cash value as unused sick days upon 

separation from the district. Personal leave requests will be made through the online 

substitute program at least five days in advance of such contemplated absence. However, 

30 days' notice is required by law if the leave qualifies as FMLA leave and such notice is 

practical. Such leave shall then be authorized by the Director of Human Resources or his 

or her designee. 

“Personal leave” is not authorized for the following, unless an emergency situation exists: 

1.         Time periods when short-term leave has already been granted to five percent of 

the total number of certificated employees. 

2.         First or last day of school or day before or day after a school holiday as contained 

in the annual school calendar. 

Absences may be charged against personal leave for leaves authorized by law, policy or 

the Board that would otherwise be unpaid including, but not limited to, leave under the 

FMLA. 

In case of an emergency or if the employee cannot meet the normal requirements, 

“personal leave” may be granted at the discretion of the Director of Human Resources. 

As a condition to granting such leave, the employee shall at the earliest opportunity notify 

his or her immediate supervisor of such emergency and follow with a request through the 

online substitute program. However, 30 days' notice is required by law if the leave 

qualifies as FMLA leave and such notice is practical. Permission or denial of such personal 



 

 

GDBDA- Support Staff 

leave will be given verbally by the Director of Human Resources and later documented in 

writing. 

Vacations – All support staff personnel employed on a 12-month basis shall receive two 

full weeks of paid vacation. After ten years of service, three weeks of paid vacation will 

be granted. An employee must submit a request for vacation through the online 

substitute program and receive authorization before taking vacation days. If the 

employee's absence may disrupt district operations, the supervisor has the discretion to 

deny a request for vacation or to limit the time of year the employee may take his or her 

vacation. 

The Board requires that vacation days be used annually. Vacation days from the previous 

year cannot be carried over to the next year. * Vacation days from the previous year 

cannot be used for salary compensation. ** 

Upon departure from the school district, employees will be compensated for the vacation 

days that they received on June 30 (their last “contract” day). These vacation days will 

be paid at the employee’s current average daily rate. 

*          Employees returning to the district may use vacation days from the prior year 

through July 31 of their next contract year. 

**        Employees departing from the district prior to June 30 of their contract year will 

be compensated at their daily rate for any unused vacation days for that current year. 

Staff hired after July 1 will receive a prorated portion of their allotted vacation days on 

June 30. Thereafter, June 30 will be the anniversary date that full vacation time is 

allotted. 

A district employee may not use vacation days during the period the employee receives 

Workers' Compensation for time lost to work-related incidents. 

Unless otherwise provided, the following leaves will be provided to full-time and part-

time professional employees. 

1.         Holidays – The district will grant paid and unpaid holidays in accordance with 

the academic calendar adopted by the Board. All support staff employed on a 12-month 

basis will currently receive the following paid holidays: Independence Day, Labor Day, 

Thanksgiving Day, Friday after Thanksgiving, Christmas Eve, Christmas Day, New Year’s 

Eve, New Year’s Day, Martin Luther King Jr.’s Birthday, Presidents’ Day and Memorial 

Day. Holidays may be modified or eliminated as needed when the academic calendar is 

changed due to inclement weather or for other reasons. Holidays may change from year 

to year. 

2.         Professional Leave – Employees may be granted professional leave to attend 

classes or conferences, meet with mentors or participate in other approved professional 



 

 

GDBDA- Support Staff 

growth activities. Professional leave must be approved by the immediate supervisor, 

arranged well in advance and is not considered personal leave. 

3.         Military Leave – The Board shall grant military leave as required by law. 

Members of the National Guard or any reserve component of the U.S. Armed Forces who 

are engaged in the performance of duty or training will be entitled to a leave of absence 

of 120 hours in any federal fiscal year (October 1 – September 30) without impairment 

of efficiency rating or loss of time, pay, regular leave or any other rights or benefits. 

Employees shall provide the district an official order verifying that they are required to 

report to duty. 

4.         Election Leave – Any employee who is appointed as an election judge pursuant 

to state law may be absent on any election day for the period of time required by the 

election authority. The employee must notify the district at least seven days prior to any 

election in which the employee will serve as an election judge. No employee will be 

terminated, disciplined, threatened or otherwise subjected to adverse action based on 

the employee's service as an election judge. 

5.         Jury Duty Leave –If an employee is required to serve on a jury, the employee 

must submit to the district proper paperwork that indicates he/she fulfilled his/her 

obligation. An employee will not be terminated, disciplined, threatened or otherwise 

subjected to adverse action because of the employee’s receipt of or response to a jury 

summons. 

6.         Leave to Vote – Employees who do not have three successive hours free from 

work while the polls are open will be granted a leave period of up to three hours to permit 

employees three successive hours while the polls are open for the purpose of voting. 

Requests for such leave must be made prior to election day, and the employee's 

supervisors will designate when during the workday the leave should be taken. Any 

employee who properly requests leave to vote and uses the leave for that purpose will 

not be subject to discipline, termination or loss of wages or salary. 

7.         Leave for Court Subpoena – If the subpoena is directly related to the employee's 

school duties, the employee will be released for court appearance without loss of leave. 

Other court appearances will be deducted from personal leave. 

8.         Firefighter Leave – Employees will be allowed to use personal, vacation and/or 

unpaid leave for any time taken to respond to an emergency in the course of performing 

duties as a volunteer firefighter. For the purposes of this section, "volunteer firefighter" 

includes members of Missouri-1 Disaster Medical Assistance Team, Missouri Task Force 

One, Urban Search and Rescue Team or those activated by the Federal Emergency 

Management Agency (FEMA) in times of national disaster. Employees covered under this 

section shall not be terminated from employment for joining a volunteer fire department 

or for being absent from or late to work in order to respond to an emergency. Employees 

shall make every reasonable effort to notify the principal or supervisor if the employee 



 

 

GDBDA- Support Staff 

may be absent from or late to work under this section. Employees are required to provide 

their supervisors with a written statement from the supervisor or acting supervisor of the 

volunteer fire department stating that the employee responded to an emergency along 

with the time and date of the emergency. 

9.         Crime Victim Leave – Any employee who is a crime victim, who witnesses a 

crime or who has an immediate family member who is a crime victim will not be required 

to use vacation, personal or sick leave in order to honor a subpoena to testify in a criminal 

proceeding, attend a criminal proceeding or participate in the preparation of the criminal 

proceeding. 

10.       Civil Air Patrol Leave – Any employee who is a member of Civil Air Patrol and 

has qualified for a Civil Air Patrol emergency service specialty or who is certified to fly 

counternarcotics missions shall be granted unpaid leave to perform Civil Air Patrol 

emergency service duty or counternarcotics missions without loss of time, regular leave 

or any other rights or benefits in accordance with law. The leave is limited to 15 working 

days in any calendar year, but is unlimited when responding to a state- or nationally 

declared emergency in Missouri. The district may request that the employee be exempted 

from responding to a specific mission. 

11.       Coast Guard Auxiliary Leave – Employees who are members of the United 

States Coast Guard Auxiliary will be granted an unpaid leave of absence for periods during 

which they are engaged in the performance of United States Coast Guard or United States 

Coast Guard Auxiliary duties, including travel related to such duties, when authorized by 

the director of auxiliary or other appropriate United States Coast Guard Authority. Such 

leaves of absence will be given without loss of time, regular leave or any other rights or 

benefits to which such employees would otherwise be entitled. The leave is limited to 15 

working days in any calendar year, but is unlimited when responding to a state- or 

nationally declared emergency in Missouri or upon any navigable waterway within or 

adjacent to the state of Missouri. The district may request that an employee be exempted 

from responding to a specific mission. 

Pregnancy, Childbirth and Adoption Leave 

A pregnant employee shall continue in the performance of her duties as long as she is 

able to do so and as long as her ability to perform duties is not impaired, based on medical 

opinion. 

The employee may use accrued sick leave, personal leave or vacation during periods of 

pregnancy-related disability and, if necessary, an unpaid leave of absence to begin at the 

time recommended by her physician. The employee shall return to duty when she is 

physically able, based on medical opinion, except that this paragraph creates no rights 

extending beyond the contracted period of employment. 

Pregnant employees shall be treated the same as other employees who are similar in 

their ability or inability to work for all purposes under this policy. 



 

 

GDBDA- Support Staff 

An employee who is the primary caretaker of an adopted child will be provided the same 

leave opportunities afforded employees for pregnancy-related leave for the purpose of 

arranging for the child's placement or caring for the child after placement. 

An employee must notify the district of the need for and anticipated duration of the leave 

at least 30 days before leave is to begin, if foreseeable. If 30 days' notice is not practical, 

the employee must give as much notice as possible. 

These rules are subject to preemption by the FMLA as necessary for FMLA-eligible 

employees. 

 


	December 17, 2019 Board Agenda
	Bills over $5000
	Month End Disbursements
	Average Daily Attendance for November
	CSD 7-year Attendance Report
	December Personnel Report
	November 19, 2018 Work Session Minutes
	November 19, 2018 Regular Session Minutes
	Contract List for December
	ACT CCR Master Services Agreement
	Cornerstones of Care
	5Essentials Agreement
	OverDrive Contract
	Arkansas-Pine Bluff Partnership Agreement
	MSBA Full Maintenance Service Agreement
	JCCCSF Services Contract 
	2019-2020 District Calendar
	Westbrook & Company           Audit Report - 2018
	Westbrook & Co. 2018 Audit PowerPoint
	Patron Insight 2018 Patron and Staff Online Surveys
	Option 1a-48 Million with ESCO
	Option 2a-48 Million with ESCO
	GBA-Exempt & Nonexempt Employees - 3rd Reading
	GCBDA-Professional Staff Short Term Leaves-3rd Reading
	GDBDA-Support Staff Short Term  Leaves-3rd Reading



